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Matt Brolley, Village President 
Penny FitzPatrick, Village Clerk        
Stan Bond, Trustee                     
Pete Heinz, Trustee               
Steve Jungermann, Trustee                  
Denny Lee, Trustee 
Doug Marecek, Trustee 
Theresa Sperling, Trustee 
 

THIS MEETING IS BEING RECORDED AND WILL BE AVAILABLE FOR VIEWING ON THE VILLAGE YOUTUBE CHANNEL. 
 

AGENDA 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance  
 
3. Roll Call 
   
4. Public Participation 

 
A. Public Comments (Two Minute Opportunity). 
B. Boy Scout Troop 12 (St. Luke’s) will do a flag ceremony and lead the pledge.   
C. Swearing in of Officer Paul D. Godinho. 
D. Lulu Blacksmith Regarding Waubonsee Community College. 
E. Proclamation Recognizing the Montgomery Public Works Graduates of the Illinois Public 

Service Institute – Class of 2016. 
F. Proclamation for Fox Valley Special Recreation Association. 
G. Proclamation for Breast Cancer Awareness Month.    
H. Proclamation for Domestic Violence Awareness Month. 
I. Presentation of the Audit. 

 
5. Consent Agenda  
 

A. Minutes of the Village Board Meeting of September 26, 2016. 
B. Building Report for September 2016. 
C. Accounts Receivable Report for September 2016. 
D. Accounts Payable through October 6, 2016 in the Amount of $574,561.94.  

 
6. Items for Separate Action  
 

A.    Pearl Street Storm Sewer Rehabilitation. 
B.    Plan Commission Recommendations. 
C.    Temporary Liquor License Request for United Sugars Corporation. 

 
 
7. Items for Discussion     
 

A. Water Study. 
 

Members of the public are welcome to speak at this time.  Please provide 
the Clerk with your name, address & phone number. 

The following items are considered routine business by the Village Board 
and will be approved in a single vote in the form listed below. 

Village Board Meeting  
Monday, October 10, 2016 
7:00 PM, Village Hall 

The following items are listed for discussion only.   
No decision or vote will be taken during this meeting.  
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8. New or Unfinished Business 
 
9. Future Meetings  

 
A. Beautification Committee – Wednesday, October 12, 2016 at 6:00 p.m.  
B. Historic Preservation Commission – Monday, October 17, 2016 at 6:30 p.m.  
C. Plan Commission – Thursday, November 3, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. 
D. Committee of the Whole Meeting – Tuesday, October 18, 2016 at 7:00 p.m.   
E. Village Board Meeting – Monday, October 24, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. 
 

10. Executive Session   
 
11. Adjournment 
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PROCLAMATION 

 
RECOGNIZING THE MONTGOMERY PUBLIC WORKS GRADUATES OF 

THE ILLINOIS PUBLIC SERVICE INSTITUTE – CLASS OF 2016 
 
 
WHEREAS, realizing the vision of the Montgomery Public Works Department to 
develop staff through participation in the Illinois Public Service Institute; and 
 
WHEREAS, at its core, the purpose of the Illinois Public Service Institute is to 
transform our organizational culture by cultivating “leaders at all levels” within the 
organization, and maximizing our resources by engaging, developing, supporting, 
and utilizing our employees to their fullest potential; and  
 
WHEREAS, since its inception, the Illinois Public Service Institute has graduated 
over 600 participants from public agencies across the state:  including six 
members of the Montgomery public works department; and 
 
WHEREAS, on October 6, 2016 the Illinois Public Service Institute graduated its 
class of 2016; and 
 
WHEREAS, the following individuals are commended for their commitment of time 
and resources to participate in this three year program as members of the Illinois 
Public Service Institute- Class of 2016;  Water Plant Operator, Adam Hake; 
Maintenance Worker II, Cory Kennedy; and Maintenance Worker II, Mark Wolf; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, we encourage all members of the department to learn from the 
fundamentals taught in the Illinois Public Service Institute and affirm our shared 
commitment to organizational development, succession planning, and excellence 
in public service;  
 
NOW THEREFORE, I Matt Brolley, Montgomery Village President, do hereby 
congratulate the graduates of the Illinois Public Service Institute 
 



Given under my hand and the Seal of the Village of Montgomery this 10th day of 
October, 2016. 
 
 
______________________________                        ______________________________ 
Matthew T. Brolley, Village President  Penny Fitzpatrick, Village Clerk  



 

 

PROCLAMATION 

Celebrating the 40th Anniversary 
of the 

Fox Valley Special Recreation Association 
 

WHEREAS, the Fox Valley Special Recreation Association (FVSRA) was formed in 1976 to serve the 

residents with disabilities from the Fox Valley, St. Charles and Geneva Park Districts, and 

WHEREAS, in recognizing the need to serve all of their residents and seeing the success of FVSRA, the 

Batavia, Oswegoland, Sugar Grove Park Districts and Village of South Elgin Parks and Recreation 

Department also joined FVSRA and, 

WHEREAS, over the past 40 years, FVSRA has provided year round recreation opportunities for residents 

of all ages and abilities so that they may develop friendships, increase leisure skills, enhance self‐

esteem, improve overall fitness and experience active lifestyles and, 

WHEREAS, over the past 40 years, FVSRA has grown from offering one program to providing 

comprehensive recreation and leisure services for more than 27,000 registrants: 

THEREFORE, LET IT BE RESOLVED, that the Village of Montgomery honors the Fox Valley Special 

Recreation Association for their 40th Anniversary and their leadership and commitment to the 

recreational needs of individuals with disabilities in Aurora, Batavia, Geneva, Montgomery, North 

Aurora, Oswego, St. Charles, South Elgin and Sugar Grove. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Matthew Brolley, Village President of the Village of Montgomery, do hereby 

congratulate Fox Valley Special Recreation Association on 40 years of service in providing recreation 

programs to enrich the lives of individuals with special needs. 

Approved this 10th day of October in the year 2016. 

By:                Witness: 

 

___________________________        ______________________________ 

Matthew Brolley, Village President        Penny FitzPatrick, Village Clerk 
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PROCLAMATION 
Breast Cancer Awareness Month 

 
WHEREAS, since the awareness program began in 1985, mammography rates have 
more than doubled for women age 50 and older and breast cancer deaths have 
declined; and 
 
WHEREAS, National Breast Cancer Awareness Month seeks to increase public 
knowledge about the importance of early detection and treatment of breast cancer; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, many women still do not utilize mammography at regular intervals even 
though research indicates it is the best available method of detection; and 
 
WHEREAS, the National Cancer Institute estimates that in the United States, more 
than 230,000 new cases of breast cancer will be diagnosed this year and over 40,000 
people will die; and 
 
WHEREAS, taking advantage of early detection methods such as mammography and 
clinical breast exams could help the breast cancer death rate drop by approximately 
30%; and 
 
WHEREAS, the American Cancer Society and other organizations continue to search 
endlessly for a cure through vital research and to reduce the risks of breast cancer 
through community education: 
 
Now therefore, I, Matthew T. Brolley, Village President of the Village of Montgomery, do 
hereby proclaim the Month of October 2016 to be Breast Cancer Awareness Month in 
the Village of Montgomery, and urge all women and their families to get the facts 
about breast cancer, support those courageously fighting breast cancer and honor the 
lives lost to this devastating disease. 
 



Dated this 10th day of October 2016. 
 
 
__________________________________               ________________________________ 
    Matthew T. Brolley              Penny FitzPatrick 
      Village President        Village Clerk 
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PROCLAMATION 
Domestic Violence Awareness Month 

 
WHEREAS, domestic violence crimes, ranging in severity from simple assault to homicide, 
occur with alarming frequency; and 

 
WHEREAS, thousands of children witness domestic violence against a care-giving parent each 
year, putting them at risk for long term physical and mental health problems, and increasing 
the likelihood they will become perpetrators or victims of domestic violence themselves; and 

 
WHEREAS, the effects of domestic violence reach far beyond its victims and perpetrators, 
causing disruption in our schools, places of work and worship, and neighborhoods; and 

 
WHEREAS, as individuals and as a community we need to increase our capacity to deal with 
domestic violence, supporting domestic violence victims in their quest for safety and dignity, 
and holding perpetrators accountable for their behavior; 

 
Now therefore, I, Matthew T. Brolley, Village President of the Village of Montgomery, do 
hereby proclaim the Month of October 2016 to be Domestic Violence Awareness Month 
in the Village of Montgomery, and urge our citizens to work together to eliminate domestic 
violence from our community. 

 
 
Dated this 10 th day of October 2016. 

 
 
 

  
Matthew T. Brolley Penny Fitzpatrick 
Village President Village Clerk 

 



 

VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY 
REQUEST FOR BOARD OF TRUSTEES ACTION 

FOR INCLUSION ON BOARD AGENDA

 
       Resolution or Ordinance (Blue) 
   Recommendation of Boards, Commissions & Committees (Green) 
     X  Other Business (Pink) 
 
 
To: Village President and Board of Trustees 
 
From: Jeff Zoephel, Village Administrator 
 
Date: October 5, 2016     B of T Date:  October 10, 2016 
 
Subject: Audit Presentation 
 
Submitted By:    Justin VanVooren, Director of Finance 
 
Background /Policy Implications: 
State law requires that the Village publish within six months of the close of each fiscal 
year a complete set of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) and audited in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS) by an 
independent firm of certified public accountants.  In addition, the Illinois Municipal Code 
requires the Village to post the audit report and management letter on our website. 
 
The Village’s financial statements have been audited by Lauterbach & Amen, LLP.  The 
independent auditor concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis 
for rendering an unmodified opinion and that the Village’s financial statements for the 
fiscal year ended April 30, 2016, are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP. 
 
Jamie Wilkey, a Partner with Lauterbach & Amen, will be in attendance to present the 
audit to the Board. 
 
Describe Fiscal Impact/Budget Account Number and Cost: 
 
 
Review: 



 
Village Administrator _____Jeff Zoephel_____________________        
 
NOTE: All materials must be submitted to and approved by the Village Administrator by 
12:00 noon, Thursday, prior to the Agenda distribution.  



Village of Montgomery, Illinois 

Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report 
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September 29,2016

The Honorable Village President
Membens of the Board of Trustees
Village Administrator
Citizens of the Village of Montgomery

State law requires that all general-purpose local govemments publish within six months of the close of each
fiscal year a complete set of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (GAAP) and audited in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America (GAAS) by an independent firm of certified public accountants.
Pursuant to that requirement, the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the Village of
Montgomery, lllinois (Village) for the flscal year ended April 30, 2016, is hereby submitted.

This report consists of management's representations concerning the finances of the Village.
Consequently, management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all of the
information presented in this report. To provide a reasonable basis for making these representations,
management of the Village has established a comprehensive intemal control framework that is designed
both to protect the Village's assets from loss, theft or misuse and to compile sufficient reliable information for
the preparation of the Village's financial statements in conformity with GAAP. Because the cost of the
intemal controls should not exceed anticipated benefits, the Village's comprehensive framework of intemal
controls has been designed to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial
statements will be free of any material misstatement. As management, we assert that, to the best of our
knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in all material respects.

The Village's financial statements have been audited by Lauterbach & Amen, LLP, a firm of licensed
certif¡ed public accountants. The goal of the independent audit is to provide reasonable assurance that the
financial statements of the Village for the year ended April 30, 2016, are free of material misstatement, The
independent auditor concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an
unmodified opinion and that the Village's financial statements for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016, are
fairly presented in conformity with GAAP. The independent audito/s report is presented as the first
component of the financial section of this report.

GAAP requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the
basic financial statements in the form of Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of
transmittal is designed to complement MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The Village's MD&A
can be found immediately following the report of the independent auditors.

Profile of the Village of Montgomery

The Village of Montgomery is a growing community nestled along the banks of the Fox River in northem
lllinois, located in both southem Kane and northem Kendall counties. Situated approximately 40 miles
southwest of Chicago, the Village is bordered by Aurora to the north and east, Oswego and Boulder Hill to
the south, Sugar Grove to the northwest, and Yorkville to the southwest. Montgomery also sits at a strategic
nexus of multiple regional transportation routes. One of its primary assets is its access to major

Nfontgonrcrr', IL 6053S . ól(r-S96-Str80
u'rvw'.ci. montgomcrr'. il. rrs

2{.1(r N. lliver Stlcc-t Fax (rltr-S9(yt)79 I



iv 

transportation corridors, including U.S. Route 30, U.S. Route 34, IL Route 47, and Interstate 88, which runs 
east-west approximately 3.5 miles north of the Village. 
 
Montgomery was founded in 1835 by entrepreneur Daniel Gray, who purchased several land grants from 
the Federal government and pursued industrial development along the Fox River.  The settlement was 
called "Graystown" for several years, but eventually he persuaded the other settlers to call the little village 
"Montgomery" after the county in New York that he and several other settlers had come from.  Daniel Gray 
was a man of much energy and enterprise. No sooner had he settled in the place than he commenced 
improvements on a grand scale. A store, foundry, reaper and header manufacturing shop over 100 feet in 
length, a second foundry built of stone, and one of the best stone grist-mills in the country, appeared in rapid 
succession.  The stone grist mill, built by Gray in 1853, has been beautifully restored and is listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places.  The Village of Montgomery was incorporated in 1858. 
 
Montgomery’s early growth continued to align with its industrial roots.  After a brief setback in growth, due to 
the arrival of the McCormick Works at Chicago that out competed Montgomery’s reaper plant, the 
construction of the Chicago, Burlington & Quincy (CB&Q) Railroad reinvigorated local industrial activity.  The 
rail line shipped Montgomery’s produce, spring water, and livestock to Chicago markets.  In 1899, Riverview 
Park (later Fox River Park) opened as an amusement park, which drew crowds from as far as Morris and 
Chicago on express interurbans.  The park was replaced in 1943 by United Wallpaper Company and then 
by AT&T.  Lyon Metallic, Montgomery’s first modern factory, moved to Montgomery from Chicago in 1906, 
drawing a reverse commute from Aurora and further stabilizing the economy.  The introduction of 
Caterpillar, the world’s leading manufacturer of construction and mining equipment, further cemented the 
Village’s strong industrial core. 
 
For many years, Montgomery maintained a fairly stable population of around 5,000 residents, with 5,471 
residents at the 2000 decennial census.  However, a sharp increase in residential development after 2000 
has altered the industrial character and transformed Montgomery into a more suburban community of 
18,438 residents by the 2010 decennial census.  Despite an astounding population increase of 237% in just 
ten years, Montgomery has been successful in maintaining its warm, small-town atmosphere.  The graph 
below shows Montgomery’s population growth throughout the years. 
 

Montgomery’s Population Growth  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

GOVERNANCE 
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Policy making and legislative authority are vested in the Village Board, which consists of the Village 
President and six Village Trustees.  The President is elected at-large to a four-year term and the Trustees 
and elected at-large to staggered four-year terms.  The Village Clerk is also elected to a four year term.  The 
Village Board is responsible for, among other things, passing ordinances and resolutions, adopting the 
budget, and appointing a full-time professional Village Administrator.  The Village Administrator is 
responsible for the day-to-day operations and staffing of the Village. 
 

 
 
The Village Board, pictured from left to right, includes: front row – Village Trustee Theresa Sperling, Village 
Trustee Denny Lee, Village President Matt Brolley, Village Clerk Tiffany Francis, Village Trustee Pete Heinz; 
back row – Village Trustee Steve Jungermann, Village Trustee Doug Marecek, and Village Trustee Stan 
Bond. 
 
The Village of Montgomery is committed to providing their citizens with a full range of services including 
police protection, the construction and maintenance of highways, streets and infrastructure, water treatment 
and distribution, planning and zoning, and general administrative services. 
 
The overall goal of the budget process is to present the Village Board with a budget that best addresses the 
needs and desires of the Village of Montgomery in the most efficient and effective manner possible.  The 
budget process is an opportunity for the Village to assess and evaluate how it commits its financial 
resources and makes decisions regarding their continued use.  The process, if conducted effectively, will 
result in a clearly spelled out plan for the future of this organization and a general collective understanding 
of how and where limited fiscal resources will be directed. 
 
The budget process for the Village of Montgomery involves the citizens, the Village President and Village 
Board, Village Administrator, Department Heads, supervisors and many others throughout the organization.  
Each person plays a critical role in the development of the budget for the upcoming year.  Department 
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Heads are responsible for evaluating the needs of their departments and divisions, soliciting input from 
supervisors and staff, and compiling those needs and priorities into a cohesive and straightforward budget 
request.  The Village Board is critical in evaluating the budget, asking questions, and eventually approving 
the budget.  Residents and their needs are, of course, the driving force behind the budget process. 
 
The Village has adopted sections 5/8-2-9.1 through and including sections 5/8-2-9.10 of Chapter 65 of the 
Illinois Compiled Statutes (Municipal Code) providing for a municipality's financial operation under an annual 
budget in lieu of an appropriation ordinance.  The budget process in the Village of Montgomery extends over 
seven months and culminates in April with the Village Board’s adoption of the Village budget in advance of 
the beginning of the new fiscal year on May 1.  The approved budget provides the authority to expend funds 
in the new fiscal year.  Although much of the time and effort in preparing the budget takes place during the 
months of October through March, the development, implementation, monitoring and review of the Village’s 
budget is part of a comprehensive process that occurs throughout the entire year.  
 
In November, the Finance Department distributes budget worksheets to the operating departments. Each 
Department is responsible for submitting its own budget requests following detailed instructions.  The 
operating departments prepare their budget requests and submit them to the Finance Department in 
January.  Upon receipt of the departmental budget requests, the Finance Department compiles the draft 
budget.  Revenue estimates are prepared by the Finance Department based upon historical trends, 
economic forecasts of authoritative sources, and anticipated activities and events in the community which 
are expected to have a local economic impact.  The product is the budget as proposed by the Director of 
Finance to the Village Administrator.  
 
The Village Administrator and Director of Finance meet with the director of each department individually in 
January to discuss each respective budget request.  The Village Administrator reviews all departmental 
budget requests, ensures that they are consistent with the priorities and guidance of the Village Board, and 
fashions a feasible fiscal plan.  The overall goal of the process is to have the Village Administrator 
recommend a balanced budget to the Village Board for review and adoption. 
 
The Village Board and staff conduct a series of meetings beginning in February and ending in March and a 
public hearing in March on various aspects of the budget in order to allow for input on the process by 
residents of the community and to meet the Village’s statutory obligations.  Opportunities to participate in 
public meetings are noticed in the local newspaper and on the Village’s website.  The Village Administrator, 
Finance Director, and Department Heads are present at the hearings to address the issues and concerns by 
the Village President, Trustees and general public. 
 
Based upon staff recommendations and its own findings, the Village Board may direct additions, deletions, 
or revisions to the proposed budget.  The Finance Director revises the proposed budget as directed by the 
Village Board and the Finance Director submits it to the Village Board for formal approval in April. The final 
budget is adopted by ordinance.  As noted previously, the budget ordinance must be adopted prior to the 
start of the fiscal year and filed with the county clerk within 30 days of adoption. 
 
Local Economy  
 
Municipal revenue streams traditionally have been reasonably constant and predictable. For municipalities 
in their growth stage, such as Montgomery, expenditure growth frequently exceeds revenue needed to fund 
new operating and capital programs. The budget cycle provides an opportunity to review lists of new 
services and programs which could be provided to residents and enhance the Village. 
 
The Great Recession hit just as the Village was spending millions of dollars on capital improvements to pay 
for the dramatic increase in the Village’s population.  The Village had also seen an increase in the demand 
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for services due to Montgomery’s tremendous population growth and had to hire more employees. Health 
insurance and police pension contributions had increased more than 50% during this time period as well.  
The Village had to take action to reverse the trend before it depleted its financial reserves.  Between fiscal 
year 2011 and fiscal year 2015, the Village reduced staffing; moved $150,000 of snow removal expenditures 
to the Motor Fuel Tax Fund from the General Fund; reduced or removed salary increases; and eliminated 
the local Dispatch Center (savings of approximately $200,000 to use regional dispatch center KenCom). 
   
However, the Village saw residential, commercial, and industrial development rebound beginning in fiscal 
year 2015 and further into fiscal year 2016.  Residential permits were up again this fiscal year, while 
commercial and industrial sectors continue to thrive in the community.  The Village works with the 
Montgomery Economic Development Corporation to attract new businesses to the community.  We have 
seen several new businesses build from the ground up over the last year including O’Reilly Auto Parts and 
Speedway, as well as other new businesses occupying vacant buildings like Food Market La Chiquita and 
South Moon BBQ.  As the economy continues the steady recovery, many small business owners are 
exploring expansion and growth strategies. One great example is the expansion of the Riverview Diner 
across the Fox River from the Village Hall. 
 
Commercial development has helped the Village’s sales tax, our single largest revenue source. The Village 
receives a one percent state sales tax on retail sales of tangible personal property within the Village. Sales 
tax is collected by the State and remitted to the Village three months after the liability occurs. Sales tax 
revenue has drastically increased in the last 10 years through the expansion of the commercial and retail 
sector in Montgomery. In fact, sales tax stayed fairly consistent even through the Great Recession. The 
Village began collecting non-home rule sales tax on July 1, 2015 on items other than groceries, prescription 
drugs, over-the-counter medicine, and professional services. This new revenue source will be utilized to 
maintain or build infrastructure throughout the community. 
 
The largest industrial project by far was the announcement by American Crystal and United Sugars 
Corporation (USC) of the ground breaking on a new bulk sugar storage and transfer facility.  The 20-acre 
facility consists of a 26,000 square-foot bulk storage dome, a 17,000 square foot transfer facility and 5,500 
feet of rail track space. The dome itself will stand 134 feet high and 183 feet wide. There is also room for a 
second dome.  The dome will hold over 60,000 metric tons or 1.3 million hundredweights of sugar and 
enables the transfer of nearly twice that amount to many of the largest sugar users in the U.S. The facility is 
not attached to a producing sugar factory, making it the largest freestanding sugar storage facility of its kind 
in the country.  United Sugars’ Montgomery facility will be the largest single sugar storage asset in the U.S. 
and is scheduled to begin operations in late 2016. 
 
The new development and additional revenues have allowed Montgomery to examine employee levels and 
determine where staff should be added.  The fiscal year 2017 budget includes an additional 6.20 full-time 
equivalent employees.  Non-represented employees are only given an increase in November based solely 
on a pay for performance plan.  The Village successfully negotiated and approved a new contract in 
November 2015 with Public Works Local 150 which expires April 30, 2018 and includes a pay for 
performance plan ranging from 0.0% to 3.0% increases.  The Village has started negotiations with the 
Metropolitan Alliance of Police Patrol union employees as the current contract expired on April 30, 2016. 
 
The development above has helped the Village to maintain a solid financial position.  However, the local 
economy and the Village’s financial position may be effected by state, national, and international decisions 
and events. 
 
The State of Illinois budget impasse is causing funding problems for its own state-wide services, and is a 
major concern to the Village.  According to the Illinois Municipal League (IML), the State is currently 
spending at a rate of nearly $38 billion per year, while only bringing in about $33 billion per year.  This 
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unsustainable situation is affecting the State’s cash flow position and will likely result in delays of payments 
to local governments. New bills are constantly being introduced in the legislature including, but not limited 
to, reduction of state shared revenues, property tax freezes, debt issuance only by passage of referendum, 
and pension reform. Any one of these bills individually would have significant impact if approved and signed 
into law. Perhaps the largest concern is the reduction of distributions to local governments of state shared 
revenues to balance the State’s budget. Any reduction in the distribution of these state shared revenues 
would have a serious consequence to current Village operations and subsequent year’s operations. Without 
these shared revenues, the Village would have to implement or raise local taxes and fees, increase the 
property tax levy, and/or reduce expenditures. Finally, a reduction in state shared revenue combined with a 
property tax freeze would severely restrict the ability to raise additional revenue to support operations. 
 
The national economic expansion has continued slowly. The Federal Reserve began to increase interest 
rates in December of last year, and the potential for further rate increases during the next year are very 
possible. This may result in additional investment income to the Village, although at the same time it may 
make borrowing more expensive (if necessary). Unemployment rates continue to drop although concerns 
remain regarding the number of people who are underemployed or have dropped from the workforce 
altogether. Lastly, the presidential election has many concerned on both sides of the aisle. 
 
Internationally, there continue to be concerns over terrorism, political unrest, and a global economic 
slowdown. 
 
Long-Term Financial Planning 
 
The Village recognizes the importance to develop and manage programs, services, and their related 
resources as efficiently and effectively as possible.  Accordingly, the Board approved the fiscal year 2015 – 
2017 Strategic Plan to establish the direction of the Village.  Senior Management have identified specific 
goals and initiatives to accomplish the key outcome indicators (KOI), the 5 main strategic priorities 
(Downtown, Development, Image, Financial Stability, and Capital Investment), and ultimately the Strategic 
Plan as a whole. 
 
The Village of Montgomery invests a significant amount in capital assets in pursuit of its mission, as well as 
to maintain or improve the level of service expected by its citizens.  These assets play an essential role in 
the Village’s ability to diversify, expand and cope with growth, and improve environmental conditions.  That 
level of service can only be assured if adequate consideration is given to maintaining and expanding public 
facilities and infrastructure.  If a government fails to maintain its capital assets; equipment, facilities and 
infrastructure will deteriorate more quickly and necessitate costly emergency allocations of financial 
resources. 
 
The Village completed a Capital Improvement Program (CIP) for fiscal year 2017 through fiscal year 2021 in 
association with the fiscal year 2017 operating budget. A CIP, which assists in the long-term planning and 
future allocation of funds, is a blueprint for planning a community's capital expenditures and is one of the 
most important responsibilities of local government officials. It coordinates community planning, financial 
capacity and physical development.  The CIP consists of a five year plan which identifies projects to be 
undertaken during that time while capital outlay represents the first year of the CIP.  Projects outside of the 
first year act to serve as a guide only and are subject to change and modification in subsequent years.  The 
development of this multi-year program helps create a plan to ensure the availability of funds linked to 
various capital improvements while also focusing on the maintenance and integrity of Village property. 
The Go Montgomery 2035 Comprehensive Plan is meant to inform and share decisions about land use and 
development, transportation and infrastructure, parks and open space, and much more. The Plan will assist 
the Village’s leadership in achieving the community’s shared vision for its future.   
 



Cash Management Policies and Practices

The Village examined its cash and invesûnent practices and the Village Board approved a new investment

policy duñng fiscal year 2014. Major changes in the length and type of investments, in accordance with the

inveétment policy and State law, were made during fiscal year 2015 to increase the amount of investment

income. Cash temporarily idle during the year was invested in demand deposits, certificates of deposit, U.S.

Agency securities, and the lllinois Funds. The Village continued its laddered portfolio of securities during

fisld year 2016 extending out to three years to capture additional yield from longer maturities. Although

short-ierm interest rates remained at historically low levels, the Village was able to capture additional

investment income during fiscal year 2016 due to the changes made above.

Awards and Acknowledgements

The Govemment Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a

Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Village of Montgomery for its

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2015. This was the thirteenth

consecutive year that the Village has received this prestigious award. ln grder to be awarded a Certificate

of Achievement, a govemment must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized Comprehensive

Annual Financial Report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and

applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement program's

requirements and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for a twelfth certificate,

ln addition, the Village also received the Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and

Canada (GFOA) Distinguished Budget Presentation Award for its fiscal year 2015 budget document. This

was the fourth consecutive year the Village has received this award, ln order to qualify for the Distinguished

Budget Presentation Award, the Village's budget document was judged to be profìcient in several

Êategories, including as a policy document, a financial plan, and operations guide and a communications

device.

The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the efficient and dedicated serviqes of

the entire staff of the Finance Department. I would like to express my sincere appreciation to all employees

of the Village who assisted and contributed to the preparation of this report. ln addition, I would like to thank

the Village President, Board of Trustees and Village Administrator for their unfailing support for maintaining

the highest standards of professioñalism in the management of the Village's finances.

Respectfully submitted,

Wf lâ^/n'.,,-
Justin E. VanVooren, CMA, CPA

Director of Finance
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 



E Lauterbach & Amen, LLP
27W457 WARRENVILLE RD. . WARRENVILLE, ILLINOIS 60555

PHONE 630.393.1483 . FAX 630.393.2516
www.lauterbachamen.comCERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANlS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

September 29,2016

The Honorable Village President
Members of the Board of Trustees
Village of Montgomery, Illinois

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Village of Montgoffiery,
Illinois, as of and for the year ended April 30, 2016, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the Village's basic hnancial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the prepzration and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of f,rnancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
elTor.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these finansial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves perf'orming procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected clepend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers intemal control relevant to the Village's preparation
and fair presentation of the hnancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Village's
intemal control" Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of signif,rcant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund,
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Village of Montgoffiery, Illinois, as of April 30,
2016, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.
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Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis as listed in the table of contents and budgetary information reported in the 
required supplementary information as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information, although not part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted 
of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, 
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us 
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Village of Montgomery, Illinois’, basic financial statements. The introductory section, 
combining and individual fund financial statements and budgetary comparison schedules, supplemental 
schedules, and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required 
part of the financial statements.  
 
The combining and individual fund financial statements and budgetary comparison schedules and 
supplemental schedules are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to 
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. Such information 
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual fund financial 
statements and budgetary comparison schedules and supplemental schedules are fairly stated, in all 
material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.  
 
The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on them. 

 
LAUTERBACH & AMEN, LLP 
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Village of Montgomery 
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 

April 30, 2016 
 
As management of the Village of Montgomery, Illinois (the Village), we offer readers of the Village’s financial 
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Village for the fiscal year 
ended April 30, 2016.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is designed to (1) assist the reader 
in focusing on significant financial issues, (2) provide an overview of the Village’s financial activity, (3) 
identify changes in the Village’s financial position (its ability to address the next and subsequent year 
challenges), (4) identify any material deviations from the financial plan (the approved budget), and (5) 
identify individual fund issues or concerns. 
 

Since the MD&A is designed to focus on the current year’s activities, resulting changes and currently known 
facts, please read it in conjunction with the our Letter of Transmittal, which can be found on pages iv 
through x of this report, and the Village’s financial statements, which begin on page 3 of this report.  All 
amounts in the MD&A, unless otherwise indicated, are expressed in thousands of dollars. 
 

Financial Highlights 
 

 The Village net position as of April 30, 2016 was $73,862.  Of this amount, $3,207 (unrestricted net 
position) may be used to meet the Village’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

 The Village’s total net position decreased by $36 over the prior year.  The decrease reflects 
approximately $810 increase and $846 decrease attributable to the general and water operations, 
respectively, of the Village.  The increase in general operations is mainly due to an increase in 
sales tax due to new stores open for a full year offset by the depreciation of capital assets and 
other expenses.  The decrease in water operations is a combination of an increase in water and 
sewer rates offset by the depreciation of capital assets. 

 As of April 30, 2016, the Village’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 
$9,373, an increase of $2,318 over the prior year.  Approximately 35.9% of this total amount, 
$3,364, is available for spending at the Village’s discretion (unassigned fund balance). 

 In addition, the Village’s proprietary funds reported combined ending net position of $23,837, a 
decrease of $846 over the prior year.  Approximately 12.4% of this total amount, $2,958, is 
available for spending at the Village’s discretion (unrestricted net position) for proprietary purposes. 

 The beginning net position was restated in the governmental and business-type activities by a 
decrease of $6,178 and $3,564, respectively, due to the implementation of GASB Statement No. 
68, a new capital asset policy, and recognition of payables related to an economic incentive 
agreement (additional information can be found in note 3 on page 45 of this report). 

 

Overview of the Financial Statements 
 

The focus of the financial statements is on both the Village as a whole (government-wide) and on the major 
individual funds.  Both perspectives (government-wide and major fund) allow the user to address relevant 
questions, broaden the basis for comparison (year to year or government to government) and enhance the 
Village’s accountability. 
 

This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the Village’s basic financial 
statements.  The Village’s basic financial statements comprise three components: government-wide 
financial statements, fund financial statements, and notes to the financial statements.  This report also 
contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 
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Government-Wide Financial Statements.  The government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the Village’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector 
business. 
 
The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the Village’s assets and deferred outflows of 
resources, as well as liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference between the two 
reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator 
of whether the financial position of the Village is improving or deteriorating. 
 
The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the Village’s net position changed during the 
most recent fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise 
to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and expenses are 
reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods. 
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the Village that are principally 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (Governmental Activities) from other functions that are 
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (Business-Type 
Activities).  The Governmental Activities reflect the Village’s basic services, including general government, 
public safety, highways and streets and sanitation.  The Business-Type Activities include the waterworks 
and sewerage operations. 
 
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 3 through 6 of this report. 
 
Fund Financial Statements.  A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over 
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The Village, like other state and 
local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements.  All of the funds of the Village can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, 
proprietary funds and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental Funds.  Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, unlike the 
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows 
and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of 
the fiscal year.  Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing 
requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information 
presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  By doing so, readers 
may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions.  Both the 
governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds 
and governmental activities. 
 
The Village maintains twenty-five individual governmental funds.  Information is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances for the General Fund, Debt Service Fund, Capital Improvement Fund, and 
Infrastructure Improvement Fund, all of which are considered to be major funds.  Data from the remaining 
twenty-one governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation.  Individual fund data 
for each of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere 
in this report. 
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The Village adopts an annual budget for each of its governmental funds.  A budgetary comparison 
statement has been provided for each fund to demonstrate compliance with these budgets. 
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 7 through 12 of this report. 
 
Proprietary Funds.  The Village maintains two different types of proprietary funds.  Enterprise funds are 
used to report the same functions as presented in the business-type activities in the government-wide 
financial statements.  The Village uses two enterprise funds, one to account for the operation of the Village 
owned water utility and one to account for the Village’s waste removal program.  Internal service funds are 
an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally amount the Village’s various 
functions.  The Village uses an internal service fund to account for providing insurance to Village 
employees.  Because this service predominantly benefits governmental rather than business-type functions, 
it has been included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements 
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in 
more detail.  The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the water utility and 
refuse program, which are considered to be major funds of the Village, as well as the employee insurance 
fund. 
 
The Village adopts an annual budget for each of its proprietary funds.  A budgetary comparison statement 
has been provided for each fund to demonstrate compliance with these budgets. 
 
The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 13 through 16 of this report. 
 
Fiduciary Funds.  Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside 
the government.  Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statement because the 
resources of those funds are not available to support the Village’s own programs.  The accounting used for 
fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 
 
The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 17 through 18 of this report. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements.  The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to the 
financial statements can be found on pages 19 through 61 of this report. 
 
Other Information.  In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also 
presents certain required supplementary information concerning budget to actual comparisons for the 
Village’s progress in funding its obligation to provide pension and other postemployment benefits to its 
employees and the General Fund.  Required supplementary information can be found on pages 62 through 
68 of this report. 
 
Individual fund statements and schedules are presented immediately following the required supplementary 
information discussed above which can be found on pages 69 through 140 of this report. 
 
Financial Analysis of the Village as a Whole 
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position.  
In the case of the Village, assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and deferred 
inflows of resources by $73,862 as of April 30, 2016. 
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Table 1

Condensed Statement of Net Position

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Assets

   Current and other assets 14,076$      10,667$      3,803$        4,653$        17,879$      15,320$      

   Capital assets 56,383        59,274        32,774        37,098        89,157        96,372        

      Total assets 70,459        69,941        36,577        41,751        107,036      111,692      

Deferred outflows

   Unamortized loss 170             199             -              -              170             199             

   Deferred items - pension 2,875          -              53               -              2,928          -              

      Total deferred outflows 3,045          199             53               -              3,098          199             

Liabilities

   Long-term liabilities 18,355        11,372        12,362        12,822        30,717        24,194        

   Other liabilities 1,862          819             431             682             2,293          1,501          

      Total liabilities 20,217        12,191        12,793        13,504        33,010        25,695        

Deferred inflows

   Deferred taxes 2,727          2,556          -              -              2,727          2,556          

   Deferred items - pension 535             -              -              -              535             -              

      Total deferred inflows 3,262          2,556          -              -              3,262          2,556          

Net position

   Net investment in

      capital assets 46,662        48,715        20,879        25,650        67,541        74,365        

   Restricted 3,114          3,094          -              -              3,114          3,094          

   Unrestricted 249             3,584          2,958          2,597          3,207          6,181          

      Total net position 50,025$      55,393$      23,837$      28,247$      73,862$      83,640$      

Total

Governmental

Activities

Business-type

Activities

 
The largest portion of the Village’s net position (91.4%) reflects its net investment in capital assets (e.g. 
land, infrastructure, buildings, improvements, vehicles, and equipment) less any related debt used to 
acquire those assets that is still outstanding.  The Village uses these capital assets to provide services to 
citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for spending.  Although the Village’s investment in its 
capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt 
must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these 
liabilities. 
 
An additional portion of the Village’s net position (4.2%) represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used.  The remaining balance of unrestricted net position (4.4%) may be 
used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 
 
As of April 30, 2016, the Village was able to report positive balances in all three categories of net position, 
both for the government as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and business-type activities.  
The same situation held true for the prior fiscal year. 
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The decrease reflects approximately $810 increase and $846 decrease attributable to the general and water 
operations, respectively, of the Village.  The increase in general operations is mainly due to an increase in 
sales tax due to new stores open for a full year offset by the depreciation of capital assets and other 
expenses.  The decrease in water operations is a combination of an increase in water and sewer rates 
offset by the depreciation of capital assets. 
 

The Village’s unrestricted net position decreased by $2,974 during the current fiscal year which reflects the 
increase in general revenues noted above offset by the implementation of GASB Statement No. 68.  In 
addition, the majority of restricted net position is legally restricted to either economic development or certain 
capital projects.  The Village’s net investment in capital assets decreased by $6,824 during the current fiscal 
year.  The Village added $2,090 of new capital assets, had depreciation of $4,482 during the year, and 
reduced capital assets by $4,823 due to the implementation of a new capital asset policy. 
 

Table 2

Condensed Statement of Activities

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Revenues:

Program revenues:

Charges for services 1,970$        1,531$        5,864$        5,690$        7,834$        7,221$        

Operating grants and

   contributions 1,320          673             -              -              1,320          673             

Capital grants and

   contributions -              7                 -              118             -              125             

General revenues:

Property taxes 2,682          2,651          -              -              2,682          2,651          

Other taxes 1,316          1,372          -              -              1,316          1,372          

Intergovernmental 8,425          5,413          -              -              8,425          5,413          

Other 334             393             90               5                 424             398             

   Total revenues 16,047        12,040        5,954          5,813          22,001        17,853        

Expenses:

General government 4,001          3,544          -              -              4,001          3,544          

Public safety 5,806          4,949          -              -              5,806          4,949          

Highways and streets 5,086          4,441          -              -              5,086          4,441          

Sanitation -              -              1,293          1,236          1,293          1,236          

Interest 344             358             338             299             682             657             

Water and sewer -              -              5,169          5,230          5,169          5,230          

Total expenses 15,237        13,292        6,800          6,765          22,037        20,057        

Change in net position 810             (1,252)         (846)            (952)            (36)              (2,204)         

Net position, May 1 - as restated 49,215        56,645        24,683        29,199        73,898        85,844        

Net position, April 30 50,025$      55,393$      23,837$      28,247$      73,862$      83,640$      

Total

Governmental

Activities

Business-type

Activities

 
The beginning net position was restated in the governmental and business-type activities due to the 
implementation of GASB Statement No. 68, a new capital asset policy, and recognition of payables related 
to an economic incentive agreement (additional information can be found in note 3 on page 45 of this 
report). 
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Governmental activities. Governmental activities increased the Village’s net position by $810.  Key 
elements of this increase are as follows: 
 
Governmental revenues increased by $4,007 (33.3%).  Components of this increase are as follows: 

 Operating grants and contributions increased by $647 (96.1%) mainly due to a contribution to 
complete public improvements in an unfinished neighborhood. 

 Intergovernmental revenue increased by $3,012 (55.6%) mainly due to a full year of regular sales tax 
from commercial stores opened in fiscal year 2015 and a partial year of more commercial stores 
opened in fiscal year 2016 ($695); and the implementation of the Village’s non-home rule sales tax 
approved by voters during fiscal year 2015 ($2,104). 

 
Governmental expenses increased by $1,945 (14.6%).  Components of this increase are as follows: 

 The Village’s non-home rule sales tax is to be used for expenditures on public infrastructure or 
property tax relief per Illinois State Statute.  The Village began our Infrastructure Road Program (IRP) 
in earnest during fiscal year 2016 after implementation of the non-home rule sales tax on July 1, 2015.  
The expenditures in this new fund were $1,785. 
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Business-type activities. Business-type activities decreased the Village’s net position by $846.  Key 
elements of this decrease are as follows: 
 
Business-type revenues increased by $141 (2.4%).  Components of this increase are as follows: 

 Charges for services increased by $174 (3.1%) due to an increase in water and sewer rates during 
fiscal year 2016.  

 
Business-type expenses increased by $35 (0.5%).  Components of this increase are as follows: 

 Sanitation increased by $57 (4.6%) due to a scheduled increase from our third-party waste hauler.  

 Depreciation of business-type capital assets decreased by $179 (8.8%) due to the implementation of a 
new capital asset policy. 

 The Village spent $192 in fiscal year 2016 on a Water Works System Master Plan to determine what 
our future water needs are and how those can be met. 
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Financial Analysis of the Village’s Funds 
 
As noted earlier, the Village uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements. 
 
Governmental Funds.  The focus of the Village’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-
term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the 
Village’s financing requirements.  In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a 
government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
As of April 30, 2016, the Village’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $9,373, 
an increase of $2,318 over the prior year.  Approximately 35.9% of this total amount, $3,364, is available for 
spending at the Village’s discretion (unassigned fund balance).  The remainder of fund balance is either 
nonspendable, restricted, or assigned to indicate that it is 1) not in spendable form ($618), 2) restricted for 
particular purposes ($3,170), or 3) assigned for particular purposes ($2,221). 
 
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the Village.  As of April 30, 2016, unassigned fund balance 
of the General Fund was $3,394.  As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare 
both unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures.  Unassigned fund balance 
represents 37.6% (4.5 months) of the total General Fund expenditures, while total fund balance represents 
44.5% (5.3 months) of total General Fund expenditures. 
 
The fund balance of the General Fund increased by $508 to a total of $4,012 of fund balance at the end of 
the current fiscal year.  The key factors in this increase are 1) increase in intergovernmental revenue due 
mostly to a full year of regular sales tax from commercial stores opened in fiscal year 2015 and a partial 
year of more commercial stores opened in fiscal year 2016, 2) due mostly to a full year of regular sales tax 
from commercial stores opened in fiscal year 2015 and a partial year of more commercial stores opened in 
fiscal year 2016, 3) increase in full-time patrol salaries due to the hiring of additional police officers, 4) 
increase from 75% to 100% of the recommended transfer to the Vehicle Reserve Fund, and 5) transfer of 
funds to the Capital Improvement Fund. 
 
The fund deficit of the Capital Improvement Fund was reduced by $574 to a total of $513 of fund balance at 
the end of the current fiscal year.  The reduction in fund deficit is mainly due to a transfer of funds from the 
General Fund, as well as continuing to repay the advance from the General Fund. 
 
The fund deficit of the Infrastructure Improvement Fund was reduced by $991 to a total of $973 of fund 
balance at the end of the current fiscal year.  The reduction in fund deficit is due to beginning to receive non-
home rule sales tax and the subsequent start of projects during fiscal year 2016. 
 
The fund balance of the Debt Service Fund stayed even at a total of $56 of fund balance at the end of the 
current fiscal year.  The receipts and payment of debt principal and interest matched up. 
 
Proprietary Funds.  The Village’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the 
government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. 
 
The Water Fund had a decrease in net position of $852 to a total of $23,827 of net position at the end of the 
current fiscal year.  Approximately 12.4% of that total is unrestricted net position.  Other factors concerning 
the finances of the Water Fund have already been addressed in the discussion of the Village’s business-
type activities. 
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The Refuse Fund had an increase in net position of $6 to a total of $10 of net position at the end of the 
current fiscal year. 
 
The Employee Insurance Fund had an increase in net position of $22 to a total of $252 of net position at the 
end of the current fiscal year.  The Village keeps a balance in this fund to offset any unexpected increases 
in health and dental insurance for employees. 
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
It has been a policy of the Village to not adopt budget amendments during or after the fiscal year.  This year 
was no exception and no General Fund budget amendments occurred during the current fiscal year. 
 
The General Fund revenues were more than the budget by $675 or 7.3%.  The most significant differences 
between budgeted and actual revenues included 1) state sales tax was $426 higher than budget due to a 
full year of regular sales tax from commercial stores opened in fiscal year 2015 and a partial year of more 
commercial stores opened in fiscal year 2016, and 2) income tax was $140 higher than budget due to the 
economic recovery underway. 
 
The General Fund expenditures were less than the budget by $216 or 2.3%.  The most significant 
differences between budgeted and actual expenditures included 1) fuel was $37 less than budget due to 
lower than expected prices throughout the year, 2) patrol salaries and health insurance were $43 and $26 
less than budget due to a vacancy during part of the year, and 3) economic incentives paid was $41 lower 
than budget due to a couple of businesses opening later than expected. 
 
Capital Asset and Debt Administration 
 
Capital Assets.  The Village’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities 
as of April 30, 2016, amounts to $89,157 (net of accumulated depreciation).  This investment in capital 
assets includes land (including rights-of-way), buildings, improvements other than buildings, vehicles and 
equipment, and infrastructure (including streets, storm sewers, water mains, water pumping and storage 
facilities, and sanitary sewers).   
 
Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following: 
 

 A total of four vehicle replacements were made during the year totaling $430.  The vehicles 
replaced included a Community Development sport utility vehicle, a Public Works pickup truck, 
single axle dump truck, and double axle dump truck. 

 A financial software update of $51 was made during fiscal year 2016. A police software update 
began during fiscal year 2016 ($63) and will be completed in fiscal year 2017. 

 Huntington Chase neighborhood streets were completed at a cost of $613. 

 The Boulder Hill water main project was completed in fiscal year 2016, where the Village spent 
$919.  The overall project replaced approximately 18,000 feet of water main in the unincorporated 
Boulder Hill Subdivision to remediate water main quality, small diameter water main, and water 
main looping issues. 

 Depreciation of governmental and business-type activities capital assets totaling $2,625 and 
$1,857, respectively, was taken during the year. 

 
The following schedule summarizes the Village’s capital assets. 
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Table 3

Capital Assets

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Land 17,933$      17,933$      17$             17$             17,950$      17,950$      

Construction in progress 63               18               263             231             326             249             

Land improvements 138             138             -              -              138             138             

Buildings 22,311        22,311        -              -              22,311        22,311        

Equipment 454             403             84               84               538             487             

Vehicles 2,656          2,495          -              -              2,656          2,495          

Infrastructure 33,452        32,840        49,285        48,366        82,737        81,206        

Less:

   Accumulated depreciation (20,624)       (18,269)       (16,875)       (15,018)       (37,499)       (33,287)       
Total capital assets 56,383$      57,869$      32,774$      33,680$      89,157$      91,549$      

Total

Governmental

Activities

Business-type

Activities

 
Additional information regarding the capital assets can be found in note 3 on pages 36 through 37 of this 
report. 
 

Long-term Debt.  At the end of the current fiscal year, the Village had total debt outstanding of $21,965 
(excluding other postemployment benefit, net pension liability, and compensated absences).  This amount is 
partially comprised of six general obligation alternate revenue bonds which pledge sales, use, and 
telecommunications taxes, as well as net revenues of the water system.  These bonds further pledge the full 
faith and credit of the Village should the alternate revenue source be insufficient.  The Village abates the 
property taxes on the Series 2007, Series 2008A, Series 2010, Series 2011, Series 2013, and Series 2014 
bonds.  The remaining amount of debt outstanding is comprised of three Illinois Environmental Protection 
Agency (IEPA) loans backed by the net revenues of the water system.  The Village’s debt decreased by 
$1,550 (6.6%) during fiscal year 2016. 
 

Major long-term debt events during the current fiscal year included the following: 
 

 The Village drew down $90 of Illinois Environmental Protection Agency loans to complete the 
Boulder Hill water main project. 

 The Village made its regularly scheduled payments of principal ($1,485) and interest on the 
existing outstanding debt. 

 

The following schedule summarizes the Village’s indebtedness. 
 
Table 4

Long-Term Debt

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

General obligation bonds 9,891$        10,656$      5,540$        5,996$        15,431$      16,652$      

Capital lease -              103             -              -              -              103             

IEPA loans -              -              6,534          6,760          6,534          6,760          

   Total long-term debt 9,891$        10,759$      12,074$      12,756$      21,965$      23,515$      

Total

Governmental

Activities

Business-type

Activities
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Additional information regarding the Village’s long-term debt can be found in note 3 on pages 38 through 44 
of this report. 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates 
 

Municipal revenue streams traditionally have been reasonably constant and predictable. For 
municipalities in their growth stage, such as Montgomery, expenditure growth frequently exceeds 
revenue needed to fund new operating and capital programs. The budget cycle provides an 
opportunity to review lists of new services and programs which could be provided to residents and 
enhance the Village. 
 
The Great Recession hit just as the Village was spending millions of dollars on capital 
improvements to pay for the dramatic increase in the Village’s population.  The Village had also 
seen an increase in the demand for services due to Montgomery’s tremendous population growth 
and had to hire more employees. Health insurance and police pension contributions had increased 
more than 50% during this time period as well.  The Village had to take action to reverse the trend 
before it depleted its financial reserves.  Between fiscal year 2011 and fiscal year 2015, the Village 
reduced staffing; moved $150,000 of snow removal expenditures to the Motor Fuel Tax Fund from 
the General Fund; reduced or removed salary increases; and eliminated the local Dispatch Center 
(savings of approximately $200,000 to use regional dispatch center KenCom). 
   
However, the Village saw residential, commercial, and industrial development rebound beginning in 
fiscal year 2015 and further into fiscal year 2016.  Residential permits were up again this fiscal 
year, while commercial and industrial sectors continue to thrive in the community.  The Village 
works with the Montgomery Economic Development Corporation to attract new businesses to the 
community.  We have seen several new businesses build from the ground up over the last year 
including O’Reilly Auto Parts and Speedway, as well as other new businesses occupying vacant 
buildings like Food Market La Chiquita and South Moon BBQ.  As the economy continues the 
steady recovery, many small business owners are exploring expansion and growth strategies. One 
great example is the expansion of the Riverview Diner across the Fox River from the Village Hall. 
 
Commercial development has helped the Village’s sales tax, our single largest revenue source. 
The Village receives a one percent state sales tax on retail sales of tangible personal property 
within the Village. Sales tax is collected by the State and remitted to the Village three months after 
the liability occurs. Sales tax revenue has drastically increased in the last 10 years through the 
expansion of the commercial and retail sector in Montgomery. In fact, sales tax stayed fairly 
consistent even through the Great Recession. The Village began collecting non-home rule sales 
tax on July 1, 2015 on items other than groceries, prescription drugs, over-the-counter medicine, 
and professional services. This new revenue source will be utilized to maintain or build 
infrastructure throughout the community. 
 
The largest industrial project by far was the announcement by American Crystal and United Sugars 
Corporation (USC) of the ground breaking on a new bulk sugar storage and transfer facility.  The 
20-acre facility consists of a 26,000 square-foot bulk storage dome, a 17,000 square foot transfer 
facility and 5,500 feet of rail track space. The dome itself will stand 134 feet high and 183 feet wide. 
There is also room for a second dome.  The dome will hold over 60,000 metric tons or 1.3 million 
hundredweights of sugar and enables the transfer of nearly twice that amount to many of the 
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largest sugar users in the U.S. The facility is not attached to a producing sugar factory, making it 
the largest freestanding sugar storage facility of its kind in the country.  United Sugars’ 
Montgomery facility will be the largest single sugar storage asset in the U.S. and is scheduled to 
begin operations in late 2016. 
 
The development above has helped the Village to maintain a solid financial position.  However, the 
local economy and the Village’s financial position may be effected by state, national, and 
international decisions and events. 
 
The State of Illinois budget impasse is causing funding problems for its own state-wide services, 
and is a major concern to the Village.  According to the Illinois Municipal League (IML), the State is 
currently spending at a rate of nearly $38 billion per year, while only bringing in about $33 billion 
per year.  This unsustainable situation is affecting the State’s cash flow position and will likely 
result in delays of payments to local governments. New bills are constantly being introduced in the 
legislature including, but not limited to, reduction of state shared revenues, property tax freezes, 
debt issuance only by passage of referendum, and pension reform. Any one of these bills 
individually would have significant impact if approved and signed into law. Perhaps the largest 
concern is the reduction of distributions to local governments of state shared revenues to balance 
the State’s budget. Any reduction in the distribution of these state shared revenues would have a 
serious consequence to current Village operations and subsequent year’s operations. Without 
these shared revenues, the Village would have to implement or raise local taxes and fees, increase 
the property tax levy, and/or reduce expenditures. Finally, a reduction in state shared revenue 
combined with a property tax freeze would severely restrict the ability to raise additional revenue to 
support operations. 
 
The national economic expansion has continued slowly. The Federal Reserve began to increase 
interest rates in December of last year, and the potential for further rate increases during the next 
year are very possible. This may result in additional investment income to the Village, although at 
the same time it may make borrowing more expensive (if necessary). Unemployment rates 
continue to drop although concerns remain regarding the number of people who are 
underemployed or have dropped from the workforce altogether. Lastly, the presidential election has 
many concerned on both sides of the aisle. 
 
Internationally, there continue to be concerns over terrorism, political unrest, and a global 
economic slowdown. 
 
The Village owns a water utility and charges residents a fee to use that water, which is the second 
largest revenue source for the Village.  The Village also charges residents a fee to maintain the 
sanitary sewer lines that feed to the Fox Metro Water Reclamation District.  The revenue is based 
upon the immediate prior year’s usage by existing residents along with the additional housing units 
brought online by new permits.  The fiscal year 2017 budget includes an increase of approximately 
50% in base water and sewer charges, while water usage rates will increase 3% as of May 1, 
2016.  The Village expects annual increases of 3% in fiscal year 2018 and each year thereafter.  
This revenue stream is dependent on weather conditions and will vary based on how warm it is or 
how much rain the Village receives. 
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The Village, as a service driven organization, continues to expend the greatest percentage of its 
budget on personal services (wages and benefits).  For fiscal year 2017, personal services 
expenditures are expected to total $7,105,817 or 26.39% of total budgeted expenditures.  This is 
an increase of 5.61% over the fiscal year 2016 budgeted expenditures of $6,728,435. Non-
represented employees are only given an increase in November based solely on a pay for 
performance plan.  The Village successfully negotiated and approved a new contract in November 
2015 with Public Works Local 150 which expires April 30, 2018 and includes a pay for performance 
plan ranging from 0.0% to 3.0% increases.  The Village has started negotiations with the 
Metropolitan Alliance of Police Patrol union employees as the current contract expired on April 30, 
2016. The fiscal year 2017 budget includes an additional 6.20 full-time equivalent employees.  FTE 
equal the total hours of all employees divided by 2,080 working hours in a year.  The new positions 
include a part-time intern (Administration), 3 patrol officers and 2 part-time records clerks (Public 
Safety), and a new maintenance worker I, an additional seasonal, and a part-time mechanic (Public 
Works). 
 
Contacting the Village’s Financial Management 

 
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, investors and creditors with a 
general overview of the Village’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided 
in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to Mr. Justin E. 
VanVooren, Director of Finance, Village of Montgomery, 200 North River Street, Montgomery, IL 
60538. 
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Statement of Net Position

April 30, 2016

Business-Type

Activities Totals

Current Assets

Cash and Investments $ 7,815,930 2,633,199 10,449,129

Receivables - Net 3,102,504 1,170,080 4,272,584

Due from Other Governments 1,952,962 -      1,952,962

Prepaids 64,515 -      64,515

Total Current Assets 12,935,911 3,803,279 16,739,190

Noncurrent Assets

Capital Assets

Nondepreciable 17,996,356 279,240 18,275,596

Depreciable 59,011,373 49,369,605 108,380,978

Depreciation (20,624,490) (16,875,237) (37,499,727)

Total Capital Assets 56,383,239 32,773,608 89,156,847

Other Assets

Notes Receivable 1,139,337 -      1,139,337

Total Noncurrent Assets 57,522,576 32,773,608 90,296,184

Total Assets 70,458,487 36,576,887 107,035,374

Unamortized Loss on Refunding 169,612 -      169,612

Deferred Items - IMRF 404,270 53,091 457,361

Deferred Items - Police Pension 2,471,054 -      2,471,054

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 3,044,936 53,091 3,098,027

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 73,503,423 36,629,978 110,133,401

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

ASSETS 

Governmental

Activities

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Business-Type

Activities Totals

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable $ 1,530,854 256,534 1,787,388

Accrued Payroll 145,285 25,066 170,351

Accrued Interest Payable 138,902 111,569 250,471

Retainage Payable 42,055 1,563 43,618

Due to Other Governments 5,018 -      5,018

Other Payables -      36,000 36,000

Current Portion of Long-Term Debt 801,178 840,867 1,642,045

Total Current Liabilities 2,663,292 1,271,599 3,934,891

Noncurrent Liabilities

Compensated Absences Payable 415,605 56,577 472,182

Net Pension Liability - IMRF 1,710,847 224,677 1,935,524

Net Pension Liability - Police Pension 6,208,878 -      6,208,878

Net Other Post-Employment Benefit Payable 82,745 -      82,745

General Obligation Bonds Payable - Net 9,136,082 5,080,147 14,216,229

IEPA Loans Payable -      6,159,857 6,159,857

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 17,554,157 11,521,258 29,075,415

Total Liabilities 20,217,449 12,792,857 33,010,306

Deferred Items - Police Pension 534,571 -      534,571

Property Taxes 2,726,952 -      2,726,952

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 3,261,523 -      3,261,523

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 23,478,972 12,792,857 36,271,829

Net Investment in Capital Assets 46,661,769 20,879,292 67,541,061

Restricted - Economic Development 1,798,797 -      1,798,797

Restricted - Public Safety 244,992 -      244,992

Restricted - Highways and Streets 274,708 -      274,708

Restricted - Subdivision Maintenance 787,057 -      787,057

Restricted - Subdivision Improvements 8,075 -      8,075

Unrestricted 249,053 2,957,829 3,206,882

Total Net Position 50,024,451 23,837,121 73,861,572

NET POSITION

Governmental

Activities

LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Statement of Activities

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Charges Operating Capital

for Grants/ Grants/

Services Contributions Contributions

Governmental Activities

General Government $ 4,000,986 747,280 -      -      

Public Safety 5,805,768 509,588 11,469 -      

Highways and Streets 5,085,800 713,056 1,308,040 -      

Interest on Long-Term Debt 344,003 -      -      -      

Total Governmental Activities 15,236,557 1,969,924 1,319,509 -      

Business-Type Activities

Water 5,168,892 4,565,238 -      -      

Refuse 1,293,243 1,299,130 -      -      

Total Business-Type Activities 6,462,135 5,864,368 -      -      

Total Primary Government 21,698,692 7,834,292 1,319,509 -      

General Revenues

    Taxes

        Property Taxes

        Utility Taxes

        Video Gaming Taxes

    Intergovernmental - Unrestricted

        Sales Taxes

        Non-Home Rule Sales Taxes

        Income Taxes

        Replacement Taxes

        Local Use Taxes

    Investment Earnings

    Miscellaneous

Change in Net Position

Net Position - Beginning as Restated

Net Position - Ending

Expenses

Program Revenues

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Totals

(3,253,706) -      (3,253,706)

(5,284,711) -      (5,284,711)

(3,064,704) -      (3,064,704)

(344,003) (338,126) (682,129)

(11,947,124) (338,126) (12,285,250)

-      (603,654) (603,654)

-      5,887 5,887

-      (597,767) (597,767)

(11,947,124) (935,893) (12,883,017)

2,681,695 -      2,681,695

1,256,073 -      1,256,073

60,261 -      60,261

-      

3,863,843 -      3,863,843

2,103,584 -      2,103,584

1,964,982 -      1,964,982

56,272 -      56,272

436,512 -      436,512

44,614 19,148 63,762

288,798 71,058 359,856

12,756,634 90,206 12,846,840

809,510 (845,687) (36,177)

49,214,941 24,682,808 73,897,749

50,024,451 23,837,121 73,861,572

Net (Expenses)/Revenue

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds

April 30, 2016

Cash and Investments $ 2,745,142

Receivables - Net of Allowances

Property Taxes 2,149,347

Other Taxes 28,505

Accounts 182,702

Accrued Interest 4,299

Notes -      

Due from Other Governments 1,292,097

Due from Other Funds 26,150

Advances to Other Funds 553,227

Prepaids 64,515

Total Assets 7,045,984

Accounts Payable 739,454

Accrued Payroll 145,285

Retainage Payable -      

Due to Other Funds -      

Due to Other Governments -      

Advances from Other Funds -      

Total Liabilities 884,739

Property Taxes 2,149,347

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows 

of Resources 3,034,086

Nonspendable 617,742

Restricted -      

Assigned -      

Unassigned 3,394,156

Total Fund Balances 4,011,898

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of

Resources and Fund Balances 7,045,984

General

ASSETS 

LIABILITIES 

FUND BALANCES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Debt Capital Infrastructure

Service Improvement Improvement Nonmajor Totals

56,089 887,288 1,158,405 2,716,647 7,563,571

-      -      -      577,605 2,726,952

-      151,310 -      -      179,815

-      7,781 -      -      190,483

-      955 -      -      5,254

-      -      -      1,139,337 1,139,337

-      26,128 592,776 41,961 1,952,962

-      -      -      -      26,150

-      -      -      -      553,227

-      -      -      -      64,515

56,089 1,073,462 1,751,181 4,475,550 14,402,266

-      2,248 762,328 26,824 1,530,854

-      -      -      -      145,285

-      -      15,886 26,169 42,055

-      -      -      26,150 26,150

-      5,018 -      -      5,018

-      553,227 -      -      553,227

-      560,493 778,214 79,143 2,302,589

-      -      -      577,605 2,726,952

-      560,493 778,214 656,748 5,029,541

-      -      -      -      617,742

56,089 -      -      3,113,629 3,169,718

-      512,969 972,967 735,263 2,221,199

-      -      -      (30,090) 3,364,066

56,089 512,969 972,967 3,818,802 9,372,725

56,089 1,073,462 1,751,181 4,475,550 14,402,266

Capital Projects

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balance to the

Statement of Net Position - Governmental Activities

April 30, 2016

 

Total Governmental Fund Balances $ 9,372,725

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position

are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial

resources and therefore, are not reported in the funds. 56,383,239

Deferred outflows (inflows) of resources related to the pensions not reported in the funds. 

Deferred Items - IMRF 404,270

Deferred Items - Police Pension 1,936,483

Internal service funds are used by the Village to charge the costs of issuance to

individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service fund are included

in the governmental activities In the Statement of Net Position. 252,359

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current

period and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Compensated Absences Payable (461,783)

Net Pension Liability - IMRF (1,710,847)

Net Pension Liability - Police Pension (6,208,878)

Net Other Post-Employment Benefit Payable (82,745)

General Obligation Bonds Payable - Net (9,891,082)

Unamortized Loss on Refunding 169,612

Accrued Interest Payable (138,902)

Net Position of Governmental Activities 50,024,451

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 2,241,843

Other Taxes 128,293

Licenses, Permits and Fees 447,653

Intergovernmental, Grants and Contributions 6,333,078

Fines and Forfeitures 319,217

Charges for Services 310,585

Interest 26,118

Miscellaneous 132,824

Total Revenues 9,939,611

Expenditures

Current

General Government 2,985,297

Public Safety 4,408,227

Highways and Streets 1,559,510

Capital Outlay 70,940

Debt Service

Principal Retirement -      

Interest and Fiscal Charges -      

Total Expenditures 9,023,974

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 

Over (Under) Expenditures 915,637

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Disposal of Capital Assets -      

Transfers In -      

Transfers Out (407,948)

(407,948)

Net Change in Fund Balances 507,689

Fund Balances - Beginning as Restated 3,504,209

Fund Balances - Ending 4,011,898

General

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

10



Debt Capital Infrastructure

Service Improvement Improvement Nonmajor Totals

-      -      -      439,852 2,681,695

1,188,041 -      -      1,316,334

-      -      -      -      447,653

-      114,963 2,775,584 521,077 9,744,702

-      -      -      21,935 341,152

-      19,283 -      829,039 1,158,907

-      3,949 -      14,547 44,614

-      131,812 -      24,162 288,798

-      1,458,048 2,775,584 1,850,612 16,023,855

-      5,857 -      108,766 3,099,920

-      -      -      26,223 4,434,450

-      -      1,189,944 929,532 3,678,986

-      190,696 594,673 512,318 1,368,627

725,000 -      -      103,071 828,071

359,165 -      -      4,896 364,061

1,084,165 196,553 1,784,617 1,684,806 13,774,115

(1,084,165) 1,261,495 990,967 165,806 2,249,740

-      400 -      68,250 68,650

1,084,165 396,510 -      11,438 1,492,113

-      (1,084,165) -      -      (1,492,113)

1,084,165 (687,255) -      79,688 68,650

-      574,240 990,967 245,494 2,318,390

56,089 (61,271) (18,000) 3,573,308 7,054,335

56,089 512,969 972,967 3,818,802 9,372,725

Capital Projects

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

to the Statement of Activities - Governmental Activities

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds $ 2,318,390

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities

are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the

Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated

useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. 

Capital Outlays 1,139,001

Depreciation Expense (2,624,964)

Disposals - Cost (269,454)

Disposals - Accumulated Depreciation 269,454

The net effect of deferred outflows (inflows) of resources related

to the pensions not reported in the funds. 

Change in Deferred Items - IMRF 140,616

Change in Deferred Items - Police Pension 1,484,201

Internal service funds are used by the Village to charge the costs of 

insurance to individual funds. The net revenue of certain activities

of internal service funds is reported with governmental activities. 22,212

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to

governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal on long-term

debt consumes the current financial resources of the governmental funds.

Decrease to Compensated Absences Payable 53,324

(Increase) to Net Pension Liability - IMRF (329,605)

(Increase) to Net Pension Liability - Police Pension (2,212,884)

(Increase) to Net Other Post-Employment Payable (28,910)

Retirement of Debt 828,071

Amortization of Bond Premium 39,660

Amortization of Loss on Refunding (29,602)

Changes to accrued interest on long-term debt in the Statement of Activities

does not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not

reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. 10,000

Changes in Net Position of Governmental Activities 809,510

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds

April 30, 2016

See Following Page



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds

April 30, 2016

Governmental

Activities

Internal

Service

Employee

Refuse Totals Insurance

Current Assets

Cash and Investments $ 2,633,199 -      2,633,199 252,359

Receivables - Net of Allowances

Accounts 833,112 332,165 1,165,277 -      

Accrued Interest 4,803 -      4,803 -      

Due from Other Funds 210,851 -      210,851 -      

Total Current Assets 3,681,965 332,165 4,014,130 252,359

Noncurrent Assets

Nondepreciable Capital Assets 279,240 -      279,240 -      

Depreciable Capital Assets 49,369,605 -      49,369,605 -      

Accumulated Depreciation (16,875,237) -      (16,875,237) -      

Total Noncurrent Assets 32,773,608 -      32,773,608 -      

Total Assets 36,455,573 332,165 36,787,738 252,359

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred Items - IMRF 53,091 -      53,091 -      

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows

of Resources 36,508,664 332,165 36,840,829 252,359

Business-Type Activities

Water

ASSETS 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Governmental

Activities

Internal

Service

Employee

Refuse Totals Insurance

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable $ 145,590 110,944 256,534 -      

Accrued Payroll 25,066 -      25,066 -      

Accrued Interest Payable 111,569 -      111,569 -      

Retainage Payable 1,563 -      1,563 -      

Other Payables 36,000 -      36,000 -      

Due from Other Funds -      210,851 210,851 -      

Current Portion of Long-Term Debt 840,867 -      840,867 -      

Total Current Liabilities 1,160,655 321,795 1,482,450 -      

 

Noncurrent Liabilities

Compensated Absences Payable 56,577 -      56,577 -      

Net Pension Liability - IMRF 224,677 -      224,677 -      

General Obligation Bonds Payable - Net 5,080,147 -      5,080,147 -      

IEPA Loans Payable 6,159,857 -      6,159,857 -      

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 11,521,258 -      11,521,258 -      

Total Liabilities 12,681,913 321,795 13,003,708 -      

Net Investment in Capital Assets 20,879,292 -      20,879,292 -      

Unrestricted 2,947,459 10,370 2,957,829 252,359

Total Net Position 23,826,751 10,370 23,837,121 252,359

NET POSITION

Business-Type Activities

Water

LIABILITIES

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position - Proprietary Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Governmental

Activities

Internal

Service

Employee

Refuse Totals Insurance

Operating Revenues

Charges for Services $ 4,565,238 1,299,130 5,864,368 -      

Interfund Services -      -      -      789,243

Total Operating Revenues 4,565,238 1,299,130 5,864,368 789,243

Operating Expenses

Operations 3,322,027 1,293,243 4,615,270 767,031

Depreciation 1,846,865 -      1,846,865 -      

Total Operating Expenses 5,168,892 1,293,243 6,462,135 767,031

Operating Income (Loss) (603,654) 5,887 (597,767) 22,212

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Investment Earnings 19,148 -      19,148 -      

Reimbursements 57,181 -      57,181 -      

Other Income 13,877 -      13,877 -      

Interest Expense (338,126) -      (338,126) -      

(247,920) -      (247,920) -      

 

Change in Net Position (851,574) 5,887 (845,687) 22,212

Net Position - Beginning as Restated 24,678,325 4,483 24,682,808 230,147

Net Position - Ending 23,826,751 10,370 23,837,121 252,359

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

15



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Governmental

Activities

Internal

Service

Employee

Refuse Totals Insurance

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts from Customers and Users $ 4,705,460 1,272,645 5,978,105 -      

Receipts from Interfund Services -      -      -      789,243

Payments to Employees (524,351) -      (524,351) -      

Payments to Suppliers (2,833,326) (1,272,645) (4,105,971) (767,031)

1,347,783 -      1,347,783 22,212

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities

Purchase of Capital Assets (950,654) -      (950,654) -      

Disposal of Capital Assets 90,299 -      90,299 -      

Principal Paid on Debt (760,453) -      (760,453) -      

Interest Paid on Debt (338,126) -      (338,126) -      

(1,958,934) -      (1,958,934) -      

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Investment Income 19,148 -      19,148 -      

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (592,003) -      (592,003) 22,212

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning 3,225,202 -      3,225,202 230,147

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Ending  2,633,199 -      2,633,199 252,359

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash 

Provided (Used) by Operating Activities.

Operating Income (Loss)  (603,654) 5,887 (597,767) 22,212

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to 

Net Income to Net Cash Provided by (Used in) 

Depreciation and Amortization Expense 1,846,865 -      1,846,865 -      

Other Income 71,058 -      71,058 -      

(Increase) Decrease in Current Assets 69,164 (26,485) 42,679 -      

Increase (Decrease) in Current Liabilities (35,650) 20,598 (15,052) -      

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities  1,347,783 -      1,347,783 22,212

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 

April 30, 2016

Agency

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 67,581 3,261,505

Investments

U.S. Treasury Obligations 103,318 -      

U.S. Agency Obligations 1,645,229 -      

Municipal Bonds 432,945 -      

Corporate Bonds 1,641,552 -      

Annuities 1,201,370 -      

Mutual Funds 2,582,202 -      

Common Stock 629,570 -      

Receivables - Net of Allowance

Accrued Interest 46,626 -      

Total Assets 8,350,393 3,261,505

Deposits Payable -      525,926

Due to Others -      16,568

Due to Bondholders -      2,719,011

Total Liabilities -      3,261,505

Net Position Restricted for Pensions 8,350,393

LIABILITIES

NET POSITION

Pension

Trust

Police

Pension

ASSETS

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Additions

Contributions - Employer $ 452,282

Contributions - Plan Members 216,533

Total Contributions 668,815

Investment Income

Investment Earnings 335,821

Net Change in Fair Value (343,336)

(7,515)

Less Investment Expenses (18,113)

Net Investment Income (25,628)

Total Additions 643,187

Deductions

Administration 18,226

Benefits and Refunds 481,164

Total Deductions 499,390

Change in Fiduciary Net Position 143,797

Net Position Restricted for Pensions

Beginning 8,206,596

Ending 8,350,393

Police

Pension

Pension

Trust

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

The Village of Montgomery, Illinois (Village) is a municipal corporation established under Illinois 

Compiled Statutes (ILCS) governed by an elected President and Board of Trustees.  

 

The government-wide financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles (GAAP). The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is responsible 

for establishing GAAP for state and local governments through its pronouncements (Statements and 

Interpretations). The more significant of the Village’s accounting policies established in GAAP and 

used by the Village are described below. 

 

REPORTING ENTITY 

 

The Village’s financial reporting entity comprises the following: 

 

Primary Government:  Village of Montgomery 

 

In determining the financial reporting entity, the Village complies with the provisions of GASB 

Statement No. 61, “the Financial Reporting Omnibus – an Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 

and No. 34,” and includes all component units that have a significant operational or financial 

relationship with the Village. Based upon the criteria set forth in the GASB Statement No. 61, there are 

no component units included in the reporting entity. 
 

Police Pension Employees Retirement System 
 

The Village’s sworn police employees participate in the Police Pension Employees Retirement System 

(PPERS). PPERS functions for the benefit of these employees and is governed by a five-member 

pension board. Two members appointed by the Village’s President, one elected pension beneficiary and 

two elected police employees constitute the pension board. The participants are required to contribute a 

percentage of salary as established by state statute and the Village is obligated to fund all remaining 

PPERS costs based upon actuarial valuations. The State of Illinois is authorized to establish benefit 

levels and the Village is authorized to approve the actuarial assumptions used in the determination of 

contribution levels. Although it is legally separate from the Village, the PPERS is reported as if it were 

part of the primary Village because its sole purpose is to provide retirement benefits for the Village’s 

police employees. The PPERS is reported as a fiduciary fund, and specifically a pension trust fund, due 

to the fiduciary responsibility exercised over the PPERS. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

 

BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

 

Government-Wide Statements 

 

The Village’s basic financial statements include both government-wide (reporting the Village as a 

whole) and fund financial statements (reporting the Village’s major funds). Both the government-wide 

and fund financial statements categorize primary activities as either governmental or business-type. The 

Village’s general government, public safety, and highways and streets services are classified as 

governmental activities. The Village’s water and refuse activities are classified as business-type 

activities. 

 

In the government-wide Statement of Net Position, both the governmental and business-type activities 

columns are: (a) presented on a consolidated basis by column, and (b) reported on a full accrual, 

economic resource basis, which recognizes all long-term assets/deferred outflows and receivables as 

well as long-term debt/deferred inflows and obligations. 

 

The Village’s net position is reported in three parts: net investment in capital assets; restricted; and 

unrestricted. The Village first utilizes restricted resources to finance qualifying activities. 

 

The government-wide Statement of Activities reports both the gross and net cost of each of the 

Village’s functions and business-type activities (general government, public safety, public works, etc.). 

The functions are supported by general government revenues (property, sales and use taxes, certain 

intergovernmental revenues, fines, permits and charges for services, etc.). The Statement of Activities 

reduces gross expenses (including depreciation) by related program revenues, which include 1) charges 

to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges 

provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting 

the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. 

 

The net costs (by function or business-type activity) are normally covered by general revenue (property, 

sales and use taxes, certain intergovernmental revenues, permits and charges for services, etc.). 

 

The Village allocates indirect costs to other funds for personnel who perform administrative services 

for those funds, along with other indirect costs deemed necessary for their operations, but are paid for 

through the General Fund. 

 

This government-wide focus is more on the sustainability of the Village as an entity and the change in 

the Village’s net position resulting from the current year’s activities. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

 

BASIS OF PRESENTATION – Continued  

 

Fund Financial Statements 

 

The financial transactions of the Village are reported in individual funds in the fund financial 

statements. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that 

comprise its assets/deferred outflows, liabilities/deferred inflows, fund equity, revenues and 

expenditures/expenses. Funds are organized into three major categories: governmental, proprietary, and 

fiduciary. The emphasis in fund financial statements is on the major funds in either the governmental or 

business-type activities categories. 

 

GASB Statement No. 34 sets forth minimum criteria (percentage of the assets/deferred outflows, 

liabilities/deferred inflows, revenues or expenditures/expenses of either fund category or the 

governmental and enterprise combined) for the determination of major funds. The nonmajor funds are 

combined in a column in the fund financial statements. 

 

A fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of the Village or meets the following 

criteria: 

 

Total assets/deferred outflows, liabilities/deferred inflows, revenues, or 

expenditures/expenses of that individual governmental or enterprise fund 

are at least 10 percent of the corresponding total for all funds of that 

category or type; and 

 

Total assets/deferred outflows, liabilities/deferred inflows, revenues, or 

expenditures/expenses of the individual governmental fund or enterprise 

fund are at least 5 percent of the corresponding total for all governmental 

and enterprise funds combined. 
 

The various funds are reported by generic classification within the financial statements. The following 

fund types are used by the Village: 
 

Governmental Funds 
 

The focus of the governmental funds’ measurement (in the fund statements) is upon determination of 

financial position and changes in financial position (sources, uses, and balances of financial resources) 

rather than upon net income. The following is a description of the governmental funds of the Village: 
 

General fund is the general operating fund of the Village. It is used to account for all financial 

resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. The General Fund is a major fund. 
 

Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are legally 

restricted to expenditures for specified purposes. The Village maintains 19 nonmajor special revenue 

funds.



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

April 30, 2016  

 

 

22 

 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

 

BASIS OF PRESENTATION – Continued 

 

Fund Financial Statements – Continued  
 

Governmental Funds – Continued 

 

Debt service funds are used to account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of, 

general long-term debt principal and interest. The Debt Service Fund is treated as a major fund and is 

used to accumulate monies for the Village’s general obligation alternate revenue source bonds (Series 

2008A, Series 2010, Series 2011, and Series 2014) for payment of the principal and interest on 

governmental debt (non-proprietary). Utility tax revenues are transferred from the Capital Improvement 

Fund to finance the annual payment requirements. 
 

Capital projects funds are used to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or 

construction of major capital assets (other than those financed by business-type/proprietary funds). The 

Village maintains four capital projects funds. The Capital Improvement Fund, a major fund, is used to 

account for funds restricted, committed or assigned to the acquisition, construction and improvement of 

governmental general capital assets (not financed by proprietary funds). Activities are financed by 

utility taxes, grants, rents on Village properties, and developer contributions. The Infrastructure 

Improvement Fund, also a major fund, is used to account for funds restricted, committed, or assigned to 

the acquisition, construction and improvement of governmental infrastructure capital assets (not being 

financed by proprietary funds) throughout the community. Activities are financed by the 1% non-home 

rule sales tax. The Village also maintains two nonmajor capital projects funds. 
 

Proprietary Funds 
 

The focus of proprietary fund measurement is upon determination of operating income, changes in net 

position, financial position, and cash flows. The generally accepted accounting principles applicable are 

those similar to businesses in the private sector. The following is a description of the proprietary funds 

of the Village: 
 

Enterprise funds are required to account for operations for which a fee is charged to external users for 

goods or services and the activity is (a) financed with debt that is solely secured by a pledge of the net 

revenues, (b) has third party requirements that the cost of providing services, including capital costs, be 

recovered with fees and charges, or (c) establishes fees and charges based on a pricing policy designed 

to recover similar costs. The Village maintains two major proprietary funds. The Water Fund is used to 

account for the revenues and expenses relative to the operation of the water utility. The Refuse Fund is 

used to account for refuse services contracted by the Village for the benefit of its citizens, but 

performed by a private entity. This fund is financed by fees charged to residents on their bi-monthly 

utility bill. 
 

Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by an 

activity to other departments, funds or component units of the Village on a cost-reimbursement basis. 

The Village maintains one internal service fund, the Employee Insurance Fund. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

 

BASIS OF PRESENTATION – Continued 
 

Fund Financial Statements – Continued 
 

Fiduciary Funds  
 

Fiduciary funds are used to report assets held in a trustee or agency capacity by the Village for others 

and therefore are not available to support Village programs. The reporting focus is on net position and 

changes in net position and is reported using accounting principles similar to proprietary funds. 
 

Pension trust funds are used to account for assets held in a trustee capacity by the Village for pension 

benefit payments. The Police Pension Fund accounts for the accumulation of resources to pay 

retirement and other related benefits for sworn members of the Village’s police force.  
 

Agency funds are used to account for assets held by the Village in a purely custodial capacity. The 

Village maintains seven agency funds. The Talma Street Special Service Area Fund is used to account 

for the tax collections to pay principal and interest on the Special Service Area #96-1 Bonds. The 

Escrow Fund is used to account for the developer contributions held on behalf of other governments 

and for developer deposits. The Flexible Benefit Fund is used to account for the fringe benefits for 

employees. The Lakewood Special Assessment Fund is used to account for the contributions from 

property owners and payments of principal and interest on the Special Assessment Bonds. The 

Blackberry Crossing West Special Service Area Fund is used to account for the tax collections to pay 

principal and interest on the Special Service Area #10 Bonds. The Cornell Special Service Area Fund is 

used to account for the tax collections to pay principal and interest on the Special Service Area #17 

Bonds. The Temporary CO Fund is used to account for the deposits held to ensure completion of final 

plans and projects on new commercial and residential construction. 
 

The Village’s fiduciary funds are presented in the fiduciary fund financial statements by type (pension 

trust and agency). Since by definition these assets are being held for the benefit of a third party (other 

local governments, private parties, pension participants, etc.) and cannot be used to address activities or 

obligations of the Village, this fund is not incorporated into the government-wide statements. 
 

MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 
 

Measurement focus is a term used to describe “which” transactions are recorded within the various 

financial statements. Basis of accounting refers to “when” transactions are recorded regardless of the 

measurement focus applied. 
 

Measurement Focus 
 

On the government-wide Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, both governmental 

and business-type activities are presented using the economic resources measurement focus as defined 

below. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

 

MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING – Continued 

 

Measurement Focus – Continued  

 

In the fund financial statements, the “current financial resources” measurement focus or the “economic 

resources” measurement focus is used as appropriate. 

 

All governmental funds utilize a “current financial resources” measurement focus. Only current 

financial assets/deferred outflows and liabilities/deferred inflows are generally included on their 

balance sheets. Their operating statements present sources and uses of available spendable financial 

resources during a given period. These funds use fund balance as their measure of available spendable 

financial resources at the end of the period. 

 

All proprietary and pension trust funds utilize an “economic resources” measurement focus. The 

accounting objectives of this measurement focus are the determination of operating income, changes in 

net position (or cost recovery), financial position, and cash flows. All assets/deferred outflows and 

liabilities/deferred inflows (whether current or noncurrent) associated with their activities are reported. 

Proprietary and pension trust fund equity is classified as net position. Agency funds are not involved in 

the measurement of results of operations; therefore, measurement focus is not applicable to them. 

 

Basis of Accounting 

 

In the government-wide Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, both governmental and 

business-type activities are presented using the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of 

accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability/deferred 

inflow is incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets/deferred outflows, 

and liabilities/deferred inflows resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized 

when the exchange takes place. 

 

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds are presented on the modified accrual basis of 

accounting. Under this modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when 

“measurable and available.” Measurable means knowing or being able to reasonably estimate the 

amount. Available means collectible within the current period or within sixty days after year-end. The 

Village recognizes property taxes when they become both measurable and available in accordance with 

GASB Codification Section P70. A ninety day availability period is used for revenue recognition for all 

other governmental fund revenues. Expenditures (including capital outlay) are recorded when the 

related fund liability is incurred, except for general obligation bond principal and interest which are 

recognized when due. 

 

In applying the susceptible to accrual concept under the modified accrual basis, those revenues 

susceptible to accrual are property taxes, sales and use taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, interest revenue, 

and charges for services. All other revenues are not susceptible to accrual because generally they are 

not measurable until received in cash. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 

MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING – Continued  
 

Basis of Accounting – Continued 
 

All proprietary, pension trust and agency funds utilize the accrual basis of accounting. Under the 

accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the 

liability is incurred or economic asset used. 
 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating 

revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 

connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of 

the Village’s enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services. 
 

Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, 

and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as 

nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 

ASSETS/DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES/DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND NET 

POSITION OR EQUITY 
 

Cash and Investments 
 

Cash and cash equivalents on the Statement of Net Position are considered to be cash on hand, demand 

deposits, and cash with fiscal agent. For the purpose of the proprietary funds “Statement of Cash 

Flows,” cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, cash with fiscal 

agent, and all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less. Investments 

are reported at fair value. Short-term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value. 

Securities traded on national exchanges are valued at the last reported sales price. Investments that do 

not have any established market, if any, are reported at estimated fair value. 
 

Receivables 
 

In the government-wide financial statements, receivables consist of all revenues earned at year-end and 

not yet received. Allowances for uncollectible accounts receivable are based upon historical trends and 

the periodic aging of accounts receivable. Major receivables balances for governmental activities 

include property taxes, sales and use taxes, income taxes, utility taxes and grants. Business-type 

activities report utility charges as their major receivables. 
 

Prepaids 
 

Prepaids are valued at cost, which approximates market, using the first-in/first-out (FIFO) method. The 

costs of governmental fund-type prepaids are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than 

when purchased. Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and 

are recorded as prepaids in both the government-wide and fund financial statements.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 

ASSETS/DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES/DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND NET 

POSITION OR EQUITY – Continued 
 

Interfund Receivables, Payables and Activity 
 

Interfund activity is reported as loans, services provided, reimbursements or transfers. Loans are 

reported as interfund receivables and payables as appropriate and are subject to elimination upon 

consolidation. Long-term interfund loans, if any, are classified as advances to/from other funds. 

Services provided, deemed to be at market or near market rates, are treated as revenues and 

expenditures/expenses. Reimbursements are when one fund incurs a cost, charges the appropriate 

benefiting fund and reduces its related cost as a reimbursement. All other interfund transactions are 

treated as transfers. Transfers between governmental or proprietary funds are netted as part of the 

reconciliation to the government-wide financial statements. 
 

Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets are defined by the Village as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $10,000 

for vehicles, $25,000 for land improvements and machinery and equipment, $50,000 for buildings and 

building improvements, and $250,000 for infrastructure and an estimated useful life in excess of four 

years. Contributed assets are reported at fair market value as of the date received. Additions, 

improvements and other capital outlays that significantly extend the useful life of an asset are 

capitalized. Other costs incurred for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. 
 

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement 

focus. General capital assets are long-lived assets of the Village as a whole. Infrastructure such as 

streets, storm sewers and bridges are capitalized. The valuation basis for general capital assets are 

historical cost, or where historical cost is not available, estimated historical cost based on replacement 

costs. Capital assets in the proprietary funds are capitalized in the fund in which they are utilized. The 

valuation bases for proprietary fund capital assets are the same as those used for the general capital 

assets. Donated capital assets are capitalized at estimated fair market value on the date donated. 
 

Depreciation on all assets is computed and recorded using the straight-line method of depreciation over 

the following estimated useful lives: 
 

Land Improvements 15 - 20 Years 
 

Buildings 10 - 45 Years 
 

Equipment 4 - 30 Years 
 

Vehicles 4 - 10 Years 
 

Infrastructure 20 - 50 Years 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

 

ASSETS/DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES/DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND NET 

POSITION OR EQUITY – Continued 

 

Compensated Absences 

 

Vested or accumulated vacation leave and sick pay related to employees that have retired or terminated 

at year-end but not yet paid out is reported as an expenditure and a fund liability of the governmental 

fund (General Fund) that will pay it. Vested and accumulated vacation leave and sick pay of the 

proprietary funds and governmental activities is recorded as an expense and liability as the benefits 

accrue to employees. 

 

Long-Term Obligations 

 

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial 

statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable 

governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type Statement of Net Position. 

Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective 

interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond 

issuance costs are reported as expenses at the time of issuance. 

 

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as 

well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as 

other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources 

while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not 

withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures. 

 

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

 

Deferred outflow/inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future 

period and therefore will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense)/inflow of resources 

(revenue) until that future time.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

 

ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET ASSETS OR EQUITY – Continued 

 

Net Position 

 

In the government-wide financial statements, equity is classified as net position and displayed in three 

components: 

 

Net Investment in Capital Assets – Consists of capital assets including 

restricted capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by 

the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes or other 

borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or 

improvement of those assets. 

 

Restricted – Consists of net position with constraints placed on the use 

either by (1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or 

laws or regulations of other governments; or (2) law through constitutional 

provisions or enabling legislations. 

 

Unrestricted – All other net position balances that do not meet the 

definition of “restricted” or “net investment in capital assets.” 

 

NOTE 2 – STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

 

BUDGETARY INFORMATION 

 

Annual budgets are adopted for all funds. Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally 

accepted accounting principles. All annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end. 

 

All departments of the Village submit budget requests to the Director of Finance so that a budget may 

be prepared. The budget is prepared by fund, department and division, and includes information on the 

past year, current year estimates and requested appropriations for the next fiscal year and two projected 

years. The Village Administrator reviews the budget and recommends a budget to the Village Board. 

 

The proposed budget is presented to the governing body for review. The governing body holds public 

hearings and may add to, subtract from or change appropriations, but may not change the form of the 

budget. The budget may be amended by the governing body. 

 

Expenditures may not legally exceed budgeted appropriations at the fund level. During the current 

fiscal year, no budget amendments were adopted. 
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NOTE 2 – STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY – Continued  

 

EXCESS OF ACTUAL EXPENDITURES/EXPENSES OVER BUDGET IN INDIVIDUAL 

FUNDS 

 

The following funds had excess of actual expenditures over budget at year end: 

 

Fund

Infrastructure Improvement $ 1,006,217   

Police Drug 18,683

Emergency 911 30,340

Police Gift 325

Balmorea Special Service Area 1,098

Fairfield Way Special Service Area 3,402

Foxmoor Special Service Area 16,639

Tax Increment Financing  District #2 6,911

Orchard Prairie North Special Service Area 1,000

Police Pension 92,600

Excess

 
 

DEFICIT FUND BALANCE 

 

The following funds had deficit fund balance as of the date of this report: 

 

Fund

Balmorea Special Service Area $ 416

Tax Increment Financing  District #2 29,674

Deficit

 
 

NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS 

 

DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 

 

The Village maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all funds except the 

pension trust funds. Each fund type's portion of this pool is displayed on the financial statements as 

"cash and investments." In addition, investments are separately held by several of the Village's funds. 

The deposits and investments of the pension trust funds are held separately from those of other funds. 

 

Permitted Deposits and Investments – Statutes authorize the Village to make deposits/invest in 

commercial banks, savings and loan institutions, obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. Agencies, 

obligations of States and their political subdivisions, credit union shares, repurchase agreements, and 

commercial paper rated within the three highest classifications by at least two standard rating services.   
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued  

 

DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued  

 

The deposits and investments of the Pension Fund are held separately from those of other Village funds. 

Statutes authorize the Pension Fund to make deposits/invest in interest bearing direct obligations of the 

United States of America; obligations that are fully guaranteed or insured as to the payment of principal 

and interest by the United States of America; bonds, notes, debentures, or similar obligations of agencies 

of the United States of America; savings accounts or certificates of deposit issued by banks or savings and 

loan associations chartered by the United States of America or by the State of Illinois, to the extent that 

the deposits are insured by the agencies or instrumentalities of the federal government; credit unions, to 

the extent that the deposits are insured by the agencies or instrumentalities of the federal government; 

State of Illinois bonds; pooled accounts managed by the Illinois Funds Market Fund (Formerly known as 

IPTIP, Illinois Public Treasurer’s Investment Pool), or by banks, their subsidiaries or holding companies, 

in accordance with the laws of the State of Illinois; bonds or tax anticipation warrants of any county, 

township, or municipal corporation of the State of Illinois; direct obligations of the State of Israel; money 

market mutual funds managed by investment companies that are registered under the Federal Investment 

Company Act of 1940 and the Illinois Securities Law of 1953 and are diversified, open-ended 

management investment companies, provided the portfolio is limited to specified restrictions; general 

accounts of life insurance companies; and separate accounts of life insurance companies and mutual 

funds, the mutual funds must meet specific restrictions, provided the investment in separate accounts 

and mutual funds does not exceed ten percent of the Pension Fund’s plan net position; and corporate 

bonds managed through an investment advisor, rated as investment grade by one of the two largest 

rating services at the time of purchase. Pension Funds with plan net position of $2.5 million or more 

may invest up to forty-five percent of plan net position in separate accounts of life insurance companies 

and mutual funds. Pension Funds with plan net position of at least $5 million that have appointed an 

investment advisor, may through that investment advisor invest up to forty-five percent of the plan net 

position in common and preferred stocks that meet specific restrictions. In addition, pension funds with 

plan net position of at least $10 million that have appointed an investment advisor, may invest up to 

fifty percent of its net position in common and preferred stocks and mutual funds that meet specific 

restrictions effective July 1, 2011 and up to fifty-five percent effective July 1, 2012. 

 

Village Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk, and Concentration Risk 

 

Deposits. At year-end the carrying amount of the Village’s deposits for governmental and business-type 

activities totaled $10,449,129 and the bank balances totaled $10,621,013.  

 

Interest Rate Risk. Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 

value of an investment. The Village limits its exposure to interest rate risk by structuring the portfolio 

to provide liquidity for operating funds and maximizing yields for funds not needed within a one-year 

period. The investment policy limits the maximum maturity length of investments to three years from 

the date of purchase, except if matched to anticipated cash flow requirement (e.g., bond proceeds), in 

which case the maximum maturity is five years.  
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued  

 

DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued  

 

Village Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk, and Concentration Risk – Continued 

 

Concentration of Credit Risk. This is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the Village’s 

investment in a single issuer. In accordance with the Village’s investment policy, with the exception of 

U.S. Treasury and U.S. agency securities, as well as Illinois Funds, IMET and Illinois Trust not more 

than 50% of the Village’s total investment portfolio will be invested with a single financial institution. 

At April 30, 2016, the Village has no investment in any single issuer over 5% of total cash and 

investments. 

 

Credit Risk. Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its 

obligations. The Village limits its exposure to credit risk by diversifying its portfolio and by primarily 

investing in obligations guaranteed by the United States Government or securities issued by agencies of 

the United States Government that are explicitly or implicitly guaranteed by the United States 

Government. At April 30, 2016, the Village has no investments. 

 

Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits. In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank 

failure, the Village’s deposits may not be returned to it.  The Village’s investment policy requires 

pledging of collateral with a fair value of 105% of all bank balances in excess of federal depository 

insurance with the collateral held by an independent third party or by the Federal Reserve and in the 

Village’s name. April 30, 2016, the entire amount of the bank balance of the deposits was covered by 

federal depository or equivalent insurance.  

 

Custodial Credit Risk – Investments. For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of 

the counterparty, the Village will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral 

securities that are in the possession of an outside party. To limits its exposure, the Village’s investment 

policy requires all security transactions that are exposed to custodial credit risk to be processed on a 

delivery versus payment (DVP) basis with the underlying investments held by a third party acting as the 

Village’s agency separate from where the investment was purchased.  

 

Police Pension Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk, and Concentration Risk 
 

Deposits. At year-end the carrying amount of the Fund’s deposits totaled $67,581 and the bank balances 

totaled $67,581. 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 

 

DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 

 

Police Pension Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk, and Concentration Risk – Continued 

 

Investments. At year-end the Fund has the following investments and maturities: 
 

Less Than More Than

Investment Type 1 1-5 6-10 10

U.S. Treasury Obligations $ 103,318 21,274 82,044 -    -    

U.S Agency Obligations 1,645,229 334,599 532,783 615,886 161,961

Municipal Bonds 432,945 -    273,764 159,181 -    

Corporate Bonds 1,641,552 8,036 961,985 671,531 -    

     Totals 3,823,044 363,909 1,850,576 1,446,598 161,961

Fair Value

Investment Maturities - in Years

 
 

Interest Rate Risk. The Fund’s investment policy limits exposure to interest rate risk by structuring the 

portfolio to provide liquidity for operating funds and maximizing yields for funds not needed for 

expected current cash flows. The investment policy does not limit the maximum maturity length of 

investments in the Fund.  

 

Credit Risk. The Fund’s investment policy helps limit exposure to credit risk by primarily investing in 

U.S. Treasury obligations and other obligations which are rated in the top three classes by a national 

rating agency. The money market mutual funds are not rated. Illinois Funds are rated AAA. The U.S. 

agency obligations are rated AA+. The municipal bonds and corporate bonds range in rating from BB+ 

to AA+. 

 

Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits. The Fund’s investment policy requires all bank balances to be 

covered by federal depository insurance. At April 30, 2016, the entire amount of the bank balance of 

the deposits was covered by federal depository or equivalent insurance. 

 

Custodial Credit Risk – Investments. To limits its exposure, the Fund’s investment policy requires all 

security transactions that are exposed to custodial credit risk to be processed on a delivery versus 

payment (DVP) basis with the underlying investments held by a third party acting as the Fund’s agency 

separate from where the investment was purchased. At April 30, 2016, the Fund’s investments in the 

money market mutual funds and equity mutual funds are not subject to custodial credit risk. 

 

Concentration of Credit Risk. The Fund’s investment policy does not address concentration of credit 

risk. At April 30, 2016, the Fund had no investments that represent over 5% of net plan position 

available for retirement benefits (other than U.S. Government guaranteed obligations). The Fund also 

has $1,201,370 invested in annuities, $629,570 invested in common stock and $2,582,202 invested in 

mutual funds at year-end.  
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 

 

DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 

 

Police Pension Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk, and Concentration Risk – Continued 

 

Concentration of Credit Risk – Continued. The Fund’s investment policy in accordance with Illinois 

Compiled Statutes (ILCS) establishes the following target allocation across asset classes:  

 

Long-Term

Expected Real

Asset Class Target Rate of Return

U.S. Treasury Securities 10.00% 4.30%

U.S. Agency Securities 40.00% 4.50%

Domestic Equities 10.00% - 55.00% 7.50% - 12.30%

Corporate Bonds 25.00% 5.00% - 10.20%

International Equities 15.00% 3.10% - 10.70%

Real Estate 10.00% 6.80% - 11.90%

Cash and Cash Equivalents 0.00% 0.00%  
 

Illinois Compiled Statutes (ILCS) limit the Fund’s investments in equities, mutual funds and variable 

annuities to 65%. Securities in any one company should not exceed 5% of the total fund.  

 

The long-term expected rate of return on the Fund’s investments was determined using an asset 

allocation study conducted by the Fund’s investment management consultant in May 2016 in which 

best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (net of pension plan investment expense and 

inflation) were developed for each major asset class. These ranges were combined to produce the long-

term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset 

allocation percentage and by adding the expected inflation. Best estimates or arithmetic real rates of 

return for each major asset class included in the Fund’s target asset allocation as of April 30, 2016 are 

listed in the table above.  

 

Rate of Return 

 

For the year ended April 30, 2016, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments, 

net of pension plan investment expense, was 0.29%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses 

investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 

 

NOTES RECEIVABLE 

 

Economic Development 

 

During the fiscal year ended April 30, 1985, the village established the Economic Development Fund 

from the proceeds of a Community Development Block Grant, in the amount of $500,000, received 

through the Department of Commerce and Community Affairs of the State of Illinois. During the fiscal 

year ended April 30, 1991, the village received another community Development Block Grant in the 

amount of $300,000. This fund is used to account for these grant funds which are to be loaned to new or 

expanding local business ventures which enhance economic development of the Village. Proceeds 

(principal and interest) received from such economic development loans made by the Village are to be 

used to capitalize a revolving economic development loan fund. The following represents the 

outstanding balances as of April 30, 2016: 

 

 During the fiscal year 2006, the Village entered into an installment note with EDM Associates, 

Inc., in the amount of $120,000. During the fiscal year 2011, the remaining balance was 

assumed by Ridgeline Consultants LLC. The note is payable in monthly installments of $1,159 

through May, 2016, which includes 3.00% interest on the unpaid balance. The outstanding 

balance of this note as of April 30, 2016 was $0. 

 

 During the fiscal year 2014, the Village entered into an installment note with Butterball, Inc., in 

the amount of $1,500,000. The note is payable in monthly installments of $13,141 through 

November, 2023, which includes 1.00% interest on the unpaid balance. The outstanding balance 

of this note as of April 30, 2016 was $1,139,337. 

 

Principal and interest maturities of these notes receivable for future periods are as follows: 

 

Fiscal

Year

2017 $ 157,789    

2018 157,687    

2019 157,687    

2020 157,687    

2021 157,687    

2022 157,687    

2023 157,687    

2024 92,399      

Total Principal and Interest 1,196,310 

Less:  Interest (56,973)     

    Total Principal 1,139,337 

Amount
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 

 

PROPERTY TAXES 
 

Property taxes for 2015 attach as an enforceable lien on January 1, 2015, on property values assessed as 

of the same date. Taxes are levied by December of the subsequent fiscal year (by passage of a Tax Levy 

Ordinance). Tax bills are prepared by Kane and Kendall Counties and are payable in two installments, 

on or about June and September. Kane and Kendall Counties collect such taxes and remit them 

periodically. 
 

INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS 
 

Interfund Advances 
 

Interfund advances represents reclassification of negative cash balance. This amount will be paid over 

several years. Interfund advances as of the date of this report are as follows: 
 

Receivable Fund Payable Fund

General Capital Improvements $ 553,227

Amount

 
 

Interfund Balances 
 

The purpose of the interfund balances are to eliminate deficit cash balances. The composition of 

interfund balances as of the date of this report, is as follows: 
 

Receivable Fund Payable Fund

General Nonmajor Governmental $ 26,150

Water Refuse 210,851

237,001

Amount

 
 

Interfund Transfers 
 

Interfund transfers for the year consisted of the following: 
 

Transfer In Transfer Out

Debt Service Capital Improvement $ 1,084,165

Capital Improvement General 396,510

Nonmajor Governmental General 11,438

1,492,113

Amount

 
 

Transfers are used to move receipts restricted to debt service from the funds collecting the receipts to 

the debt service fund as debt service payments become due.  
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 

CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

Governmental Activities 
 

Governmental capital asset activity for the year was as follows: 
 

Ending 

Increases Decreases Balances

Nondepreciable Capital Assets

Land $ 9,876,696 -            -          9,876,696

Land Right of Way 8,056,400 -            -          8,056,400

Construction in Progress 18,000 63,260 18,000 63,260

17,951,096 63,260 18,000 17,996,356

Depreciable Capital Assets

Land Improvements 138,448  -       -          138,448

Buildings 22,310,653 -       -          22,310,653

Equipment 403,233 50,667 -          453,900

Vehicles 2,494,953 430,401 269,454   2,655,900

Infrastructure 32,839,799 612,673 -          33,452,472

58,187,086 1,093,741 269,454   59,011,373

Less Accumulated Depreciation

Land Improvements 125,963 4,163 -          130,126

Buildings 8,169,185 1,115,533 -          9,284,718

Equipment 252,728 27,315 -          280,043

Vehicles 1,752,083 139,855 269,454   1,622,484

Infrastructure 7,969,021 1,338,098 -          9,307,119

18,268,980 2,624,964 269,454   20,624,490

Total Depreciable Capital Assets 39,918,106 (1,531,223) -          38,386,883

Total Capital Assets 57,869,202 (1,467,963) 18,000 56,383,239

Balances

as Restated

Beginning

 
 

Depreciation expense was charged to governmental activities as follows: 
 

General Government $ 659,710

Public Safety 590,909

Highways and Streets 1,374,345

 

 2,624,964
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 

 

CAPITAL ASSETS – Continued 

 

Business-Type Activities 

 

Business-type capital asset activity for the year was as follows: 

 

Ending

Increases Decreases Balances

Nondepreciable Capital Assets

Land $ 16,533 -            -            16,533

Construction in Progress 231,000 31,707 -            262,707

247,533 31,707 -            279,240

Depreciable Capital Assets

Equipment 84,062 -            -            84,062

Infrastructure 48,366,596 918,947     -            49,285,543

48,450,658 918,947 -            49,369,605

Less Accumulated Depreciation

Equipment 82,645 1,417         -            84,062

Infrastructure 14,935,290 1,855,885  -            16,791,175

15,017,935 1,857,302 -            16,875,237

Total Depreciable Capital Assets 33,432,723 (938,355) -            32,494,368

Total Capital Assets 33,680,256 (906,648) -            32,773,608

as Restated

Balances

Beginning

 
 

Depreciation expense was charged to business-type activities as follows: 

 
Water $ 1,857,302
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 

 

LONG-TERM DEBT 

 

General Obligation Bonds 

 

The Village issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of 

major capital facilities. General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and 

credit of the Village. General obligation bonds currently outstanding are as follows: 

 

Fund Debt Ending

Issue Retired by Issuances Retirements Balances

 

Water $ 1,370,000   -              320,000         1,050,000   

 

Debt

Service 2,000,000   -              -                2,000,000   

Debt

Service 1,630,000   -              475,000         1,155,000   

Debt

Service 3,525,000   -              250,000         3,275,000   

Beginning

Balances

$2,000,000 General Obligation

Alternate Revenue Source

Bonds of 2008A, due in annual

installments of $1,000,000

plus interest at 5.00% through

December 1, 2019.

$3,020,000 General Obligation

Alternate Revenue Source

Refunding Bonds of 2007, due

in annual installments of

$5,000 to $365,000 plus

interest at 3.95% through

December 1, 2018.

$7,375,000 General Obligation

Alternate Revenue Source

Refunding Bonds of 2010, due

in annual installments of

$340,000 to $605,000 plus

interest at 2.00% to 4.00%

through December 1, 2017.

$4,410,000 General Obligation

Alternate Revenue Source

Refunding Bonds of 2011, due

in annual installments of

$205,000 to $450,000 plus

interest at 2.00% to 3.125%

through December 1, 2024.
 



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

April 30, 2016  

 

 

39 

 

NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 

 

LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued  

 

General Obligation Bonds – Continued 

 
Fund Debt Ending

Issue Retired by Issuances Retirements Balances

Water $ 4,470,000   -              125,000         4,345,000   

Debt

Service 3,335,000   -              -                3,335,000   

 16,330,000 -              1,170,000      15,160,000 

$4,590,000 General Obligation

Alternate Revenue Source

Bonds of 2013, due in annual

installments of $120,000 to

$280,000 plus interest at

3.00% to 4.00% through

December 1, 2038.

Beginning

Balances

$3,335,000 Taxable General

Obligation Alternate Revenue

Refunding Source Bonds of

2014, due in annual

installments of $630,000 to

$710,000 plus interest at

3.00% to 3.50% through

December 1, 2024.

 

 

Capital Leases 

 

The Village entered into a lease agreement as lessee for financing the acquisition of equipment. Capital 

assets of $309,008 have been added to equipment as governmental activities. This lease agreement 

qualified as a capital lease for accounting purposes and; therefore, was recorded at the present value of 

the future minimum lease payments as of the inception date. As of April 30, 2016 this capital lease has 

been paid in full and there are no future minimum lease payments due. 

 

Defeased Debt 

 

In prior years, the Village defeased general obligation and revenue bonds by placing the proceeds of 

new bonds in an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payment on the old bonds. Since 

the requirements which normally satisfy defeasance, have been met, the financial statements reflect 

satisfaction of the original liability through the irrevocable transfer to an escrow agent of an amount 

computed to be adequate to meet the future debt service requirements of the issue. Accordingly, the 

trust account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the Village’s basic 

financial statements. Defeased bonds of $1,600,000 remain outstanding as of the date of this report.  
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 

 

LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued 

 

IEPA Loans Payable 

 

The Village has entered into an agreement with the IEPA to provide low interest financing for 

improvements to the sewer treatment plant, water treatment plant and the distribution system. IEPA 

revenue bonds currently outstanding are as follows: 

 

Fund Debt Ending

Retired by Issuances Retirements Balances

 

Sewer $ 535,427      -              60,871           474,556      

 

Sewer 3,831,532   -              203,620         3,627,912   

Sewer 2,392,633   90,299        50,962           2,431,970   

6,759,592   90,299        315,453         6,534,438   

Balances

Beginning

IEPA Loan Payable of 2011,

due in semi-annual

installments of $91,940 to

$124,661 plus interest of

1.25% through April 19, 2032.

IEPA Loan Payable of 2014,

due in semi-annual

installments of $50,962 to

$76,463 plus interest of

1.995% through December 7,

2034.

Issue

IEPA Loan Payable of 2002,

due in semi-annual

installments of $21,357 to

$36,902 plus interest of

2.675% through December 1,

2022.
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 

 

LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued 

 

Long-Term Liability Activity 

 

Changes in long-term liabilities during the fiscal year were as follows: 

 

Amounts

Ending Due within

Additions Deductions Balances One Year

Governmental Activities

Compensated Absences $ 515,107 86,865 140,189 461,783 46,178

Net Pension Liability

IMRF 1,381,242 329,605 -     1,710,847 -     

Police Pension 3,995,994 2,212,884 -     6,208,878 -     

Net Other Post-Employment

Benefit Payable 53,835 28,910 -     82,745 -     

General Obligation Bonds Payable 10,490,000 -     725,000 9,765,000 755,000

Unamortized Bond Premium 165,742 -     39,660 126,082 -     

Capital Lease Payable 103,071 -     103,071 -     -     

16,704,991 2,658,264 1,007,920 18,355,335 801,178

Business-Type Activities

Compensated Absences 66,629 25,849 29,615 62,863 6,286

Net Pension Liability

IMRF 181,384 43,293 -     224,677 -     

General Obligation Bonds Payable 5,840,000 -     445,000 5,395,000 460,000

Unamortized Bond Premium 155,585 -     10,438 145,147 -     

IEPA Loans Payable 6,759,592 90,299 315,453 6,534,438 374,581

13,003,190 159,441 800,506 12,362,125 840,867

Beginning

Type of Debt

Balances

as Restated

 
 

For governmental activities, the General Fund makes payments on the compensated absences, the net 

pension liability, and the net other post-employment benefit obligation. The Debt Service Fund makes 

payments on the general obligation bonds payable. The Vehicle Reserve Fund makes payments on the 

Capital Lease Payable. 

 

For the business-type activities the compensated absences, the net pension liability, the general 

obligation bonds payable, and the IEPA loans payable are being liquidated by the Water Fund. 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 

 

LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued 

 

Debt Service Requirements to Maturity 

 

The annual debt service requirements to maturity, including principal and interest, are as follows: 

 

 

Fiscal

Year Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2017 $ 755,000 333,365 460,000 204,026 374,581 102,257

2018 810,000 311,390 480,000 187,042 381,537 95,976

2019 1,375,000 283,090 500,000 169,318 388,060 89,576

2020 1,385,000 224,652 140,000 150,850 394,708 83,056

2021 1,025,000 165,508 145,000 146,650 401,480 76,412

2022 1,050,000 136,734 145,000 142,300 408,380 69,644

2023 1,085,000 106,753 150,000 137,950 415,410 62,748

2024 1,120,000 75,253 155,000 133,450 347,284 56,219

2025 1,160,000 38,913 160,000 128,800 352,559 51,085

2026 -     -     165,000 122,400 357,916 45,870

2027 -     -     175,000 115,800 363,360 40,571

2028 -     -     180,000 108,800 368,891 35,188

2029 -     -     190,000 101,600 374,511 29,719

2030 -     -     195,000 94,000 380,221 24,163

2031 -     -     205,000 86,200 386,024 18,517

2032 -     -     210,000 78,000 391,920 12,781

2033 -     -     220,000 69,600 146,248 7,737

2034 -     -     230,000 60,800 149,180 4,972

2035 -     -     240,000 51,600 152,168 2,151

2036 -     -     245,000 42,000 -     -     

2037 -     -     255,000 32,200 -     -     

2038 -     -     270,000 22,000 -     -     

2039 -     -     280,000 11,200 -     -     

Totals 9,765,000 1,675,658 5,395,000 2,396,586 6,534,438 908,642

Principal

General Obligation General Obligation

Governmental Activities

IEPA

Loans Payable

Business-Type Activities

Bonds PayableBonds Payable
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 

LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued 
 

Legal Debt Margin 
 

Chapter 65, Section 5/8-5-1 of the Illinois Compiled Statutes provides, “…no municipality having a 

population of less than 500,000 shall become indebted in any manner or for any purpose, to an amount, 

including existing indebtedness in the aggregate exceeding 8.625% on the value of the taxable property 

therein, to be ascertained by the last assessment for state and county purposes, previous to the incurring 

of the indebtedness or, until January 1, 1983, if greater, the sum that is produced by multiplying the 

municipality’s 1978 equalized assessed valuation by the debt limitation percentage in effect on January 

1, 1979.” 
 

Assessed Valuation - 2015 $ 368,483,500

Legal Debt Limit - 8.625% of Assessed Value 31,781,702

Amount of Debt Applicable to Limit

General Obligation ARS Refunding Bonds of 2007 $ 1,050,000

General Obligation ARS Bonds of 2008A 2,000,000

General Obligation ARS Refunding Bonds of 2010 1,155,000

General Obligation ARS Refunding Bonds of 2011 3,275,000

General Obligation ARS Bonds of 2013 4,345,000

Taxable General Obligation ARS Refunding Bonds of 2014 3,335,000

15,160,000

Less:  Alternate Revenue Source Bonds (15,160,000)

    Total Applicable Debt -     

    Legal Debt Margin 31,781,702
 

 

Special Service Area Bonds 
 

During fiscal year ended April 30, 2006, the Village issued $275,000 Special Service Area No. 17 

Bonds. The bonds are payable solely from the special service area taxes levied upon the properties 

located in the special service areas and do not constitute an indebtedness of the Village. The Village is 

acting solely as paying agent in collecting the taxes and remitting them to the bond holders. 

Accordingly, these bonds are not reported as a liability in the Village’s financial statements. As of April 

30, 2016, $34,456 of the Special Service Area No. 17 bonds are outstanding. 
 

Special Assessment Bonds 
 

During fiscal year ended April 30, 2007, the Village refunded $11,923,000 of special assessment bonds, 

which were paid from escrow during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2012. The refunding special 

assessment bonds, dated December 1, 2006, were outstanding as of April 30, 2016 and totaled 

$10,464,000. These bonds are not an obligation of the Village and are secured by the levy of special 

assessments on the real property within the special assessment area. The Village is in no way liable for 

repayment, but is acting solely as agent for the property owners in levying and collecting the 

assessments and forwarding the collections to bondholders. 
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 NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 

 

LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued 

 

Pledged Revenues 

 

The Village has issued Alternate Revenue Source Bonds for which they have pledged future revenue 

streams. The General Obligation Alternate Revenue Source Bonds of 2007, issued for various water 

system improvements, are payable by a pledge of the Village’s water operations revenue. The bonds 

have a remaining total pledge of $1,134,136, with the bonds maturing December 1, 2018. During the 

current fiscal year, the pledge of water revenues for the bonds of $374,115 was approximately 8.19% of 

total water revenues. 

 

The General Obligation Alternate Revenue Source Bonds of 2008A, issued for the construction of the 

Village Hall, are payable from a pledge of sales tax, telecommunication and use tax, with a remaining 

total pledge of $2,350,000 with the bonds maturing December 1, 2019. During the current fiscal year, 

the pledge of sales tax, use tax and telecommunication tax of $100,000 was approximately 2.12% of 

total sales, telecommunication and use tax. 

 

The General Obligation Alternate Revenue Source Refunding Bonds of 2010, issued to refund the 

General Obligation Alternate Revenue Source Bonds of 2002A, are payable from a pledge of sales tax, 

telecommunication and use tax, with a remaining total pledge of $1,221,275 with the bonds maturing 

December 1, 2017. During the current fiscal year, the pledge of sales tax, use tax and 

telecommunication tax of $536,075 was approximately 11.39% of total sales, telecommunication and 

use tax. 

 

The General Obligation Alternate Revenue Source Refunding Bonds of 2011, issued to refund the 

General Obligation Alternate Revenue Source Bonds of 2005, are payable from a pledge of sales tax, 

telecommunication and use tax, with a remaining total pledge of $3,774,163 with the bonds maturing 

December 1, 2024. During the current fiscal year, the pledge of sales tax, use tax and 

telecommunication tax of $395,950 was approximately 7.22% of total sales, telecommunication and use 

tax. 

 

The General Obligation Alternate Revenue Source Bonds of 2013, issued for various water system 

improvements, are payable from a pledge of the Village’s water operations revenue, with a remaining 

total pledge of $6,657,450, with the bonds maturing December 1, 2038. During the current fiscal year, 

the pledge of water revenues of $291,300 was approximately 6.38% of total water operating revenues. 

 

The Taxable General Obligation Alternate Revenue Refunding Bonds of 2014, issued to refund a 

portion of the General Obligation Alternate Revenue Source Bonds of 2010, are payable from a pledge 

of sales tax, telecommunication and use tax, with a remaining total pledge of $4,095,220 with the bonds 

maturing December 1, 2024. During the current fiscal year, the pledge of sales tax, use tax and 

telecommunication tax of $106,340 was approximately 2.25% of total sales, telecommunication and use 

tax. 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 

LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued  

 

NET POSITION CLASSIFICATIONS 

 
Net investment in capital assets was comprised of the following as of April 30, 2016: 
 

Governmental Activities

Capital Assets - Net of Accumulated Depreciation $ 56,383,239

Plus:  Unamortized Loss on Refunding 169,612

Less Capital Related Debt:

General Obligation ARS Refunding Bonds of 2008A (2,000,000)

General Obligation ARS Refunding Bonds of 2010 (1,155,000)

General Obligation ARS Refunding Bonds of 2011 (3,275,000)

General Obligation ARS Refunding Bonds of 2014 (3,335,000)

Unamortized Bond Premium (126,082)

Net Investment in Capital Assets 46,661,769

Business-Type Activities

Capital Assets - Net of Accumulated Depreciation 32,773,608

Plus:  Unspent Bond Proceeds 180,269

Less Capital Related Debt:

General Obligation ARS Refunding Bonds of 2007 (1,050,000)

General Obligation ARS Refunding Bonds of 2013 (4,345,000)

IEPA Loan Payable of 2002 (474,556)

IEPA Loan Payable of 2011 (3,627,912)

IEPA Loan Payable of 2014 (2,431,970)

Unamortized Bond Premium (145,147)

Net Investment in Capital Assets 20,879,292
 

 

NET POSITION RESTATEMENT 

 

Net position was restated due to the implementation of GASB Statement No. 68, a new capital asset 

policy and recognition of payables related to an economic incentive agreement. The following is a 

summary of the net position as originally reported and as restated: 
 

Net Position As Restated (Decrease)

Governmental Activities $ 55,392,849 49,214,941 (6,177,908)

Water - Business-Type Activities 28,246,948 24,682,808 (3,564,140)

General Fund 3,659,756 3,504,209 (155,547)

As Reported
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 

 

FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATIONS 

 

The following is a schedule of fund balance classifications for the governmental funds as of the date of 

this report: 

 

Debt Capital Infrastructure

Service Improvements Improvement Nonmajor Totals

Fund Balances

Nonspendable

Advances $ 553,227 -            -                  -                -              553,227      

Prepaids 64,515 -            -                  -                -              64,515        

617,742 -     -     -     -     617,742

Restricted

Economic Development -     -     -     -     1,798,797 1,798,797   

Police -     -     -     -     244,992 244,992      

Highways and Streets -     -     -     -     274,708 274,708      

Subdivision Maintenance -              -            -                  -                787,057      787,057      

Subdivision Improvements -     -     -     -     8,075 8,075          

Debt Service -     56,089 -     -     -     56,089        

-     56,089 -     -     3,113,629 3,169,718

Assigned

Capital -     -            512,969          972,967        735,263      2,221,199   

Unassigned 3,394,156 -            -                  -                (30,090)       3,364,066   

Total Fund Balances 4,011,898 56,089 512,969 972,967 3,818,802 9,372,725

General

Capital Projects

 
 

In the governmental funds financial statements, the Village considers restricted amounts to have been 

spent when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund 

balance is available. The Village first utilizes committed, then assigned and then unassigned fund 

balance when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which all three unrestricted fund balances are 

available. 

 

Assigned Fund Balance. The Village reports assigned fund balance in the Capital Improvements Fund 

and in the Infrastructure Improvement Fund, both major funds, and in the Vehicle Reserve Fund, a 

nonmajor fund. The Village’s Board, through the fund balance policy, has given authority to 

management (Village Administrator) to assign funds as listed above based on approved management 

and Board expenditures as determined through the annual budget process. 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 

FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATIONS – Continued 
 

Minimum Fund Balance Policy.  The Village will strive to maintain a minimum unrestricted fund 

balance in the General Fund to fund operations for a period of at least three months (Cash Flow 

Commitment). The Cash Flow Commitment in the General Fund is adjusted with the adoption of the 

annual budget and is calculated as three months (25%) of current year expenditures. 
 

NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION  
 

RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The Village is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 

assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; illnesses to employees; and natural disasters. To 

insure against the losses, the Village participates in the Municipal Insurance Cooperative Agency 

(MICA), a public entity risk pool with transfers of risk. The Village pays an annual premium to MICA 

for its coverage. The Village is not aware of any additional premiums owed to MICA as of April 30, 

2016, for the current or prior claim years. In addition, the Village provides health insurance to its 

employees through a third party indemnity policy. The Village pays an annual premium to the 

insurance company for its coverage. Settled claims have not exceeded the coverage in the current or 

preceding two fiscal years. 
 

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

Economic Incentive 
 

The Village has entered into economic development agreements with four companies in Montgomery to 

provide sales tax rebates. The agreements require the Village to rebate to the companies’ different 

levels of additional sales tax generated by the facilities. The total expenditures paid during the year 

ended April 30, 2016 was $902,208, and the total cumulative expenditures incurred to date in rebates of 

current development agreements was $5,571,487. 
 

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 

Litigation 
 

The Village is a defendant in various lawsuits. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is not presently 

determinable, in the opinion of the Village’s attorneys, the resolution of these matters will not have a 

material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Village. 
 

Grants 
 

Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor 

agencies, principally the federal government. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already 

collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures which 

may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time although the Village expects such 

amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 

 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS 

 

The Village contributes to two defined benefit pension plans, the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund 

(IMRF), a defined benefit agent multiple-employer public employee retirement system and the Police 

Pension Plan which is a single-employer pension plan. A separate report is not issued for the Police 

Pension Plan. IMRF issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and 

required supplementary information for the plan as a whole, but not by individual employer. That report 

may be obtained online at www.imrf.org.  The benefits, benefit levels, employee contributions, and 

employer contributions are governed by Illinois Compiled Statutes (ILCS) and can only be amended by 

the Illinois General Assembly. 

 

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) 

 

Plan Descriptions 

 

Plan Administration. All employees (other than those covered by the Police Pension Plan) hired in 

positions that meet or exceed the prescribed annual hourly standard must be enrolled in IMRF as 

participating members. The plan is accounted for on the economic resources measurement focus and the 

accrual basis of accounting. Employer and employee contributions are recognized when earned in the 

year that the contributions are required, benefits and refunds are recognized as an expense and liability 

when due and payable.   

 

Benefits Provided. IMRF has three benefit plans. The vast majority of IMRF members participate in the 

Regular Plan (RP). The Sheriff’s Law Enforcement Personnel (SLEP) plan is for sheriffs, deputy sheriffs, 

and selected police chiefs. Counties could adopt the Elected County Official (ECO) plan for officials 

elected prior to August 8, 2011 (the ECO plan was closed to new participants after that date.). 

 

IMRF provides two tiers of pension benefits. Employees hired before January 1, 2011, are eligible for 

Tier 1 benefits. Tier 1 employees are vested for pension benefits when they have at least eight years of 

qualifying service credit. Tier 1 employees who retire at age 55 (at reduced benefits) or after age 60 

(at full benefits) with eight years of service are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable 

monthly for life, in an amount equal to 1-2/3% of the final rate of earnings for the first 15 years of 

service credit, plus 2% for each year of service credit after 15 years to a maximum of 75% of their 

final rate of earnings. Final rate of earnings is the highest total earnings during any consecutive 48 

months within the last 10 years of service, divided by 48. Under Tier 1, the pension is increased by 3% 

of the original amount on January 1 every year after retirement. 

  

http://www.imrf.org/
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  

 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  

 

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) – Continued  

 

Plan Descriptions – Continued  

 

Benefits Provided – Continued. Employees hired on or after January 1, 2011, are eligible for Tier 2 

benefits. For Tier 2 employees, pension benefits vest after ten years of service. Participating 

employees who retire at age 62 (at reduced benefits) or after age 67 (at full benefits) with ten years 

of service are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life, in an amount 

equal to 1-2/3% of the final rate of earnings for the first 15 years of service credit, plus 2% for each 

year of service credit after 15 years to a maximum of 75% of their final rate of earnings. Final rate of 

earnings is the highest total earnings during any 96 consecutive months within the last 10 years of 

service, divided by 96. Under Tier 2, the pension is increased on January 1 every year after retirement, 

upon reaching age 67, by the lesser of: 

 

 3% of the original pension amount, or  

 

 1/2 of the increase in the Consumer Price Index of the original pension amount.  

 

Plan Membership. As of December 31, 2015, the measurement date, the date of the most recent actuarial 

report, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 

 

Inactive Plan Members Currently Receiving Benefits 33

Inactive Plan Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits 48

Active Plan Members 33

Total 114
 

 

Contributions. As set by statute, the Village’s Regular Plan Members are required to contribute 4.5% 

of their annual covered salary. The statute requires employers to contribute the amount necessary, in 

addition to member contributions, to finance the retirement coverage of its own employees. The 

Village’s annual contribution rate for calendar year 2015 was 13.30% of covered payroll.  
 

Net Pension Liability. The Village’s net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2015. The 

total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial 

valuation as of that date. 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  

 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  

 

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) – Continued  

 

Plan Descriptions – Continued  

 

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed, 

as of December 31, 2015, using the following actuarial methods and assumptions: 

 

Actuarial Valuation Date 12/31/2015

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age

Normal

Asset Valuation Method Market

Actuarial Assumptions

Interest Rate 7.50%

Salary Increases 4.40% to 16.00%

Cost of Living Adjustments 3.00%

Inflation 3.00%  
 

For nondisabled retirees, an IMRF specific mortality table was used with fully generational projection 

scale MP-2014 (base year 2014). IMRF specific rates were developed from the RP-2014 Blue Collar 

Health Annuitant Mortality Table with adjustments to match current IMRF experience. For disabled 

retirees, an IMRF specific mortality tables was used with fully generational projection scale MP-2014 

(base year 2014). IMRF specific rates were developed from the RP-2014 Disabled Retirees Mortality 

Table applying the same adjustment that were applied for nondisabled lives. For active members, an 

IMRF specific mortality table was used with fully generational projection scale MP-2014 (base year 

2014). IMRF specific rates were developed from the RP-2014 Employee Mortality Table with 

adjustments to match current IMRF experience.   
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  

 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  

 

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) – Continued  

 

Discount Rate 

 

A Single Discount Rate of 7.48% was used to measure the total pension liability. The projection of 

cash flow used to determine this Single Discount Rate assumed that the plan members’ contributions 

will be made at the current contribution rate, and that employer contributions will be made at rates 

equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. The 

Single Discount Rate reflects: 

 

1. The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments (during the period in 

which the fiduciary net position is projected to be sufficient to pay benefits), and  

 

2. The tax-exempt municipal bond rate based on an index of 20-year general obligation bonds 

with an average AA credit rating (which is published by the Federal Reserve) as of the 

measurement date (to the extent that the contributions for use with the long-term expected 

rate of return are not met).  

 

For the purpose of the most recent valuation, the expected rate of return on plan investments is 

7.50%, the municipal bond rate is 3.57%, and the resulting single discount rate is 7.48%. 

 

Discount Rate Sensitivity 

 

The following presents the plan’s net pension liability, calculated using a Single Discount Rate of 

7.48%, as well as what the plan’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a Single 

Discount Rate that is 1% lower or 1% higher: 

 

Current 

 Discount Rate 1% Increase

(7.48%) (8.48%)

Net Pension Liability $ 3,724,223 1,935,524 480,548

1% Decrease

(6.48%)
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  

 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  

 

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) – Continued  

 

Changes in the Net Pension Liability 

 

Total

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension

Liability Net Position Liability

  (A)    (B)    (A) - (B)  

Balances at December 31, 2014 $ 12,012,911 10,450,285 1,562,626

Changes for the Year:

Service Cost 231,852 -     231,852

Interest on the Total Pension Liability 891,008 -     891,008

Difference Between Expected and Actual

    Experience of the Total Pension Liability (308,800) -     (308,800)

Changes of Assumptions -     -     -     

Contributions - Employer -     298,271 (298,271)

Contributions - Employees -     100,919 (100,919)

Net Investment Income -     52,165 (52,165)

Benefit Payments, including Refunds

    of Employee Contributions (433,918) (433,918) -     

Other (Net Transfer) -     (10,193) 10,193

Net Changes 380,142 7,244 372,898

Balances at December 31, 2015 12,393,053 10,457,529 1,935,524
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  
 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) – Continued  
 

Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 

Pensions  
 

For the year ended April 30, 2016, the Village recognized pension expense of $213,808. At April 30, 

2016, the Village reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 

to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred

Inflows of

Resources Totals 

Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience $ -     (215,434) (215,434)

Change in Assumptions -     -     -     

Net Difference Between Projected and Actual

    Earnings on Pension Plan Investments 583,938 -     583,938

Pension Contributions Made Subsequent

    to the Measurement Date 88,857 -     88,857

Total Deferred Amounts Related to IMRF 672,795 (215,434) 457,361

Deferred

Resources

Outflows of

 
 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 

pensions will be recognized in pension expense in future periods as follows: 
 

Fiscal

Year

2017 $ 141,475

2018 52,618

2019 117,282

2020 145,986

2021 -     

Thereafter -     

Total 457,361

Net Deferred

of Resources  

Outflows
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  

 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  

 

Police Pension Plan  

 

Plan Descriptions  
 

Plan Administration. The Police Pension Plan is a single-employer defined benefit pension plan that 

covers all sworn police personnel. The defined benefits and employee and minimum employer 

contribution levels are governed by Illinois Compiled Statutes (40 ILCS 5/3-1) and may be amended 

only by the Illinois legislature. The Village accounts for the Fund as a pension trust fund. The Fund is 

governed by a five-member pension board. Two members of the Board are appointed by the Village 

President, one member is elected by pension beneficiaries and two members are elected by active police 

employees.  

 

Plan Membership. At April 30, 2016, the measurement date, membership consisted of the following: 

 

Inactive Plan Members Currently Receiving Benefits 9     

Inactive Plan Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits - 

Active Plan Members 25   

Total 34   
 

 

Benefits Provided. The following is a summary of the Police Pension Plan as provided for in Illinois 

State Statutes. 

 

The Police Pension Plan provides retirement benefits through two tiers of benefits as well as death and 

disability benefits. Covered employees hired before January 1, 2011 (Tier 1), attaining the age of 50 or 

older with 20 or more years of creditable service are entitled to receive an annual retirement benefit of 

½ of the salary attached to the rank held on the last day of service, or for one year prior to the last day, 

whichever is greater. The annual benefit shall be increased by 2.5 percent of such salary for each 

additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 years, to a maximum of 75 percent of such salary. 

Employees with at least eight years but less than 20 years of credited service may retire at or after age 

60 and receive a reduced benefit. The monthly benefit of a police officer who retired with 20 or more 

years of service after January 1, 1977 shall be increased annually, following the first anniversary date of 

retirement and be paid upon reaching the age of at least 55 years, by 3 percent of the original pension 

and 3 percent compounded annually thereafter 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 

 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  

 

Police Pension Plan – Continued  

 

Plan Descriptions – Continued 

 

Benefits Provided – Continued. Covered employees hired on or after January 1, 2011 (Tier 2), attaining 

the age of 55 or older with 10 or more years of creditable service are entitled to receive an annual 

retirement benefit equal to the average monthly salary obtained by dividing the total salary of the police 

officer during the 96 consecutive months of service within the last 120 months of service in which the 

total salary was the highest by the number of months of service in that period. Police officer salary for 

the pension purposes is capped at $106,800, plus the lesser of ½ of the annual change in the Consumer 

Price Index or 3 percent compounded. The annual benefit shall be increased by 2.5 percent of such a 

salary for each additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 years to a maximum of 75 percent of 

such salary. Employees with at least 10 years may retire at or after age 50 and receive a reduced benefit 

(i.e., ½ percent for each month under 55). The monthly benefit of a Tier 2 police officer shall be 

increased annually at age 60 on the January 1
st
 after the police office retires, or the first anniversary of 

the pension starting date, whichever is later. Noncompounding increases occur annually, each January 

thereafter. The increase is the lesser of 3 percent of ½ of the change in the Consumer Price Index for the 

proceeding calendar year.   

 

Contributions. Covered employees are required to contribute 9.91% of their base salary to the Police 

Pension Plan. If an employee leaves covered employment with less than 20 years of service, accumulated 

employee contributions may be refunded without accumulated interest. The Village is required to 

contribute the remaining amounts necessary to finance the plan and the administrative costs as actuarially 

determined by an enrolled actuary. However, effective January 1, 2011, ILCS requires the Village to 

contribute a minimum amount annually calculated using the projected unit credit actuarial cost method 

that will result in the funding of 90% of the past service cost by the year 2040. For the year-ended April 

30, 2016, the Village’s contribution was 20.49% of covered payroll. 

 

Significant Investments. At year end, the Pension Plan has no investments (other than U.S. Government 

and U.S. Government-guaranteed obligations) in any one organization that represent 5 percent or more of 

net position available for benefits as follows. 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 

 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  

 

Police Pension Plan – Continued  

 

Actuarial Assumptions 

 

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed, as of April 30, 2016, 

using the following actuarial methods and assumptions: 

 

Actuarial Valuation Date 4/30/2016

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age

Normal

Asset Valuation Method Market

Actuarial Assumptions

Interest Rate 7.00%

Salary Increases 3.75% - 7.00%

Cost of Living Adjustments 3.25%

Inflation 2.50%  
 

Mortality rates were based on the assumption study prepared by the independent actuary in 2016. The 

table combines observed experience of Illinois Police Officers with the RP-2014 mortality table for blue 

collar workers. Mortality improvements have been made to 5 years past the valuation date.  

 

Discount Rate 

 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection of cash flows 

used to determine the discount rate assumed that member contributions will be made at the current 

contribution rate and that Village contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between the 

actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the Fund’s 

fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all project future benefit payments of 

current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments 

was applied to all period of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.  
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 

Police Pension Plan – Continued  
 

Discount Rate Sensitivity 
 

The following is a sensitivity analysis of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The 

table below presents the pension liability of the Village calculated using the discount rate as well as 

what the Village’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one 

percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate:  
 

Current 

 Discount Rate 1% Increase

(7.00%) (8.00%)

Net Pension Liability $ 8,661,447 6,208,878 4,246,888

(6.00%)

1% Decrease

 
 

Changes in the Net Pension Liability 
 

Total

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension

Liability Net Position Liability

  (A)    (B)    (A) - (B)  

Balances at April 30, 2015 $ 12,202,590 8,206,596 3,995,994

Changes for the Year:

Service Cost 400,101 -     400,101

Interest on the Total Pension Liability 837,341 -     837,341

Difference Between Expected and Actual

    Experience of the Total Pension Liability (589,343) -     (589,343)

Changes of Assumptions 2,189,746 -     2,189,746

Contributions - Employer -     452,282 (452,282)

Contributions - Employees -     216,533 (216,533)

Net Investment Income -     (25,628) 25,628

Benefit Payments, including Refunds

    of Employee Contributions (481,164) (481,164) -     

Administrative Expense -     (18,226) 18,226

Net Changes 2,356,681 143,797 2,212,884

Balances at April 30, 2016 14,559,271 8,350,393 6,208,878
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 

 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  

 

Police Pension Plan – Continued  

 

Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 

Pensions  

 

For the year ended April 30, 2016, the Village recognized pension expense of $728,683. At April 30, 

2016, the Village reported deferred outflows or resources and deferred inflows of resources related 

to pensions from the following sources: 

 

Deferred

Inflows of

Resources Totals

Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience $ -     (534,571) (534,571)

Change in Assumptions 1,986,238 -     1,986,238

Net Difference Between Projected and Actual

    Earnings on Pension Plan Investments 484,816 -     484,816

Total Deferred Amounts Related to Police Pension 2,471,054 (534,571) 1,936,483

Resources

Outflows of

Deferred

 
 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 

pensions will be recognized in pension expense in future periods as follows: 

 

Fiscal

Year

2017 $ 269,940

2018 269,940

2019 269,940

2020 269,940

2021 148,736

Thereafter 707,987

Total 1,936,483

of Resources  

Outflows

Net Deferred
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 

 

OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

 

Plan Descriptions, Provisions, and Funding Policies 
 

In addition to providing the pension benefits described, the Village provides post-employment health 

care insurance benefits (OPEB) for its eligible retired employees through a single employer defined 

benefit plan. The benefits, benefit levels, employee contributions and employer contributions are 

governed by the Village and can be amended by the Village through its personnel manual and union 

contracts. The plan is not accounted for as a trust fund, as an irrevocable trust has not been established 

to account for the plan. The plan does not issue a separate report. The activity of the plan is reported in 

the Village’s General Fund. 

 

The Village provides post-employment health care benefits to its retirees. To be eligible for benefits, an 

employee must qualify for retirement under one of the Village’s retirement plans. Elected officials are 

eligible for benefits if they qualify for retirement through the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund.  

 

All health care benefits are provided through the Village’s health insurance plan. The benefit levels are 

the same as those afforded to active employees. Benefits include general inpatient and outpatient 

medical services; mental, nervous, and substance abuse care; vision care; dental care; and prescriptions. 

Upon a retiree reaching 65 years of age, Medicare becomes the primary insurer and the Village’s plan 

becomes secondary. 

 

All retirees contribute 100% of the actuarially determined premium to the plan. For the fiscal year 

ending April 30, 2016, retirees contributed $78,150. Active employees do not contribute to the plan 

until retirement. 

 

At April 30, 2016 membership consisted of: 

 

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving

benefits and terminated employees entitled

to benefits but not yet receiving them. 54

Active Employees 6

Total 60

Participating Employers 1  
 

The Village does not currently have a funding policy. 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  

 

OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – Continued 

 

Annual OPEB Costs and Net OPEB Obligation 

 

The net OPEB obligation (NOPEBO) as of April 30, 2016, was calculated as follows: 

 

Annual Required Contribution $ 176,833 

Interest on the NOPEBO 2,153     

Adjustment to the ARC (1,993)    

Annual OPEB Cost 176,993 

Actual Contribution 148,083 

Change in NOPEBO 28,910   

NOPEBO - Beginning 53,835   

NOPEBO - Ending 82,745
 

 

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 

assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include 

assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost contributions of the employer 

are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new 

estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding progress, presented as required 

supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend 

information that shows whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time 

relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits. 

 

Trend Information 

 

The Village’s annual OPEB cost, actual contributions, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed 

and the net OPEB obligation are as follows: 

 

Fiscal

Year

2014 $ 56,726 $ 43,396 76.50% $ 40,482

2015 56,749 43,396 76.47% 53,835

2016 176,993 148,083 83.67% 82,745

Cost Contributions Cost Contributed Obligation

Annual Percentage Net

OPEB Actual of OPEB OPEB
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  

 

OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – Continued  

 

Funded Status and Funding Progress  
 

The funded status of the plan as of April 30, 2016 was as follows: 

 

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) $ 2,759,939 

Actuarial Value of Plan Assets $ -            

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) $ 2,759,939 

Funded Ratio (Actuarial Value of Plan Assets/AAL) 0.00%

Covered Payroll (Active Plan Members) $ 4,059,995

UAAL as a Percentage of Covered Payroll 67.98%  
 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

 

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as 

understood by the employer and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of 

each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan 

members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are 

designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, 

consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations. 

 

In the April 30, 2016 actuarial valuation the entry age actuarial cost method was used. The actuarial 

assumptions included a 4.0% investment rate of return (including a 2.50% inflation assumption) and an 

initial healthcare cost trend rate of 2.90% to 7.80%, with an ultimate rate of 2.90% to 5.00%. The 

actuarial value of assets was not determined as the Village has not advance funded its obligation. The 

plan’s unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized as a level percentage of projected payroll 

on an open basis. The remaining amortization period at April 30, 2016, was 27 years. 
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Notes to the Required Supplementary Information

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Required supplementary information includes financial information and disclosures that are required by

the GASB but are not considered a part of the basic financial statements. Such information includes:

Budgetary Information – Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting

principles.
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Other Post-Employment Benefit Plan

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Funding Progress and Employer Contributions

April 30, 2016

Schedule of Funding Progress

(6)

Unfunded

(Overfunded)

Actuarial

Accrued

Liability

as a

(3) Percentage

Actuarial Funded of Covered

Valuation Ratio Payroll

Date (1) ÷ (2) (4) ÷ (5)

4/30/2011 $ N/A $ N/A N/A $ N/A $ N/A N/A

4/30/2012 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

4/30/2013 -         882,324      0.00% 882,324 3,442,427 25.63%

4/30/2014 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

4/30/2015 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

4/30/2016 -         2,759,939   0.00% 2,759,939 4,059,995 67.98%

Employer Contributions

Fiscal Percent

Year Contributed

2011 $ 24,773 $ 31,224 79.34%

2012 24,773 31,224 79.34%

2013 24,773 31,224 79.34%

2014 43,396 56,726 76.50%

2015 43,396 56,576 76.70%

2016 148,083 176,833 83.74%

N/A - Not Available

The Village is required to have an actuarial valuation performed triennially.

Annual

Employer Required

Contributions Contributions

of Plan (AAL) Liability Covered

 Assets - Entry Age (2) - (1) Payroll

Actuarial Accrued Actuarial (5)

Value Liability Accrued Annual

(4)

(2) Unfunded

(1) Actuarial (Overfunded)
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Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Employer Contributions

April 30, 2016

Contributions as

a Percentage of

Calendar Covered-Employee

Year Payroll

2015 $ 298,271        $ 298,271        $ -     $ 2,242,641 13.30%

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information:

Actuarial Valuation Date December 31, 2015

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method Level % Pay (Closed)

Remaining Amortization Period 28 Years

Asset Valuation Method 5-Year Smoothed Market

Inflation 3.00%

Salary Increases 4.40% - 16.00%

Investment Rate of Return 7.50%

Retirement Age See the Notes to the Financial Statements

Mortality RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table

Note:

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years and additional year's information will be displayed

as it becomes available.

in Relation to

Contributions

Covered-

Employee

Payroll(Deficiency)

Excess/

Contribution 

Contribution

Determined

Actuarially 

Contribution

Determined

the Actuarially
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Police Pension Fund

Required Supplementary Information 

Schedule of Employer Contributions

April 30, 2016

Contributions as

a Percentage of

Fiscal Covered-Employee

Year Payroll

2015 $ 455,783        $ 449,027        $ (6,756) $ 2,010,832 22.33%

2016 427,528        452,282        24,754 2,207,261 20.49%

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information:

Actuarial Valuation Date April 30, 2016

Actuarial Cost Method Projected Unit Credit (Level Dollars)

Amortization Method Level % Pay (Closed)

Remaining Amortization Period 24 Years

Asset Valuation Method 5-Year Smoothed Market

Inflation 2.50%

Salary Increases 3.75% to 7.00%

Investment Rate of Return 7.00%

Mortality Independent actuary 2016 Illinois Police Mortality Rates

Note:

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years and additional year's information will be displayed

as it becomes available.

Payroll

Covered-

Employee

Contribution

Determined

Actuarially 

Contribution

Determined

the Actuarially

in Relation to

Contributions

(Deficiency)

Excess/

Contribution 
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Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Changes in the Employer's Net Pension Liability 

April 30, 2016

Total Pension Liability

Service Cost $ 231,852        

Interest 891,008        

Changes in Benefit Terms -                

Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience (308,800)       

Change of Assumptions -                

Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Member Contributions (433,918)       

Net Change in Total Pension Liability 380,142        

Total Pension Liability - Beginning 12,012,911   

Total Pension Liability - Ending 12,393,053   

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contributions - Employer $ 298,271        

Contributions - Members 100,919        

Net Investment Income 52,165          

Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Member Contributions (433,918)       

Administrative Expense (10,193)         

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 7,244            

Plan Net Position - Beginning 10,450,285   

Plan Net Position - Ending 10,457,529   

Employer's Net Pension Liability $ 1,935,524     

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the Total Pension Liability 84.38%

Covered-Employee Payroll $ 2,242,641     

Employer's Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered-Employee Payroll 86.31%

Note:

12/31/2015

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years and additional year's information will be displayed

as it becomes available.
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Police Pension Fund

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Changes in the Employer's Net Pension Liability 

April 30, 2016

Total Pension Liability

Service Cost $ 463,455        400,101        

Interest 782,101        837,341        

Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience -                (589,343)       

Change in Assumptions 1,251,387     2,189,746     

Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Member Contributions (431,684)       (481,164)       

Net Change in Total Pension Liability 2,065,259     2,356,681     

Total Pension Liability - Beginning 10,137,331   12,202,590   

Total Pension Liability - Ending 12,202,590   14,559,271   

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contributions - Employer $ 449,027        452,282        

Contributions - Members 228,037        216,533        

Net Investment Income 471,668        (25,628)         

Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Member Contributions (431,684)       (481,164)       

Administrative Expense (8,625)           (18,226)         

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 708,423        143,797        

Plan Net Position - Beginning 7,498,173     8,206,596     

Plan Net Position - Ending 8,206,596     8,350,393     

Employer's Net Pension Liability $ 3,995,994     6,208,878     

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the Total Pension Liability 67.25% 57.35%

Covered-Employee Payroll $ 2,010,832     2,207,261     

Employer's Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of 

Covered-Employee Payroll 198.72% 281.29%

Note:

4/30/2015 4/30/2016

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years and additional year's information will be displayed

as it becomes available.
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Police Pension Fund

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Investment Returns

April 30, 2016

Annual Money-

Weighted Rate

of Return, Net

Fiscal of Investment

Year Expense

2015 6.54%

2016 0.29%

Note:

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years and additional year's information will be displayed

as it becomes available.
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Actual

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 2,242,839 2,241,843

Other Taxes 128,156 128,293

Licenses, Permits and Fees 411,287 447,653

Intergovernmental, Grants and Contributions 5,702,155 6,333,078

Charges for Services 324,845 310,585

Fines and Forfeitures 315,500 319,217

Investment Earnings 26,250 26,118

Miscellaneous 113,450 132,824

Total Revenues 9,264,482 9,939,611

Expenditures

Current

General Government 3,006,722 2,985,297

Public Safety 4,516,670 4,408,227

Highways and Streets 1,656,562 1,559,510

Capital Outlay 59,800 70,940

Total Expenditures 9,239,754 9,023,974

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 

Over (Under) Expenditures 24,728 915,637

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers In 160,000 -      

Transfers Out -      (407,948)

160,000 (407,948)

Net Change in Fund Balance 184,728 507,689

Fund Balance - Beginning as Restated 3,504,209

Fund Balance - Ending 4,011,898

Original

and Final

Budget
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Such statements and schedules include: 

• Budgetary Comparison Schedules – Major Governmental Funds

• Combining Statements – Nonmajor Governmental Funds

• Budgetary Comparison Schedules – Nonmajor Governmental Funds

• Combining Statements – Enterprise Funds

• Budgetary Comparison Schedules – Enterprise Funds

• Budgetary Comparison Schedule – Internal Service Fund

• Budgetary Comparison Schedule – Pension Trust Fund

• Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities – Agency Funds

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Other supplementary information includes financial statements and schedules not required by the GASB, nor a

part of the basic financial statements, but are presented for purposes of additional analysis.



Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than fiduciary

funds or capital project funds) that are legally restricted to expenditure for specified purposes. 

COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES

GENERAL FUND

The General Fund is used to account for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in

another fund.

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Economic Development Fund

The Economic Development Fund is used to account for the community development revolving loan program

initially funded by 2 grants from the Illinois Department of Commerce and Economic Opportunity (DCEO),

restricted to provide loans to local businesses.

Forfeiture and Seizure Fund

The Forfeiture and Seizure Fund is used to account for Kane and Kendall County court fines, written by Village

of Montgomery officers, which are restricted for certain purposes including drug and DUI prevention.

Motor Fuel Tax Fund

The Motor Fuel Tax Fund is used to account for motor fuel tax allocations from the State of Illinois and

expenditures related to the Village’s annual road rehabilitation and construction program.

Emergency 911 Fund

The Emergency 911 Fund is used to account for Kane and Kendall County wireless 911 surcharge fees

restricted for emergency 911 enhancements.

Police Gift Fund

The Police Gift Fund is used to account for contributions from donors restricted for educational and equipment

purchases for the police force.

Montgomery Crossing Special Service Area Fund

The Montgomery Crossing Special Service Area Fund is used to account for special service area tax that is

restricted for the maintenance of common area in the Montgomery Crossing development.



Blackberry Crossing Special Service Area Fund

The Blackberry Crossing Special Service Area Fund is used to account for special service area tax that is

restricted for the maintenance of common area in the Blackberry Crossing development.

Ogden Hill Special Service Area Fund

COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS – Continued

The Ogden Hill Special Service Area Fund is used to account for special service area tax that is restricted for

the maintenance of common area in the Ogden Hill development.

Marquis Pointe Special Service Area Fund

The Marquis Pointe Special Service Area Fund is used to account for special service area tax that is restricted

for the maintenance of common area in the Marquis Pointe development.

Balmorea Special Service Area Fund

The Balmorea Special Service Area Fund is used to account for special service area tax that is restricted for the

maintenance of common area in the Balmorea development.

Arbor Ridge Special Service Area Fund

The Arbor Ridge Special Service Area Fund is used to account for special service area tax that is restricted for

the maintenance of common area in the Arbor Ridge development.

Foxmoor Special Service Area Fund

The Foxmoor Special Service Area Fund is used to account for special service area tax that is restricted for the

maintenance of common area in the Foxmoor development.

Fairfield Way Special Service Area Fund

The Fairfield Way Special Service Area Fund is used to account for special service area tax that is restricted for

the maintenance of common area in the Fairfield Way development.

Tax Increment Financing District #1 Fund

The Tax Increment Financing (TIF) District #1 Fund is used to account for the property taxes, collected on the

incremental increase in the equalized assessed value, and restricted for expenditures incurred related to the

Village's U.S. Route 30 and Fifth Street TIF District.



Debt Service Fund

The Debt Service Fund is used to accumulate monies for the Village’s general obligation alternate revenue

source bonds (Series 2008A, Series 2010, Series 2011, and Series 2014) for payment of the principal and

interest on governmental debt (non-proprietary). Utility tax revenues are transferred from the Capital

Improvement Fund to finance the annual payment requirements.

DEBT SERVICE FUNDS

Debt Service Funds are used to account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of, general long-

term debt principal and interest.

Fieldstone Special Service Area Fund

The Fieldstone Special Service Area Fund is used to account for special service area tax that is restricted for the

maintenance of common area in the Fieldstone development.

Saratoga Springs Special Service Area Fund

The Saratoga Springs Special Service Area Fund is used to account for special service area tax that is restricted

for the maintenance of common area in the Saratoga Springs development.

Orchard Prairie North Special Service Area Fund

The Orchard Prairie North Special Service Area Fund is used to account for special service area tax that is

restricted for the maintenance of common area in the Orchard Prairie North development.

Blackberry Crossing West Special Service Area Fund

The Blackberry Crossing West Special Service Area Fund is used to account for special service area tax that is

restricted for the maintenance of common area in the Blackberry Crossing West development.

COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS – Continued

Tax Increment Financing District #2 Fund

The Tax Increment Financing (TIF) District #2 Fund is used to account for the property taxes, collected on the

incremental increase in the equalized assessed value, and restricted for expenditures incurred related to the

Village's Aucutt Road TIF District.



Refuse Fund

The Refuse Fund is used to account for refuse services contracted by the Village for the benefit of its citizens,

but performed by a private entity. This fund is financed by fees charged to residents on their bi-monthly utility

bill.

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

Capital Projects Funds are used to account for financial resources used for the acquisition or construction of

major capital assets (other than those financed by business-type/proprietary funds).

Lakewood Creek Project Fund

The Lakewood Creek Project Fund is used to account for the revenue restricted to capital improvements in the

Lakewood Creek neighborhood. The public improvements are complete and the fees paid for third-party

management of the Lakewood Creek Special Assessment now flow through this fund.

Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private

business enterprises where the intent is that costs of providing goods or services to the general public on a

continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges; or where it has been decided that

periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred and/or net income is appropriate for capital

maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability or other purpose.

The Water Fund is used to account for the revenues and expenses relative to the operation of the water utility.

 ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Water Fund

Vehicle Reserve Fund

The Vehicle Reserve Fund is used to account for contributions from other departments assigned for the future

replacement of vehicles and equipment.

Infrastructure Improvement Fund

The Infrastructure Improvement Fund is used to account for funds restricted, committed, or assigned to the

acquisition, construction and improvement of governmental infrastructure capital assets (not being financed by

proprietary funds) throughout the community. Activities are financed by the 1% non-home rule sales tax.

Capital Improvement Fund

The Capital Improvement Fund is used to account for funds restricted, committed, or assigned to the acquisition,

construction and improvement of governmental general capital assets (not being financed by proprietary funds).

Activities are financed by utility taxes, grants, rent on Village properties, and developer contributions.

COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES



The Flexible Benefit Fund is used to account for employee flexible spending accounts (FSA) and dependent

care accounts (DCA).

Escrow Fund

The Escrow Fund is used to account for the developer contributions held on behalf of other governments and for

developer deposits.

Flexible Benefit Fund

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

The Talma Street Special Service Area Fund is used to account for the tax collections to pay principal and

interest on the Special Service Area #96-1 Bonds.

The Police Pension Fund is used to account for the resources necessary to provide retirement and disability

pension benefits to full-time sworn police personnel. Although this is a single-employer pension plan, the

defined benefits and employer and employee contribution levels are governed by Illinois Compiled Statutes (40

ILCS 5/3-1) and may be amended only by the Illinois legislature. Financing is provided by the Village

contributions, employee payroll withholdings, and investment income.

TRUST AND AGENCY FUNDS

PENSION TRUST FUND

Police Pension Fund

AGENCY FUNDS

Talma Street Special Service Area Fund

Employee Insurance Fund

The Employee Insurance Fund is used to account for the internal contributions (employer and employee) for

providing group health, dental, and life insurance to Village employees.

Internal Service Funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by one department or

agency to other departments or agencies other governmental unit, or to other governmental units, on a cost-

reimbursement basis.

COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES



The Blackberry Crossing West Special Service Area Fund is used to account for the tax collections to pay

principal and interest on the Special Service Area #10 Bonds.

Cornell Special Service Area Fund

The Cornell Special Service Area Fund is used to account for the tax collections to pay principal and interest on

the Special Service Area #17 Bonds.

Temporary Certificate of Occupancy (CO) Fund

The Temporary CO Fund is used to account for the deposits held to ensure completion of final plans and

projects on new commercial and residential construction.

Blackberry Crossing West Special Service Area Fund

COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES

TRUST AND AGENCY FUNDS – Continued

AGENCY FUNDS – Continued

Lakewood Creek Special Assessment Fund

The Lakewood Creek Special Assessment Fund is used to account for the contributions from property owners

and payments of principal and interest on the Special Assessment Bonds.



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Property Taxes

Corporate $ 950,689 965,441

Police Pension 453,447 452,282

Social Security 224,061 223,510

IMRF 224,061 223,510

Insurance 263,932 263,260

Road and Bridge 126,649 113,840

Total Property Taxes 2,242,839 2,241,843

Other Taxes

Utility Tax 77,756 68,032

Video Gaming Tax 50,400 60,261

128,156 128,293

Licenses, Permits and Fees

Licenses

Liquor 26,800 29,804

Pull Tab 1,020 -      

Amusement Machine 1,050 1,000

Tobacco 300 400

Contractors 28,125 22,990

Other -      30

Permits

Building 110,000 120,659

Oversized Vehicle 8,000 11,775

Solicitor 500 1,830

Other 100 200

Fees

Cable Franchise 235,392 258,965

Total Licenses, Permits, and Fees 411,287 447,653

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual - Continued

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Intergovernmental

Sales Tax $ 3,437,768 3,863,843

State Income Tax 1,825,362 1,964,982

Corporate Replacement Tax 57,838 47,522

Road and Bridge Replacement Tax 7,230 8,750

Local Use Tax 357,697 436,512

State Grant - Body Armor (Police) 1,500 1,752

State Grant - ILCC Tobacco (Police) 1,760 1,760

State Grant - Traffic Safety (Police) 13,000 7,957

Total Intergovernmental 5,702,155 6,333,078

Charges for Services

Refuse Removal 7,000 6,872

Plumbing Inspections 16,000 16,820

Engineering Inspections 11,000 5,900

Reinspections 500 -      

Planning - Plan Commission Applications 6,000 6,200

Professional Services Reimbursements - Dispatch Service 12,840 12,346

Professional Services Reimbursements - Engineering Service 141,750 122,753

Professional Services Reimbursements - Legal Service 36,750 26,497

Professional Services Reimbursements - Planning Service 10,500 17,017

Professional Services Reimbursements - Printing and Publishing 1,000 88

Police Reimbursements - Training 7,500 16,768

Police Reimbursements - Special Duty 1,800 5,144

Police Reimbursements - Other 3,000 3,771

Police Reimbursements - Firing Range 300 1,017

Other Reimbursements - Streets 15,000 18,881

Other Reimbursements - Credit Card Fees 14,000 13,820

Other Reimbursements - Mowing (Kaneland) 7,905 7,301

Other Reimbursements - Miscellaneous 30,000 28,374

Rents and Royalties - Municipal Building Rental 2,000 1,016

Total Charges for Services 324,845 310,585

Original

and Final

Budget

70



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual - Continued

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Fines and Forfeitures

Tow Impoundment Fee $ 130,000 128,500

Court Fines - Village 32,000 18,205

Court Fines - Kane County 120,000 143,480

Court Fines - Kendall County 12,000 11,639

Patrol Car Maintenance Fines - Kane County 16,000 10,778

Patrol Car Maintenance Fines - Kendall County 1,500 1,440

Code Enforcement Fines 4,000 5,175

Total Fines and Forfeitures 315,500 319,217

Investment Earnings

Interest 26,250 26,118

Miscellaneous

Other Reimbursements - Insurance 30,000 48,566

Donations - Montgomery Fest 53,000 56,371

Donations - Beautification 5,000 8,481

Donations - River Run 12,000 12,635

Donations - Garage Sales 2,000 840

Donations - Settler's Cottage 500 -      

Donations - HPC Brick Paver Program 500 200

Donations - Senior Luncheon 2,000 1,593

Donations - Parkway Tree Program 5,000 2,400

Donations - Car Show 3,000 1,567

Salable Items - History Books 350 140

Salable Items - Miscellaneous 100 31

Total Miscellaneous 113,450 132,824

Total Revenues 9,264,482 9,939,611

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Actual

General Government

Elected Officials

Personal Services $ 69,936 69,293

Contractual Services 78,475 79,404

Commodities 860 1,123

149,271 149,820

Village Administrator

Personal Services 280,056 276,962

Contractual Services 73,183 64,147

Commodities 4,115 4,263

357,354 345,372

Finance

Accounting

Personal Services 424,261 421,538

Contractual Services 362,168 388,757

Commodities 6,880 5,129

793,309 815,424

Utility Billing

Personal Services 118,784 117,172

Contractual Services 44,968 67,797

Commodities 28,330 25,193

192,082 210,162

985,391 1,025,586

Less: Internal Charges (516,726) (548,305)

Total Finance 468,665 477,281

Legal

Contractual Services 171,000 206,373

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual - Continued

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Actual

General Government - Continued

Engineering

Contractual Services $ 202,000 192,860

Community Development

Economic Development

Contractual Services 92,000 93,345

Other 943,635 902,208

1,035,635 995,553

Planning and Zoning

Personal Services 253,939 252,476

Contractual Services 46,085 34,265

Commodities 3,835 10,596

303,859 297,337

Code Enforcement and Inspections

Personal Services 271,685 273,527

Contractual Services 44,288 45,964

Commodities 2,965 1,210

318,938 320,701

Total Community Development 1,658,432 1,613,591

Total General Government 3,006,722 2,985,297

Public Safety

Police

Administration

Personal Services 391,185 389,268

Contractual Services 205,887 186,271

Commodities 6,620 7,556

603,692 583,095

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual - Continued

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Actual

Public Safety - Continued

Police - Continued

Support Services

Personal Services $ 176,021 170,760

Contractual Services 260,641 262,021

436,662 432,781

Patrol

Personal Services 2,879,727 2,792,034

Contractual Services 297,419 299,688

Commodities 16,100 18,552

3,193,246 3,110,274

Investigations

Personal Services 257,914 258,887

Contractual Services 7,240 2,839

Commodities 8,588 9,061

273,742 270,787

Police Commission

Personal Services 753 -      

Contractual Services 3,625 4,771

Commodities 250 494

4,628 5,265

ESDA

Contractual Services 4,500 6,025

Commodities 200 -      

4,700 6,025

 Total Public Safety 4,516,670 4,408,227

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual - Continued

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Actual

Highways and Streets

Administration

Personal Services $ 106,062 98,017

Contractual Services 25,554 40,920

Commodities 3,300 3,057

134,916 141,994

Streets

Personal Services 443,879 404,241

Contractual Services 444,107 432,427

Commodities 39,650 48,450

927,636 885,118

Vehicle Maintenance

Personal Services 109,690 112,198

Contractual Services 100,220 112,917

Commodities 165,100 125,199

375,010 350,314

Buildings and Grounds

Personal Services 182,491 181,370

Contractual Services 329,994 317,587

Commodities 3,000 3,321

515,485 502,278

Stormwater Management

Contractual Services 35,000 11,414

1,988,047 1,891,118

Less: Internal Charges (331,485) (331,608)

Total Highways and Streets 1,656,562 1,559,510

Budget

and Final

Original
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual - Continued

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Actual

Capital Outlay

General Government $ 17,000 28,335

Community Development 4,300 6,655

Public Safety 19,500 26,561

Highways and Streets 19,000 9,389

Total Capital Outlay 59,800 70,940

Total Expenditures 9,239,754 9,023,974

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Debt Service Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Actual

Revenues

Interest $ -      -      

Expenditures

Debt Service

Principal Retirement 725,000 725,000

Interest and Fiscal Charges 359,165 359,165

Total Expenditures 1,084,165 1,084,165

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 

Over (Under) Expenditures (1,084,165) (1,084,165)

Other Financing Sources

Transfers In 1,084,165 1,084,165

Net Change in Fund Balance -      -      

Fund Balance - Beginning 56,089

Fund Balance - Ending 56,089

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Capital Improvement - Capital Projects Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Actual

Revenues

Other Taxes

Utility Taxes $ 1,345,356 1,188,041

Intergovernmental, Grants and Contributions 186,000 114,963

Charges for Services 12,970 19,283

Interest 1,800 3,949

Miscellaneous 67,783 131,812

Total Revenues 1,613,909 1,458,048

Expenditures

Current

General Government

Contractual Services -      5,857

Capital Outlay 198,000 190,696

Total Expenditures 198,000 196,553

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 

Over (Under) Expenditures 1,415,909 1,261,495

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Disposal of Capital Assets -      400

Transfers In -      396,510

Transfers Out (1,244,165) (1,084,165)

(1,244,165) (687,255)

Net Change in Fund Balances 171,744 574,240

Fund Balances - Beginning (61,271)

Fund Balances - Ending 512,969

Original

and Final

Budget

78



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Infrastructure Improvement - Capital Projects Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Intergovernmental, Grants and Contributions

Non-Home Rule Sales Tax $ 1,500,000 2,103,584

Contributions -      672,000

Interest 1,000 -      

Total Revenues 1,501,000 2,775,584

Expenditures

Current

Highways and Streets

Contractual Services 778,400 1,189,944

Capital Outlay -           594,673

Total Expenditures 778,400 1,784,617

Net Change in Fund Balance 722,600 990,967

Fund Balance - Beginning (18,000)

Fund Balance - Ending 972,967

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental Funds  

Combining Balance Sheet

April 30, 2016

Capital

Projects Totals

ASSETS

Cash and Investments $ 1,973,309 743,338 2,716,647

Receivables - Net of Allowances

Property Taxes 577,605 -      577,605

Notes 1,139,337 -      1,139,337

Due from Other Governments 41,961 -      41,961

Total Assets 3,732,212 743,338 4,475,550

  

LIABILITIES 

 

Accounts Payable 26,824 -      26,824

Retainage Payable 26,169 -      26,169

Due to Other Funds 26,150 -      26,150

Total Liabilities 79,143 -      79,143

Property Taxes 577,605 -      577,605

Total Liabilities and Deferred

 Inflows of Resources 656,748 -      656,748

Restricted 3,105,554 8,075 3,113,629

Assigned -      735,263 735,263

Unassigned (30,090) -      (30,090)

Total Fund Balances 3,075,464 743,338 3,818,802

 

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of

Resources and Fund Balances 3,732,212 743,338 4,475,550

Special

Revenue

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

FUND BALANCES
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Capital

Projects Totals

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 439,852 -      439,852

Intergovernmental, Grants and Contributions 521,077 -      521,077

Fines and Forfeitures 21,935 -      21,935

Charges for Services 141,736 687,303 829,039

Interest 14,545 2 14,547

Miscellaneous 600 23,562 24,162

Total Revenues 1,139,745 710,867 1,850,612

Expenditures

Current

General Government 50,458 58,308 108,766

Public Safety 26,223 -      26,223

Highways and Streets 929,532 -      929,532

Capital Outlay 70,425 441,893 512,318

Debt Service

Principal -      103,071 103,071

Interest and Fiscal Charges -      4,896 4,896

Total Expenditures 1,076,638 608,168 1,684,806

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 

Over Expenditures 63,107 102,699 165,806

Other Financing Sources

Transfers In 11,438 -      11,438

Disposal of Capital Assets -      68,250 68,250

11,438 68,250 79,688

Net Change in Fund Balances 74,545 170,949 245,494

Fund Balances - Beginning 3,000,919 572,389 3,573,308

Fund Balances - Ending 3,075,464 743,338 3,818,802

Special

Revenue
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Special Revenue Funds

Combining Balance Sheet  

April 30, 2016

See Following Page



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Special Revenue Funds

Combining Balance Sheet  

April 30, 2016

Forfeiture

and Motor Emergency

Seizure Fuel Tax 911

ASSETS

Cash and Investments $ 476,571 63,728 258,916 188,769

Receivables - Net of Allowances

Property Taxes -      -      -      -      

Notes 1,139,337 -      -      -      

Due from Other Governments -      -      41,961 -      

Total Assets 1,615,908 63,728 300,877 188,769

LIABILITIES

 

Accounts Payable -      6,355 -      7,275

Retainage Payable -      -      26,169 -      

Due to Other Funds -      -      -      -      

Total Liabilities -      6,355 26,169 7,275

Property Taxes -      -      -      -      

Total Liabilities and Deferred

 Inflows of Resources -      6,355 26,169 7,275

Restricted 1,615,908 57,373 274,708 181,494

Unassigned -      -      -      -      

Total Fund Balances 1,615,908 57,373 274,708 181,494

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 1,615,908 63,728 300,877 188,769

Economic

Development

FUND BALANCES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
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Montgomery Blackberry Ogden Marquis

Crossings Crossings Hill Pointe Balmorea

Special Special Special Special Special

Police Service Service Service Service Service

Gift Area Area Area Area Area

ASSETS

6,125 135,803 63,360 27,778 23,256 -      

-      53,001 11,001 24,028 14,028 34,500

-      -      -      -      -      -      

-      -      -      -      -      -      

6,125 188,804 74,361 51,806 37,284 34,500

LIABILITIES

-      751 291 -      -      -      

-      -      -      -      -      -      

-      -      -      -      -      416

-      751 291 -      -      416

-      53,001 11,001 24,028 14,028 34,500

-      53,752 11,292 24,028 14,028 34,916

6,125 135,052 63,069 27,778 23,256 -      

-      -      -      -      -      (416)

6,125 135,052 63,069 27,778 23,256 (416)

6,125 188,804 74,361 51,806 37,284 34,500
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Special Revenue Funds

Combining Balance Sheet - Continued

April 30, 2016

Fairfield

Way Foxmoor Tax

Special Special Increment

Service Service Financing

Area Area District #1

ASSETS

Cash and Investments $ 44,886 173,326 121,127 184,109

Receivables - Net of Allowances

Property Taxes 18,216 40,000 43,000 39,629

Notes -      -      -      -      

Due from Other Governments -      -      -      -      

Total Assets 63,102 213,326 164,127 223,738

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 476 1,438 1,914 1,220

Retainage Payable -      -      -      -      

Due to Other Funds -      -      -      -      

Total Liabilities 476 1,438 1,914 1,220

Property Taxes 18,216 40,000 43,000 39,629

Total Liabilities and Deferred

 Inflows of Resources 18,692 41,438 44,914 40,849

Restricted 44,410 171,888 119,213 182,889

Unassigned -      -      -      -      

Total Fund Balances 44,410 171,888 119,213 182,889

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 63,102 213,326 164,127 223,738

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

FUND BALANCES

Area

Service

Special

Ridge

Arbor
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Saratoga Orchard Blackberry

Tax Springs Prairie North Crossing West Fieldstone

Increment Special Special Special Special

Financing Service Service Service Service

District #2 Area Area Area Area Totals

-      37,871 30,018 119,370 18,296 1,973,309

191,701 12,000 27,000 63,001 6,500 577,605

-      -      -      -      -      1,139,337

-      -      -      -      -      41,961

191,701 49,871 57,018 182,371 24,796 3,732,212

3,940 291 1,013 1,598 262 26,824

-      -      -      -      -      26,169

25,734 -      -      -      -      26,150

29,674 291 1,013 1,598 262 79,143

191,701 12,000 27,000 63,001 6,500 577,605

221,375 12,291 28,013 64,599 6,762 656,748

-      37,580 29,005 117,772 18,034 3,105,554

(29,674) -      -      -      -      (30,090)

(29,674) 37,580 29,005 117,772 18,034 3,075,464

191,701 49,871 57,018 182,371 24,796 3,732,212
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Special Revenue Funds

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Forfeiture

and Motor Emergency

Seizure Fuel Tax 911

Revenues

Property Taxes $ -      -      -      -      

Intergovernmental, Grants and Contributions -      -      521,077 -      

Fines and Forfeitures -      21,935 -      -      

Charges for Services -      -      -      141,736

Interest 14,086 -      459 -      

Miscellaneous -      -      -      -      

Total Revenues 14,086 21,935 521,536 141,736

Expenditures

Current

General Government 1,915 -      -      -      

Public Safety -      8,543 -      16,055

Highways and Streets -      -      609,474 -      

Capital Outlay -      20,140 -      50,285

Total Expenditures 1,915 28,683 609,474 66,340

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues

Over (Under) Expenditures 12,171 (6,748) (87,938) 75,396

Other Financing Sources

Transfers In -      -      -      -      

Net Change in Fund Balances 12,171 (6,748) (87,938) 75,396

Fund Balances - Beginning 1,603,737 64,121 362,646 106,098

Fund Balances - Ending 1,615,908 57,373 274,708 181,494

Economic

Development
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Montgomery Blackberry Ogden Marquis

Crossings Crossings Hill Pointe Balmorea

Special Special Special Special Special

Police Service Service Service Service Service

Gift Area Area Area Area Area

-      53,003 10,965 22,528 13,526 29,789

-      -      -      -      -      -      

-      -      -      -      -      -      

-      -      -      -      -      -      

-      -      -      -      -      -      

600 -      -      -      -      -      

600 53,003 10,965 22,528 13,526 29,789

-      -      -      -      -      -      

1,625 -      -      -      -      -      

-      50,719 11,764 19,429 11,410 28,956

-      -      -      -      -      -      

1,625 50,719 11,764 19,429 11,410 28,956

(1,025) 2,284 (799) 3,099 2,116 833

-      -      -      -      -      11,438

(1,025) 2,284 (799) 3,099 2,116 12,271

7,150 132,768 63,868 24,679 21,140 (12,687)

6,125 135,052 63,069 27,778 23,256 (416)
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Special Revenue Funds

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Continued

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Fairfield

Way Foxmoor Tax

Special Special Increment

Service Service Financing

Area Area District #1

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 18,319 49,976 42,468 40,918

Intergovernmental, Grants and Contributions -      -      -      -      

Fines and Forfeitures -      -      -      -      

Charges for Services -      -      -      -      

Interest -      -      -      -      

Miscellaneous -      -      -      -      

Total Revenues 18,319 49,976 42,468 40,918

Expenditures

Current

General Government -      -      -      4,882

Public Safety -      -      -      -      

Highways and Streets 12,719 41,592 57,564 -      

Capital Outlay -      -      -      -      

Total Expenditures 12,719 41,592 57,564 4,882

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues

Over (Under) Expenditures 5,600 8,384 (15,096) 36,036

Other Financing Sources

Transfers In -      -      -      -      

Net Change in Fund Balances 5,600 8,384 (15,096) 36,036

Fund Balances - Beginning 38,810 163,504 134,309 146,853

Fund Balances - Ending 44,410 171,888 119,213 182,889

Arbor

Area

Service

Special

Ridge
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Saratoga Orchard Blackberry

Tax Springs Prairie North Crossing West Fieldstone

Increment Special Special Special Special

Financing Service Service Service Service

District #2 Area Area Area Area Totals

51,881 12,000 25,000 62,979 6,500 439,852

-      -      -      -      -      521,077

-      -      -      -      -      21,935

-      -      -      -      -      141,736

-      -      -      -      -      14,545

-      -      -      -      -      600

51,881 12,000 25,000 62,979 6,500 1,139,745

43,661 -      -      -      -      50,458

-      -      -      -      -      26,223

-      12,734 22,838 44,927 5,406 929,532

-      -      -      -      -      70,425

43,661 12,734 22,838 44,927 5,406 1,076,638

8,220 (734) 2,162 18,052 1,094 63,107

-      -      -      -      -      11,438

8,220 (734) 2,162 18,052 1,094 74,545

(37,894) 38,314 26,843 99,720 16,940 3,000,919

(29,674) 37,580 29,005 117,772 18,034 3,075,464
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Economic Development - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Interest $ 12,861 14,086

Expenditures

Current

General Government

Contractual Services 3,000 1,915

Net Change in Fund Balance 9,861 12,171

Fund Balance - Beginning 1,603,737

Fund Balance - Ending 1,615,908

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Forfeiture and Seizure - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Fines and Forfeitures $ 14,850 21,935

Expenditures

Current

Public Safety

Commodities -      8,543

Capital Outlay 10,000 20,140

Total Expenditures 10,000 28,683

Net Change in Fund Balance 4,850 (6,748)

Fund Balance - Beginning 64,121

Fund Balance - Ending 57,373

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Motor Fuel Tax - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Intergovernmental, Grants and Contributions

Motor Fuel Taxes $ 497,593 521,077

Grants 100,000 -      

Interest 100 459

Total Revenues 597,693 521,536

Expenditures

Current

Highways and Streets

Contractual Services 490,299 529,738

Commodities 250,500 79,736

Total Expenditures 740,799 609,474

Net Change in Fund Balance (143,106) (87,938)

Fund Balance - Beginning 362,646

Fund Balance - Ending 274,708

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Emergency 911 - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Charges for Services

Kane County Wireless 911 $ -      141,736

Expenditures

Current

Public Safety

Contractual Services -      16,055

Capital Outlay 36,000 50,285

Total Expenditures 36,000 66,340

Net Change in Fund Balance (36,000) 75,396

Fund Balance - Beginning 106,098

Fund Balance - Ending 181,494

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Police Gift - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Miscellaneous $ 250 600

Expenditures

Current

Public Safety

Commodities 1,300 1,625

Net Change in Fund Balance (1,050) (1,025)

Fund Balance - Beginning 7,150

Fund Balance - Ending 6,125

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Montgomery Crossings Special Service Area - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 53,000 53,003

Expenditures

Current

Highways and Streets

Contractual Services 52,687 50,719

Net Change in Fund Balance 313 2,284

Fund Balance - Beginning 132,768

Fund Balance - Ending 135,052

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Blackberry Crossings Special Service Area - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 11,000 10,965

Expenditures

Current

Highways and Streets

Contractual Services 10,666 11,764

Net Change in Fund Balance 334 (799)

Fund Balance - Beginning 63,868

Fund Balance - Ending 63,069

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Ogden Hill Special Service Area - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 22,500 22,528

Expenditures

Current

Highways and Streets

Contractual Services 19,429 19,429

Net Change in Fund Balance 3,071 3,099

Fund Balance - Beginning 24,679

Fund Balance - Ending 27,778

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Marquis Pointe Special Service Area - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 13,500 13,526

Expenditures

Current

Highways and Streets

Contractual Services 11,410 11,410

Net Change in Fund Balance 2,090 2,116

Fund Balance - Beginning 21,140

Fund Balance - Ending 23,256

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Balmorea Special Service Area - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 30,000 29,789

Expenditures

Current

Highways and Streets

Contractual Services 28,956 28,956

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues

Over (Under) Expenditures 1,044 833

Other Financing Sources

Transfers In -      11,438

Net Change in Fund Balance 1,044 12,271

Fund Balance - Beginning (12,687)

Fund Balance - Ending (416)

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Arbor Ridge Special Service Area - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 18,358 18,319

Expenditures

Current

Highways and Streets

Contractual Services 14,466 12,719

Net Change in Fund Balance 3,892 5,600

Fund Balance - Beginning 38,810

Fund Balance - Ending 44,410

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Fairfield Way Special Service Area - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 50,000 49,976

Expenditures

Current

Highways and Streets

Contractual Services 38,190 41,592

Net Change in Fund Balance 11,810 8,384

Fund Balance - Beginning 163,504

Fund Balance - Ending 171,888

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Foxmoor Special Service Area - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 42,500 42,468

Expenditures

Current

Highways and Streets

Contractual Services 40,925 57,564

Net Change in Fund Balance 1,575 (15,096)

Fund Balance - Beginning 134,309

Fund Balance - Ending 119,213

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Tax Increment Financing District #1 - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 40,000 40,918

Expenditures

Current

General Government

Contractual Services 45,520 4,882

Net Change in Fund Balance (5,520) 36,036

Fund Balance - Beginning 146,853

Fund Balance - Ending 182,889

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Tax Increment Financing District #2 - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 51,000 51,881

Expenditures

Current

General Government

Contractual Services 36,750 43,661

Net Change in Fund Balance 14,250 8,220

Fund Balance - Beginning (37,894)

Fund Balance - Ending (29,674)

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Saratoga Springs Special Service Area - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 12,000 12,000

Expenditures

Current

Highways and Streets

Contractual Services 12,830 12,734

Net Change in Fund Balance (830) (734)

Fund Balance - Beginning 38,314

Fund Balance - Ending 37,580

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Orchard Prairie North Special Service Area - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 25,000 25,000

Expenditures

Current

Highways and Streets

Contractual Services 21,838 22,838

Net Change in Fund Balance 3,162 2,162

Fund Balance - Beginning 26,843

Fund Balance - Ending 29,005

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Blackberry Crossing West Special Service Area - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 63,000 62,979

Expenditures

Current

Highways and Streets

Contractual Services 52,413 44,927

Net Change in Fund Balance 10,587 18,052

Fund Balance - Beginning 99,720

Fund Balance - Ending 117,772

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Fieldstone Special Service Area - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 6,500 6,500

Expenditures

Current

Highways and Streets

Contractual Services 5,445 5,406

Net Change in Fund Balance 1,055 1,094

Fund Balance - Beginning 16,940

Fund Balance - Ending 18,034

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Capital Projects Funds

Combining Balance Sheet  

April 30, 2016

Lakewood

Creek

Project Totals

ASSETS

Cash and Investments $ 735,263 8,075 743,338

Restricted -      8,075 8,075

Assigned 735,263 -      735,263

Total Funds Balances 735,263 8,075 743,338

Vehicle

Reserve

FUND BALANCES
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Capital Projects Funds

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Lakewood

Creek

Project Totals

Revenues

Charges for Services $ 687,303 -      687,303

Interest -      2 2

Miscellaneous -      23,562 23,562

Total Revenues 687,303 23,564 710,867

Expenditures

Current

General Government -      58,308 58,308

Capital Outlay 441,893 -      441,893

Debt Service

Principal 103,071 -      103,071

Interest and Fiscal Charges 4,896 -      4,896

Total Expenditures 549,860 58,308 608,168

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 

Over Expenditures 137,443 (34,744) 102,699

Other Financing Sources

Disposal of Capital Assets 68,250 -      68,250

Net Change in Fund Balances 205,693 (34,744) 170,949

Fund Balances - Beginning 529,570 42,819 572,389

Fund Balances - Ending 735,263 8,075 743,338

Vehicle

Reserve
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Vehicle Reserve - Capital Projects Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Charges for Services $ 687,302 687,303

Interest 500 -      

Miscellaneous 10,000 -      

Total Revenues 697,802 687,303

Expenditures

Capital Outlay 606,211  441,893

Debt Service

Principal 103,071  103,071

Interest and Fiscal Charges 4,896      4,896

Total Expenditures 714,178 549,860

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 

Over Expenditures (16,376) 137,443

Other Financing Sources

Disposal of Capital Assets -      68,250

Net Change in Fund Balance (16,376) 205,693

Fund Balance - Beginning 529,570

Fund Balance - Ending 735,263

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Lakewood Creek Project - Capital Projects Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Revenues

Interest $ 3 2

Miscellaneous 60,000 23,562

Total Revenues 60,003 23,564

Expenditures

Current

General Government

Contractual Services 60,000 58,308

Net Change in Fund Balance 3 (34,744)

Fund Balance - Beginning 42,819

Fund Balance - Ending 8,075

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Water - Enterprise Fund - by Account

Combining Statement of Net Position

April 30, 2016

Water

Improvement

Account Totals

Current Assets

Cash and Investments $ 2,633,199 -      2,633,199

Receivables - Net of Allowances

Accounts 830,144 2,968 833,112

Accrued Interest 4,803 -      4,803

Due from Other Funds 210,851 -      210,851

Total Current Assets 3,678,997 2,968 3,681,965

Noncurrent Assets

Nondepreciable Capital Assets 279,240 -      279,240

Depreciable Capital Assets 49,369,605 -      49,369,605

Accumulated Depreciation (16,875,237) -      (16,875,237)

Total Noncurrent Assets 32,773,608 -      32,773,608

Total Assets 36,452,605 2,968 36,455,573

Deferred Items - IMRF 53,091 -      53,091

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows

of Resources 36,505,696 2,968 36,508,664

Water

Account

ASSETS 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
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Water

Improvement

Account Totals

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable $ 104,198 41,392 145,590

Accrued Payroll 25,066 -      25,066

Accrued Interest Payable 111,569 -      111,569

Retainage Payable 1,563 -      1,563

Other Payables 36,000 -      36,000

Current Portion of Long-Term Debt 840,867 -      840,867

Total Current Liabilities 1,119,263 41,392 1,160,655

 

Noncurrent Liabilities

Compensated Absences Payable 56,577 -      56,577

Net Pension Liability - IMRF 224,677 -      224,677

General Obligation Bonds Payable - Net 5,080,147 -      5,080,147

IEPA Loans Payable 6,159,857 -      6,159,857

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 11,521,258 -      11,521,258

Total Liabilities 12,640,521 41,392 12,681,913

Net Investment in Capital Assets 20,879,292 -      20,879,292

Unrestricted (Deficit) 2,985,883 (38,424) 2,947,459

Total Net Position 23,865,175 (38,424) 23,826,751

NET POSITION

Water

Account

LIABILITIES
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Water - Enterprise Fund - by Account

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Water

Improvement

Account Totals

Operating Revenues

Charges for Services $ 4,565,238 -      4,565,238

Operating Expenses

Operations 3,014,249 307,778 3,322,027

Depreciation and Amortization 1,846,865 -      1,846,865

Total Operating Expenses 4,861,114 307,778 5,168,892

Operating Income (Loss) (295,876) (307,778) (603,654)

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Investment Income 19,148 -      19,148

Reimbursements -      57,181 57,181

Other Income 13,877 -      13,877

Interest Expense (338,126) -      (338,126)

(305,101) 57,181 (247,920)

Income (Loss) Before Transfers (600,977) (250,597) (851,574)

Transfers In -      155,848 155,848

Transfers Out (155,848) -      (155,848)

Change in Net Position (756,825) (94,749) (851,574)

Net Position - Beginning as Restated 24,622,000 56,325 24,678,325

Net Position - Ending 23,865,175 (38,424) 23,826,751

Water

Account
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Water - Enterprise Fund - by Account

Combining Statement of Cash Flows

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Water

Improvement

Account Totals

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts from Customers and Users $ 4,410,460 295,000 4,705,460

Payments to Employees (524,351) -      (524,351)

Payments to Suppliers (2,222,258) (611,068) (2,833,326)

1,663,851 (316,068) 1,347,783

Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities

Transfers In -      155,848 155,848

Transfers Out (155,848) -      (155,848)

  (155,848) 155,848 -      

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities

Purchase of Capital Assets (950,654) -      (950,654)

Debt Issuance 90,299 -      90,299

Principal Paid on Debt (760,453) -      (760,453)

Interest Paid on Debt (338,126) -      (338,126)

(1,958,934) -      (1,958,934)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Investment Income 19,148 -      19,148

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (431,783) (160,220) (592,003)

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning 3,064,982 160,220 3,225,202

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Ending  2,633,199 -      2,633,199

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash 

Provided (Used) by Operating Activities.

Operating Income (Loss)  (295,876) (307,778) (603,654)

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to 

Net Income to Net Cash Provided by (Used in) 

Operating Activities:

Depreciation and Amortization Expense 1,846,865 -      1,846,865

Other Income 13,877 57,181 71,058

(Increase) Decrease in Current Assets (168,655) 237,819 69,164

Increase (Decrease) in Current Liabilities 267,640 (303,290) (35,650)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities  1,663,851 (316,068) 1,347,783

Water

Account
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Water Account - Enterprise Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Actual

Operating Revenues

Charges for Services 

Water Sales $ 3,609,273 3,456,010

Late Charges 112,827 126,317

Water Service Charges 290,400 292,986

Delinquent Fees 50,000 58,611

Sewer Maintenance Charges 93,780 94,001

BH Infrastructure Fee 508,860 509,754

Fox Metro Reading Fee 27,555 27,559

Total Operating Revenues 4,692,695 4,565,238

Operating Expenses

Operations

Water Administration 1,045,057 191,186

Water Plant Operations 2,748,503 2,823,063

Depreciation and Amortization -      1,846,865

Total Operating Expenses 3,793,560 4,861,114

Operating Income (Loss) 899,135 (295,876)

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Investment Income 10,000 19,148

Other Income -      13,877

Interest Expense (384,226) (338,126)

(374,226) (305,101)

Income (Loss) Before Transfers 524,909 (600,977)

Transfers Out (1,716,346) (155,848)

Change in Net Position (1,191,437) (756,825)

Net Position - Beginning as Restated 24,622,000

Net Position - Ending 23,865,175

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Water Account - Enterprise Fund

Schedule of Operating Expenses - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

 

Actual

Water Administration

Personal Services $ 160,587 126,101

Contractual Services 80,906 61,239

Commodities 8,000 3,846

Debt Service

Principal Payment 795,564 -      

Interest Payment and Fiscal Agent Fees 384,226 338,126

1,429,283 529,312

Less Nonoperating Items

Debt Service (384,226) (338,126)

Total Water Administration 1,045,057 191,186

Water Plant Operations

Personal Services 601,465 620,585

Contractual Services 1,924,438 1,977,541

Commodities 222,000 223,820

Capital Outlay 600 1,117

Total Water Plant Operations 2,748,503 2,823,063

Depreciation and Amortization -      1,846,865

Total Operating Expenses 3,793,560 4,861,114

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Water Improvement Account - Enterprise Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Actual

Operating Revenues

Charges for Services $ -      -      

Operating Expenses

Operations 1,820,370 307,778

Operating Income (Loss) (1,820,370) (307,778)

Nonoperating Revenues

Connection Fees and Reimbursements 57,000 57,181

Income (Loss) Before Transfers (1,763,370) (250,597)

Transfers In 1,716,346 155,848

Change in Net Position (47,024) (94,749)

Net Position - Beginning 56,325

Net Position - Ending (38,424)

and Final

Budget

Original
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Refuse - Enterprise Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Actual

Operating Revenues

Charges for Services 

Refuse Removal $ 1,296,817 1,299,130

Operating Expenses

Operations

Solid Waste Disposal 1,296,817 1,293,243

Operating Income -      5,887

Nonoperating Revenues

Investment Earnings 250 -      

Change in Net Position 250 5,887

Net Position - Beginning 4,483

Net Position - Ending 10,370

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Employee Insurance - Internal Service Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Actual

Operating Revenues

Interfund Services $ 1,088,865 789,243

Operating Expenses

Operations

Insurance 1,088,865 767,031

Change in Net Position -      22,212

Net Position - Beginning 230,147

Net Position - Ending 252,359

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Police Pension - Pension Trust Fund

Schedule of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Actual

Additions

Contributions - Employer $ 453,447 452,282

Contributions - Plan Members 195,494 216,533

Total Contributions 648,941 668,815

Investment Income

Investment Earnings 601,300 335,821

Net Change in Fair Value -      (343,336)

601,300 (7,515)

Less Investment Expenses (17,180) (18,113)

Net Investment Income 584,120 (25,628)

Total Additions 1,233,061 643,187

Deductions

Administration 19,275 18,226

Benefits and Refunds 387,515 481,164

Total Deductions 406,790 499,390

Change in Fiduciary Net Position 826,271 143,797

Net Position Restricted for Pensions

Beginning 8,206,596

Ending 8,350,393

Original

and Final

Budget
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Agency Funds

Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Ending

Additions Deductions Balances

Cash and Investments $ 3,193,064 1,782,492 1,714,051 3,261,505

Accounts Receivable 47,348 -      47,348 -      

Total Assets 3,240,412 1,782,492 1,761,399 3,261,505

Deposits Payable 630,514 630,514 525,926 525,926

Due to Other Funds 42,948 42,948 -      -      

Due to Others 19,942 3,374 -      16,568

Due to Bondholders 2,547,008 1,084,563 1,256,566 2,719,011

Total Liabilities 3,240,412 1,761,399 1,782,492 3,261,505

TALMA STREET SPECIAL SERVICE AREA

Cash and Investments 19,445 -      -      19,445

Due to Others 19,445 -      -      19,445

Beginning

Balances

LIABILITIES

LIABILITIES

ALL FUNDS

ASSETS

ASSETS
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Ending

Additions Deductions Balances

Cash and Investments 612,514 473,226 612,514 473,226

Deposits Payable 612,514 612,514 473,226 473,226

Cash and Investments 485 -      3,374 (2,889)

Due to Others 485 3,374 -      (2,889)

Beginning

Balances

LIABILITIES

ESCROW

FLEXIBLE BENEFITS

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

ASSETS

124



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Agency Funds

Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities - Continued

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Ending

Additions Deductions Balances

LAKEWOOD CREEK SPECIAL ASSESSMENT

Cash and Investments $ 2,542,608 1,120,250 947,781 2,715,077

Due to Bondholders 2,542,608 947,781 1,120,250 2,715,077

BLACKBERRY CROSSING WEST SPECIAL SERVICE AREA

Cash and Investments 12 -      -      12

Due to Others 12 -      -      12

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Beginning

Balances
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Ending

Additions Deductions Balances

Cash and Investments -      136,316 132,382 3,934

Accounts Receivable 47,348 47,348 -      

Total Assets 47,348 136,316 179,730 3,934

Due to Other Funds 42,948 42,948 -      -      

Due to Bondholders 4,400 136,782 136,316 3,934

Total Liabilities 47,348 179,730 136,316 3,934

Cash and Investments 18,000 52,700 18,000 52,700

Deposits Payable 18,000 18,000 52,700 52,700

LIABILITIES

CORNELL SPECIAL SERVICE AREA

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

ASSETS

Beginning

Balances

TEMPORARY CO
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SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

General Obligation Alternate Revenue Source Refunding Bonds of 2007

April 30, 2016

Date of Issue December 3, 2007

Date of Maturity December 1, 2018

Authorized Issue $3,020,000

Denomination of Bonds $5,000

Interest Rate 3.95%

Interest Dates June 1 and December 1

Principal Maturity Date December 1

Payable at U.S. Bank

Fiscal

Year Interest Totals

2017 $ 335,000     41,476 376,476

2018 350,000     28,242 378,242

2019 365,000     14,418 379,418

1,050,000 84,136 1,134,136

CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

General Obligation Alternate Revenue Source Bonds of 2008A

April 30, 2016

Date of Issue August 1, 2008

Date of Maturity December 1, 2019

Authorized Issue $2,000,000

Denomination of Bonds $5,000

Interest Rate 5.00%

Interest Dates June 1 and December 1

Principal Maturity Date December 1

Payable at U.S. Bank

Fiscal

Year Interest Totals

2017 $ -             100,000 100,000

2018 -             100,000 100,000

2019 1,000,000  100,000 1,100,000

2020 1,000,000  50,000 1,050,000

2,000,000 350,000 2,350,000

CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

General Obligation Alternate Revenue Source Refunding Bonds of 2010

April 30, 2016

Date of Issue June 1, 2010

Date of Maturity December 1, 2017

Authorized Issue $7,375,000

Denomination of Bonds $5,000

Interest Rates 2.00% to 4.00%

Interest Dates June 1 and December 1

Principal Maturity Date December 1

Payable at U.S. Bank

Fiscal

Year Interest Totals

2017 $ 550,000     42,075 592,075

2018 605,000     24,200 629,200

1,155,000 66,275 1,221,275

CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Principal

129



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

General Obligation Alternate Revenue Source Refunding Bonds of 2011

April 30, 2016

Date of Issue December 15, 2011

Date of Maturity December 1, 2024

Authorized Issue $4,410,000

Denomination of Bonds $5,000

Interest Rates 2.00% to 3.125%

Interest Dates June 1 and December 1

Principal Maturity Date December 1

Payable at U.S. Bank

Fiscal

Year Interest Totals

2017 $ 205,000     84,950 289,950

2018 205,000     80,850 285,850

2019 375,000     76,750 451,750

2020 385,000     68,312 453,312

2021 395,000     59,168 454,168

2022 405,000     49,294 454,294

2023 420,000     38,663 458,663

2024 435,000     27,113 462,113

2025 450,000     14,063 464,063

3,275,000 499,163 3,774,163

CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

General Obligation Alternate Revenue Source Bonds of 2013

April 30, 2016

Date of Issue June 11, 2013

Date of Maturity December 1, 2038

Authorized Issue $4,590,000

Denomination of Bonds $5,000

Interest Rates 3.00% to 4.00%

Interest Dates June 1 and December 1

Principal Maturity Date December 1

Payable at U.S. Bank

Fiscal

Year Interest Totals

2017 $ 125,000     162,550 287,550

2018 130,000     158,800 288,800

2019 135,000     154,900 289,900

2020 140,000     150,850 290,850

2021 145,000     146,650 291,650

2022 145,000     142,300 287,300

2023 150,000     137,950 287,950

2024 155,000     133,450 288,450

2025 160,000     128,800 288,800

2026 165,000     122,400 287,400

2027 175,000     115,800 290,800

2028 180,000     108,800 288,800

2029 190,000     101,600 291,600

2030 195,000     94,000 289,000

2031 205,000     86,200 291,200

2032 210,000     78,000 288,000

2033 220,000     69,600 289,600

2034 230,000     60,800 290,800

2035 240,000     51,600 291,600

2036 245,000     42,000 287,000

2037 255,000     32,200 287,200

2038 270,000     22,000 292,000

2039 280,000     11,200 291,200

4,345,000 2,312,450 6,657,450

CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

Taxable General Obligation Alternate Revenue Source Refunding Bonds of 2014

April 30, 2016

Date of Issue April 29, 2014

Date of Maturity December 1, 2024

Authorized Issue $3,335,000

Denomination of Bonds $5,000

Interest Rates 3.00% to 3.50%

Interest Dates June 1 and December 1

Principal Maturity Date December 1

Payable at U.S. Bank

Fiscal

Year Interest Totals

2017 $ -             106,340 106,340

2018 -             106,340 106,340

2019 -             106,340 106,340

2020 -             106,340 106,340

2021 630,000     106,340 736,340

2022 645,000     87,440 732,440

2023 665,000     68,090 733,090

2024 685,000     48,140 733,140

2025 710,000     24,850 734,850

3,335,000 760,220 4,095,220

CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

IEPA Loan Payable of 2002

April 30, 2016

Date of Issue February 23, 2002

Date of Maturity December 1, 2022

Authorized Issue $1,128,780

Denomination of Bonds Various

Interest Rate 2.675%

Interest Dates June 1 and December 1

Principal Maturity Dates June 1 and December 1

Payable at Illinois Environmental Protection Agency

Fiscal

Year Interest Totals

2017 $ 62,511       12,279 74,790

2018 64,194       10,596 74,790

2019 65,922       8,867 74,789

2020 67,698       7,092 74,790

2021 69,521       5,269 74,790

2022 71,393       3,397 74,790

2023 73,317       1,474 74,791

474,556 48,974 523,530

CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

IEPA Loan Payable of 2011

April 30, 2016

Date of Issue October 20, 2011

Date of Maturity April 19, 2032

Authorized Issue $4,310,177

Denomination of Bonds Various

Interest Rate 1.25%

Interest Dates April 19 and October 19

Principal Maturity Dates April 19 and October 19

Payable at Illinois Environmental Protection Agency

Fiscal

Year Interest Totals

2017 $ 206,173     44,707 250,880

2018 208,758     42,122 250,880

2019 211,376     39,504 250,880

2020 214,027     36,853 250,880

2021 216,711     34,169 250,880

2022 219,428     31,452 250,880

2023 222,178     28,702 250,880

2024 224,965     25,915 250,880

2025 227,786     23,094 250,880

2026 230,642     20,238 250,880

2027 233,534     17,346 250,880

2028 236,462     14,418 250,880

2029 239,427     11,453 250,880

2030 242,429     8,451 250,880

2031 245,469     5,411 250,880

2032 248,547     2,333 250,880

3,627,912 386,168 4,014,080

CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

IEPA Loan Payable of 2014

April 30, 2016

Date of Issue June 1, 2014

Date of Maturity December 7, 2034

Authorized Issue $2,392,635

Denomination of Bonds Various

Interest Rate 1.995%

Interest Dates May 1 and November 1

Principal Maturity Dates May 1 and November 1

Payable at Illinois Environmental Protection Agency

Fiscal

Year Interest Totals

2017 $ 105,897     45,271       151,168

2018 108,585     43,258       151,843

2019 110,762     41,205       151,967

2020 112,983     39,111       152,094

2021 115,248     36,974       152,222

2022 117,559     34,795       152,354

2023 119,915     32,572       152,487

2024 122,319     30,304       152,623

2025 124,773     27,991       152,764

2026 127,274     25,632       152,906

2027 129,826     23,225       153,051

2028 132,429     20,770       153,199

2029 135,084     18,266       153,350

2030 137,792     15,712       153,504

2031 140,555     13,106       153,661

2032 143,373     10,448       153,821

2033 146,248     7,737         153,985

2034 149,180     4,972         154,152

2035 152,168     2,151         154,319

2,431,970 473,500     2,905,470

CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the

information in the Village’s financial report relates to the services the Village provides and the

activities it performs.

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the Village’s financial

performance and well-being have changed over time.

STATISTICAL SECTION

(Unaudited)

This part of the comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a context for

understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required

supplementary information says about the Village’s overall financial health.

Financial Trends

Operating Information

Revenue Capacity

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the Village’s most significant local

revenue sources.

Debt Capacity

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the Village’s current

levels of outstanding debt and the Village’s ability to issue additional debt in the future.

Demographic and Economic Information

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the

environment within which the Village’s financial activities take place.



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Net Position by Component - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Governmental Activities

Net Investment in 

Capital Assets $ 4,388,301    30,251,886  36,431,647  41,540,031  45,586,500  47,292,952  51,636,819  50,229,557 48,714,620 46,661,769   

Restricted 2,490,523    2,369,032    2,580,672    3,055,679    3,226,346    3,313,822    3,379,946    3,332,376   3,094,319   3,113,629     

Unrestricted 9,176,185    709,828       (499,811)     433,352       2,190,183    2,419,305    2,487,065    3,083,037   3,583,910   249,053        

Total Governmental 

Activities Net Position 16,055,009  33,330,746  38,512,508  45,029,062  51,003,029  53,026,079  57,503,830  56,644,970 55,392,849 50,024,451   

Business-Type Activities

Net Investment in 

Capital Assets 16,233,234  23,331,066  24,102,567  25,878,294  26,651,346  27,255,898  28,096,145  26,974,755 25,650,151 20,879,292   

Unrestricted 464,271       691,648       637,045       1,244,447    1,865,399    1,842,862    2,183,680    2,224,460   2,596,797   2,957,829     

Total Business-Type 

Activities Net Position 16,697,505  24,022,714  24,739,612  27,122,741  28,516,745  29,098,760  30,279,825  29,199,215 28,246,948 23,837,121   

Total Net Position

Net Investment in 

Capital Assets 20,621,535  53,582,952  60,534,214  67,418,325  72,237,846  74,548,850  79,732,964  77,204,312 74,364,771 67,541,061   

Restricted 2,490,523    2,369,032    2,580,672    3,055,679    3,226,346    3,313,822    3,379,946    3,332,376   3,094,319   3,113,629     

Unrestricted 9,640,456    1,401,476    137,234       1,677,799    4,055,582    4,262,167    4,670,745    5,307,497   6,180,707   3,206,882     

Total Primary Government 

Net Position 32,752,514  57,353,460  63,252,120  72,151,803  79,519,774  82,124,839  87,783,655  85,844,185 83,639,797 73,861,572   

Data Source: Audited Financial Statements

2007
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Changes in Net Position - Last Ten Fiscal Years 

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Expenses

Governmental Activities

General Government $ 3,555,496   4,197,064   3,417,096   3,540,980   3,077,769   3,283,476   3,089,899   3,215,504     3,543,827     4,000,986         

Public Safety 3,744,231   4,024,681   3,943,129   4,144,033   4,127,345   4,581,789   5,048,569   5,001,049     4,948,830     5,805,768         

Highways and Streets 2,059,540   2,731,761   2,694,913   2,724,614   3,610,159   3,175,332   3,818,065   4,608,540     4,376,423     5,085,800         

Sanitation * 790,523       839,223       889,190       997,054       1,030,129   1,062,656   1,159,173   1,265,497     64,954          -                    

Interest 604,331       587,246       633,176       639,111       537,769       502,037       496,752       466,594        358,069        344,003            

Total Governmental Activities Expenses 10,754,121 12,379,975 11,577,504 12,045,792 12,383,171 12,605,290 13,612,458 14,557,184   13,292,103   15,236,557       

Business-Type Activities

Waterworks 3,701,562   4,108,643   3,807,890   3,813,368   4,108,643   5,134,321   5,097,758   5,235,850     5,528,881     5,507,018         

Refuse * -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -                1,235,387     1,293,243         

Total Business-Type Activities Net Position 3,701,562   4,108,643   3,807,890   3,813,368   4,108,643   5,134,321   5,097,758   5,235,850     6,764,268     6,800,261         

Total Primary Government Expenses 14,455,683 16,488,618 15,385,394 15,859,160 16,491,814 17,739,611 18,710,216 19,793,034   20,056,371   22,036,818       

Program Revenues

Governmental Activities

Charges for Services

General Government 2,890,579   1,784,591   887,648       791,624       1,343,545   520,260       479,102       749,477        560,053        747,280            

Public Safety 376,138       297,352       548,645       634,341       764,147       837,875       737,683       478,482        314,769        509,588            

Highways and Streets 563,135       319,583       59,138         75,614         168,046       74,715         281,136       607,452        648,251        713,056            

Sanitation 720,168       818,426       872,656       975,454       1,004,889   1,050,053   1,133,823   1,190,325     7,852            -                    

Operating Grants/Contributions 419,065       550,422       488,826       476,945       1,413,932   620,940       601,387       605,838        673,299        1,319,509         

Capital Grants/Contributions 50,000         18,243,217 5,656,409   7,463,786   5,640,911   3,154,115   5,634,735   195,711        6,783            -                    

Total Governmental Activities

Program Revenue 5,019,085   22,013,591 8,513,322   10,417,764 10,335,470 6,257,958   8,867,866   3,827,285     2,211,007     3,289,433         

Business-Type Activities

Charges for Services 3,510,934   3,834,338   2,815,318   3,234,104   3,532,425   3,614,159   4,008,166   4,114,506     5,689,543     5,864,368         

Capital Grants/Contributions 60,356         7,082,159   1,623,918   2,881,397   1,919,667   2,025,506   2,268,670   39,361          117,713        -                    

Total Business-Type Activities

Program Revenue 3,571,290   10,916,497 4,439,236   6,115,501   5,452,092   5,639,665   6,276,836   4,153,867     5,807,256     5,864,368         

Total Primary Government  

     Program Revenue 8,590,375   32,930,088 12,952,558 16,533,265 15,787,562 11,897,623 15,144,702 7,981,152     8,018,263     9,153,801         

2007
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2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Net (Expense) Revenue

Governmental Activities $ (5,735,036)  9,633,616   (3,064,182)  (1,628,028)  (2,047,701)  (6,347,332)  (4,744,592)  (10,729,899)  (11,081,096)  (11,947,124)      

Business-Type Activities (130,272)     6,807,854   631,346       2,302,133   1,343,449   505,344       1,179,078   (1,081,983)    (957,012)       (935,893)           

Total Net Revenue (Expense) (5,865,308)  16,441,470 (2,432,836)  674,105       (704,252)     (5,841,988)  (3,565,514)  (11,811,882)  (12,038,108)  (12,883,017)      

General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position

Governmental Activities

Taxes

Property Taxes 1,521,208   1,728,472   2,107,824   2,538,391   2,131,202   2,258,978   2,570,184   2,607,364     2,650,814     2,681,695         

Utility Taxes 1,281,322   1,492,570   1,501,852   1,365,252   1,429,762   2,684,106   1,301,361   1,391,352     1,324,307     1,256,073         

Video Gaming Taxes -              -              -              -              -              -              -              17,477          48,392          60,261              

Intergovernmental - Unrestricted

Sales Taxes 1,799,426   2,308,243   2,539,423   2,434,337   2,590,760   1,489,230   2,690,164   2,851,053     3,169,321     5,967,427         

Income Taxes 1,095,594   1,326,500   1,454,677   1,355,129   1,330,267   264,029       1,661,642   1,796,712     1,805,718     1,964,982         

Replacement Taxes 61,644         69,384         63,422         55,407         66,756         57,776         56,957         76,855          66,610          56,272              

Local Use Taxes 182,247       197,453       238,046       206,509       250,488       1,350,780   303,898       316,541        370,691        436,512            

Franchise Fees 115,694       136,554       141,767       158,204       178,225       186,217       229,121       218,343        237,577        -                    

Donations -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -                -                -                    

Investment Income 631,184       372,126       55,770         22,633         61,751         66,329         42,991         16,143          25,919          44,614              

Miscellaneous -              57,346         38,165         23,636         11,030         12,937         366,025       269,258        129,626        288,798            

Total Governmental Activities 6,688,319   7,688,648   8,140,946   8,159,498   8,050,241   8,370,382   9,222,343   9,561,098     9,828,975     12,756,634       

Business-Type Activities

Investment Income 43,868         1,373           29,946         6,130           2,797           891              1,987           1,373            4,745            19,148              

Miscellaneous 32,129         -              55,606         74,866         47,758         75,780         -              -                -                71,058              

Total Business-Type Activities 75,997         1,373           85,552         80,996         50,555         76,671         1,987           1,373            4,745            90,206              

Total Primary Government 6,764,316   7,690,021   8,226,498   8,240,494   8,100,796   8,447,053   9,224,330   9,562,471     9,833,720     12,846,840       

Changes in Net Position

Governmental Activities 953,283       17,322,264 5,076,764   6,531,470   6,002,540   2,023,050   4,477,751   (1,168,801)    (1,252,121)    809,510            

Business-Type Activities (54,275)       6,809,227   716,898       2,383,129   1,394,004   582,015       1,181,065   (1,080,610)    (952,267)       (845,687)           

Total Primary Government 899,008       24,131,491 5,793,662   8,914,599   7,396,544   2,605,065   5,658,816   (2,249,411)    (2,204,388)    (36,177)             

Data Source: Audited Financial Statements

*- The Refuse Fund (Sanitation) changed from a department in the General Fund to an Enterprise Fund during the year ended April 30, 2015.
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Fund Balances of Governmental Funds - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

2008 2009

General Fund

Reserved $ -              -             701,124      

Unreserved 1,768,713    1,442,677  769,038      

Nonspendable -              -             -              

Unassigned -              -             -              

Total General Fund 1,768,713    1,442,677  1,470,162   

All Other Governmental Funds

Reserved 2,490,523    2,369,032  2,580,672   

Unreserved, Reported in:

Special Revenues Funds -              (92,759)      (24,412)       

Capital Projects Funds 7,951,924    (46,374)      (1,238,112)  

Restricted -              -             -              

Assigned -              -             -              

Unassigned -              -             -              

Total All Other Governmental Funds 12,211,160  3,672,576  2,788,310   

 Total Governmental Funds 13,979,873  5,115,253  4,258,472   

Data Source: Audited Financial Statements

Note: The Village implemented GASB No. 54 at April 30, 2011.
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

691,533     -             -             -             -              -              -              

1,338,650  -             -             -             -              -              -              

-             691,533     691,533     691,533     754,783       686,895       617,742       

-             2,124,288  2,484,493  2,860,573  2,799,352    2,972,861    3,394,156    

2,030,183  2,815,821  3,176,026  3,552,106  3,554,135    3,659,756    4,011,898    

3,055,679  -             -             -             -              -              -              

(6,226)        -             -             -             -              -              -              

(744,263)    -             -             -             -              -              -              

-             3,226,346  3,226,351  3,379,946  3,332,376    3,094,319    3,169,718    

-             165,254     165,255     56,089       388,966       585,659       2,221,199    

-             (59,236)      (59,234)      (565,377)    (360,486)     (129,852)     (30,090)       

4,335,373  6,148,185  6,508,398  6,422,764  6,914,991    7,209,882    5,360,827    

6,365,556  8,964,006  9,684,424  9,974,870  10,469,126  10,869,638  9,372,725    

140



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Changes in Fund Balances for Governmental Funds - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

2008 2009 2010

Revenues

Property Taxes $ 1,521,208   1,728,472   2,107,824   2,538,391   

Other Taxes 4,816,958   5,818,015   6,240,493   5,871,837   

State Shared Income Taxes -              -              -              -              

Licenses and Permits 646,609      453,255      347,605      348,071      

Charges for Services 3,478,950   2,584,045   3,406,271   2,318,607   

Intergovernmental 133,084      105,561      123,206      199,193      

Fines and Forfeits 203,147      157,644      239,539      327,227      

Investment Income 630,181      372,126      55,770        22,633        

Developer Contributions -              362,323      -              148,541      

Contributions from Property Owners -              -              17,500        423             

Miscellaneous 277,267      213,042      170,688      219,131      

Total Revenues 11,707,404 11,794,483 12,708,896 11,994,054 

Expenditures

General Government 3,135,761   3,974,221   3,185,821   2,744,480   

Public Safety 3,428,954   3,495,453   3,389,865   3,532,943   

Highways and Streets 1,789,485   2,237,906   1,640,752   1,403,559   

Sanitation ** 775,807      839,223      889,190      997,054      

Capital Outlay 2,339,488   8,614,925   5,540,861   485,739      

Debt Service

Principal 490,000      530,000      580,000      610,000      

Interest and Fiscal Charges 611,130      594,812      609,961      658,300      

Total Expenditures 12,570,625 20,286,540 15,836,450 10,432,075 

Excess of Revenues Over

(Under) Expenditures (863,221)     (8,492,057)  (3,127,554)  1,561,979   

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfer In 1,202,430   1,126,120   1,218,711   1,595,763   

Transfer (Out) (1,202,430)  (1,126,120)  (1,218,711)  (1,595,763)  

Capital Lease Issuance -              -              -              -              

Bonds Issued -              -              2,000,000   -              

Premium on Bonds Issued -              -              138,290      -              

Payment to Escrow -              -              -              -              

Disposal of Capital Assets -              -              -              -              

-              -              2,138,290   -              

Net Change in Fund Balances (863,221)     (8,492,057)  (989,264)     1,561,979   

Debt Service as a Percentage of 

Noncapital Expenditures 10.40% 9.81% 11.18% 12.45%

Data Source: Audited Financial Statements

* Shared income taxes were reclassifed to a non-tax revenue in fiscal year 2013.

** The Sanitation (Refuse) function changed from a department in the General Fund to an Enterprise Fund 

during the year ended April 30, 2015.
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2011 2012 2013* 2014 2015 2016

2,131,202     2,258,978     2,570,184 2,607,364 2,650,814 2,681,695

6,198,356     6,342,355     4,838,011 5,231,904 5,628,806 1,316,334

-               -               1,661,642 1,796,712 1,805,718 8,425,193

337,455        337,287        331,004 401,960 394,959 447,653

2,658,910     1,771,386     1,890,891 2,293,343 944,616 1,158,907

908,238        147,133        127,585 214,355 24,742 1,319,509

333,126        416,324        435,958 301,446 308,703 341,152

61,751          66,329          42,991 16,143 25,919 44,614

-               -               -      -      -      -      

1,208            -               -      -      -      -      

145,315        147,006        316,079 738,124 249,051 288,798

12,775,561   11,486,798   12,214,345   13,601,351   12,033,328   16,023,855   

2,665,677     2,939,574     2,475,369 2,674,004 2,908,916 3,099,920

3,449,377     3,961,199     4,533,205 4,342,408 4,329,070 4,434,450

2,259,801     1,802,261     2,350,369 3,012,767 2,891,627 3,678,986

1,030,129     1,062,656     1,159,173 1,265,497 64,954 -      

501,212        53,213          117,786 483,766 471,361 1,368,627

740,000        915,000        1,080,000 1,297,966 738,396 828,071

599,438        561,575        435,339 474,225 340,767 364,061

11,245,634   11,295,478   12,151,241   13,550,633   11,745,091   13,774,115   

1,529,927     191,320        63,104          50,718          288,237        2,249,740     

1,443,300     1,584,100     1,612,150     1,681,117     968,253        1,492,113     

(1,443,300)   (1,584,100)   (1,612,150)   (1,681,117)   (968,253)      (1,492,113)   

-               -               -               309,433        -               -               

7,375,000     4,410,000     -               3,335,000     -               -               

339,600        2,857            -               21,989          -               -               

(7,599,986)   (4,412,857)   -               (3,289,345)   -               -               

196,844        9,853            10,302          31,176          6,654            68,650          

311,458        9,853            10,302          408,253        6,654            68,650          

1,841,385     201,173        73,406          458,971        294,891        2,318,390     

12.31% 13.21% 12.81% 13.65% 9.54% 9.44%
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Assessed Value and Actual Value of Taxable Property - Last Ten Tax Levy Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Tax

Levy

Year

2006 Kane County $ 130,150,023        $ 20,713,506   $ 50,224,319      

Kendall County N/A N/A N/A

2007 Kane County 143,557,685        21,254,903   52,334,881      

Kendall County 225,221,844        24,443,380   3,215,940        

2008 Kane County 146,340,376        25,150,166   59,513,310      

Kendall County 239,740,364        33,432,819   2,943,895        

2009 Kane County 145,339,543        24,471,644   55,883,059      

Kendall County 246,603,488        35,351,375   3,124,055        

2010 Kane County 132,284,981        23,970,816   55,212,581      

Kendall County 217,611,681        36,767,375   2,947,971        

2011 Kane County 115,406,949        21,077,188   46,500,648      

Kendall County 200,255,016        33,611,185   2,800,573        

2012 Kane County 105,322,142        20,071,750   43,379,949      

Kendall County 183,611,931        31,452,582   2,828,579        

2013 Kane County 95,690,557         15,885,918   42,166,350      

Kendall County 173,665,059        31,035,606   2,773,279        

2014 Kane County 93,950,487         15,947,615   41,084,650      

Kendall County 171,747,048        31,285,233   2,773,279        

2015 Kane County 98,340,197         15,641,112   43,142,637      

Kendall County 176,394,904        32,284,178   2,773,279        

Data Source: Village and County Records

N/A - Not Available

Residential

Property Property Property

Commercial Industrial
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Ratio of Total

Assessed to

Total

Actual Value

$ 470,773     $ 388,241  $ 201,946,862  $ 605,901,176     33.33% $ 0.4390  

N/A N/A 205,272,490  615,879,058     0.4390  

407,219,352  1,221,780,234  

494,539     411,850  218,053,858  654,226,997     33.33% 0.3727  

10,056       128,586  253,019,806  759,135,332     0.3660  

471,073,664  1,413,362,329  

600,802     459,791  232,064,445  696,262,961     33.33% 0.3590  

10,056       126,025  276,253,159  828,842,361     0.3634  

508,317,604  1,525,105,322  

719,732     502,703  226,916,681  680,818,125     33.33% 0.3685  

10,056       103,780  285,192,754  855,663,828     0.3664  

512,109,435  1,536,481,953  

761,544     537,493  212,767,415  638,366,082     33.33% 0.4154  

10,056       142,280  257,479,363  772,515,341     0.4156  

470,246,778  1,410,881,423  

907,720     553,817  184,446,322  553,394,305     33.33% 0.4747  

10,056       128,645  236,805,475  710,487,474     0.4746  

421,251,797  1,263,881,779  

970,041     424,227  170,168,109  510,555,383     33.33% 0.5305  

10,056       139,612  218,042,760  654,193,699     0.5305  

388,210,869  1,164,749,082  

1,054,188  409,843  155,206,856  465,667,135     33.33% 0.5726  

10,056       189,690  207,673,690  623,083,378     0.5824  

362,880,546  1,088,750,513  

1,062,546  415,211  152,460,509  457,381,527     33.33% 0.5989  

10,056       208,290  206,023,906  618,071,718     0.5937  

358,484,415  1,075,453,245  

1,114,199  440,268  158,678,413  476,035,239     33.33% 0.5883  

10,056       227,910  211,690,327  635,070,981     0.5804  

370,368,740  1,111,106,220  

Railroad

Property

Farm

Property

Total

Estimated

Actual Value

Tax

Direct

RateValue

Total Equalized

Assessed
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates - Last Ten Tax Levy Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

2007 2008 2009

Village of Montgomery

General Corporate $ 0.2107  0.1984  0.1927   0.1883  

IMRF 0.0344  0.0346  0.0345   0.0390  

Liability Insurance 0.0332  0.0367  0.0394   0.0458  

Social Security 0.0553  0.0504  0.0493   0.0487  

Police Pension 0.0553  0.0472  0.0473   0.0468  

Bonds and Interest 0.0700  -        -         -        

Prior Year Adjustment -        -        (0.0040)  -        

     Total Direct Tax Rates 0.4589  0.3673  0.3592   0.3686  

Overlapping 

Kane County 0.3452  0.3322  0.3428   0.3398  

Kane County Forest Preserve District 0.1747  0.1974  0.1932   0.1997  

Kendall County -        -        -         -        

Kendall County Forest Preserve District -        -        -         -        

Aurora Township 0.1501  0.1449  0.1450   0.1486  

Aurora Township Road District 0.0715  0.0690  0.0691   0.0703  

Oswego Township -        -        -         -        

Oswego Township Road District -        -        -         -        

Montgomery Fire Protection District 0.6242  0.6061  0.6015   0.6207  

Oswego Fire Protection District -        -        -         -        

Oswego Library District 0.1826  0.2082  0.2002   0.2018  

Fox Valley Park District 0.3746  0.4037  0.4014   0.4122  

Oswegoland Park District -        -        -         -        

Unit School District Number 129 3.5635  4.1252  4.1724   4.1835  

Unit School District Number 308 -        -        -         -        

Community College District Number 516 0.3984  0.3950  0.4322   0.4043  

     Total Overlapping Tax Rates 5.8848  6.4817  6.5578   6.5809  

Total All Rates (Representative) 6.8020  7.2163  7.2758   6.9495  

Notes:

(1) Property tax rates are per $100 of assessed valuation

(2) Representative tax rates for other government units are from Kane County Tax Code AU013,

which represents the largest portion of the Village's 2006 to 2013 EAV

(3) Representative tax rates for other government units are from Kendall County Tax Code OS009,

which represents the largest portion of the Village's 2014 to 2015 EAV

Data Source: Offices of the Kane County and Kendall County Clerks
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

0.1999  0.2283  0.2459  0.2573    0.2667    0.2607    

0.0461  0.0527  0.0580  0.0606    0.0629    0.0615    

0.0461  0.0527  0.0682  0.0714    0.0740    0.0724    

0.0543  0.0621  0.0580  0.0606    0.0629    0.0615    

0.0691  0.0789  0.1104  0.1227    0.1272    0.1243    

-        -        -        -         -         -         

-        -        -        -         -         -         

0.4155  0.4747  0.5405  0.5726    0.5937    0.5804    

0.3730  0.3990  0.4336  0.4623    -         -         

0.2201  0.2609  0.2710  0.3039    -         -         

-        -        -        -         0.8085    0.7909    

-        -        -        -         0.1826    0.1787    

0.1664  0.1882  0.2162  0.2517    -         -         

0.0764  0.0860  0.0978  0.1104    -         -         

-        -        -        -         0.0947    0.0904    

-        -        -        -         0.2124    0.2027    

0.6769  0.7000  0.7000  0.8000    -         -         

-        -        -        -         0.8045    0.7871    

0.2207  0.2453  0.2726  0.2999    0.3058    0.2996    

0.4803  0.5286  0.5863  0.6280    -         -         

-        -        -        -         0.5103    0.4973    

4.2740  5.1603  5.8896  6.6667    -         -         

-        -        -        -         7.8803    7.3176    

0.4070  0.4710  0.5312  0.5807    0.5973    0.5885    

6.8948  8.0393  8.9983  10.1036  11.3964  10.7528  

7.3103  8.5140  9.5388  10.6762  11.9901  11.3332  
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Principal Property Tax Payers - Current Fiscal Year and Nine Fiscal Years Ago

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Percentage of Percentage of

Total Village Total Village

Taxable Taxable

Assessed Assessed

Taxpayer Rank Value Taxpayer Rank Value

United Facilities $ 10,619,028   1    2.88% United Facilities $ 8,597,822     1     2.11%

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. 4,353,035     2    1.18% Williamette Industries, Inc. 3,015,423     2     0.74%

Menards, Inc. 3,187,856     3    0.87% 2001 Baseline Road, LLC 2,989,994     3     0.73%

Allsteel 900 Knell LLC 2,830,834     4    0.77% 2001 Baseline Road, LLC 2,779,320     4     0.68%

Fox River Foods, Inc. 2,784,814     5    0.76% Monmouth Capital Corp. 2,430,537     5     0.60%

Stag Montgomery, LLC 2,709,745     6    0.74% Centerpoint Properties 2,365,815     6     0.58%

IP Eat Five 2,597,593     7    0.71% Freeport Farm & Fleet Inc. 2,127,160     7     0.52%

JC Penny Properties, Inc. 2,188,961     8    0.59% FRF Leasing 1,821,850     8     0.45%

Monmouth Capital Corp. 1,933,140     9    0.53% Harris Trust & Savings

Rochester Property, LLC 1,831,799     10  0.50%      Bank HTN 3137 1,776,065     9     0.44%

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. 1,595,810     10   0.39%

35,036,805   9.53% 29,499,796   7.24%

2015 EAV $ 368,205,911 2006 EAV $ 407,239,352 

Data Source: Kane and Kendall Counties Assessors (The 2015 EAV is the most current)

Value Value

2015 Levy 2006 Levy

Taxable Taxable

Assessed Assessed
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Property Tax Levies and Collections - Last Ten Tax Levy Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Tax

Levy Percentage Percentage

Year of Levy of Levy

2006 $ 1,684,986    $ 1,667,661    98.97% $ -                  $ 1,667,661   98.97%

2007 1,735,855    1,735,135    99.96% 1,073          1,736,208   100.02%

2008 1,834,151    1,830,130    99.78% -                  1,830,130   99.78%

2009 1,881,028    1,878,698    99.88% -                  1,878,698   99.88%

2010 1,952,586    1,951,512    99.94% -                  1,951,512   99.94%

2011 1,999,478    1,995,607    99.81% -                  1,995,607   99.81%

2012 2,059,447    2,052,971    99.69% -                  2,052,971   99.69%

2013 2,096,375    2,093,262    99.85% 2,020          2,095,282   99.95%

2014 2,131,362    2,128,444    99.86% (2,467)         2,125,977   99.75%

2015 2,136,891    * * * * *

Data Source: Village Records

*Taxes are collected in two installments due in June and September of the following year.

Note: The percentage collected may exceed 100% due to the use of a weighted average of 

   taxes levied by two counties.

Total Collections to Date

for the Subsequent

Fiscal Year Amount Years Amount

Taxes Collected within the Collections

Levied Fiscal Year of the Levy in
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Sales Tax Base - Taxable Sales by Category - Last Ten Calendar Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

2007 2008 2009

General Merchandise $ 156,861 355,410 729,003 727,772

Food 173,279 160,131 194,116 175,861

Drinking and Eating Places 155,338 157,769 147,971 166,372

Apparel 2,260 1,448 72 -     

Furniture & H.H. & Radio 30,670 32,733 28,375 14,894

Lumber, Building Hardware 109,827 195,045 323,201 282,213

Automobile and Filling Stations 374,027 407,522 429,644 259,857

Drugs and Miscellaneous Retail 230,921 278,838 250,920 277,069

Agriculture and All Others 325,596 327,456 331,207 329,266

Manufacturers 186,235 216,569 161,464 112,243

Censored (1) 19,959 27,482 24,762 21,247

Totals 1,764,973 2,160,403 2,620,735 2,366,794

Village Portion of State Sales Tax Rate 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

Village Non-Home Rule Rate -     -     -     -     

Total 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

Notes:

(1) Censored - The State will not release data if 4 or fewer businesses are included in a particular 

category for each County.

(2) The Village Non-Home Rule Sales Tax was implemented on July 1, 2015.

(3) The above numbers are the total sales tax dollars received by the Village before applicable 

sales tax rebates.

Data Source: Illinois Department of Revenue SIC Reporting and Village Records

2006
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 (2)

758,004 624,501 751,216 731,581 884,321 1,489,844

156,322 172,562 186,712 179,076 161,385 245,183

188,509 166,753 177,489 174,763 171,217 327,968

-     4,210 14,541 14,019 15,067 24,467

16,054 17,684 2,374 22,547 9,446 33,435

265,305 293,067 337,541 381,898 424,927 652,700

301,975 427,877 371,747 439,511 416,930 526,431

301,107 287,564 299,006 329,801 354,712 449,040

380,789 375,008 376,804 385,633 360,361 927,918

108,189 131,142 138,385 170,761 208,833 330,015

30,842 150,838 24,506 8,346 18,700 12,132

2,507,096 2,651,206 2,680,321 2,837,936 3,025,899 5,019,133

1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

-     -     -     -     -     1.00%

1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 2.00%
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Village State Village Regional Total Rate

Portion Portion Total Non-Home Transportation Public Village

Fiscal of State of State State Rule Authority Safety (Kendall

Year Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate Rate County)

2007 Kane 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.25% 0.00% 6.50%

Kendall 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.00% 0.50% 6.75%

2008 Kane 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.25% 0.00% 6.50%

Kendall 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.00% 1.00% 7.25%

2009 Kane 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.75% 0.00% 7.00%

Kendall 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.00% 1.00% 7.25%

2010 Kane 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.75% 0.00% 7.00%

Kendall 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.00% 1.00% 7.25%

2011 Kane 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.75% 0.00% 7.00%

Kendall 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.00% 1.00% 7.25%

2012 Kane 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.75% 0.00% 7.00%

Kendall 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.00% 1.00% 7.25%

2013 Kane 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.75% 0.00% 7.00%

Kendall 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.00% 1.00% 7.25%

2014 Kane 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.75% 0.00% 7.00%

Kendall 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.00% 1.00% 7.25%

2015 Kane 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.75% 0.00% 7.00%

Kendall 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 0.00% 0.00% 1.00% 7.25%

2016 Kane 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 1.00% 0.75% 0.00% 8.00%

Kendall 1.00% 5.25% 6.25% 1.00% 0.00% 1.00% 8.25%

Data Source: Village and State Records

Note: The rates listed in this table apply to sales of general merchandise. Sales of food not

   prepared for immediate consumption, drugs and titled vehicles are subject to a different 

   tax rate. This rate is 1.75% in Kane County and 1.00% in Kendall County for sales of food and 

   7.00%  in Kane County and 6.25% in Kendall County for sales of titled vehicles.
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Percentage 

Fiscal of Personal

Year Income

2007 $ 14,520,000  $ -         $ 3,795,000  $ 968,218     $ 19,283,218  5.50% $ 1,338.46  

2008 13,990,000  -         3,295,000  919,003     18,204,003  5.20% 1,263.55  

2009 15,410,000  -         3,015,000  868,464     19,293,464  4.65% 1,130.79  

2010 14,800,000  -         2,770,000  816,563     18,386,563  4.43% 1,077.63  

2011 13,985,000  -         2,515,000  763,245     17,263,245  3.85% 936.29     

2012 13,115,000  -         2,245,000  4,825,560  20,185,560  4.50% 1,094.78  

2013 12,325,300  -         1,973,909  4,774,966  19,074,175  4.00% 1,034.50  

2014 11,336,945  201,467  6,431,249  4,627,334  22,596,995  4.73% 1,225.57  

2015 10,655,742  103,071  5,995,585  6,759,592  23,513,990  4.87% 1,275.30  

2016 9,891,082    -         5,540,147  6,534,438  21,965,667  4.56% 1,191.33  

Data Source: Village Records

Note: Details regarding the Village's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

          See Demographic and Economic Statistics schedule for personal income and population data.

Governmental Activities

Per

Bonds Payable Bonds Loans Government Capita

Total

Source Lease Source Installment Primary

Business-Type Activities

General

Revenue Revenue

General

Obligation 

Alternate

Capital

Obligation

Alternate
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Debt Net Percentage of

Payable General Actual Taxable

Fiscal From Other Obligation Value of

Year Sources Bonds Property

2007 $ 18,315,000  39,732      18,275,268  407,219,352  4.49% 1,268.50  

2008 17,285,000  41,040      17,243,960  471,073,664  3.66% 1,196.92  

2009 18,425,000  -           18,425,000  508,317,604  3.62% 1,079.89  

2010 17,570,000  -           17,570,000  512,109,435  3.43% 1,029.77  

2011 16,500,000  33,063      16,466,937  470,246,778  3.50% 893.10     

2012 15,360,000  33,063      15,326,937  421,251,797  3.64% 831.27     

2013 14,299,209  56,089      14,243,120  388,210,869  3.67% 772.49     

2014 17,768,194  59,033      17,709,161  362,880,546  4.88% 960.47     

2015 16,651,327  56,089      16,595,238  358,484,415  4.63% 900.06     

2016 15,431,229  -           15,431,229  370,368,740  4.17% 836.93     

Data Source: Village Records

Note: Details regarding the Village's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial

          statements.

          See Demographic and Economic Statistics schedule for population data.

Per 

Bonds Value Capita

Gross Total

General Estimated

Obligation Actual
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Schedule of Direct and Overlapping Bonded Debt

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Governmental Unit

Village of Montgomery $ 15,431,229      100.000 % $ 15,431,229     

Less: Self-Supported Debt (15,431,229)     100.000 % (15,431,229)   

Net Direct Bonded Debt -                   -                 

School Districts:

School District #115 76,449,474      7.790 % 5,955,414       

School District #129 127,273,000    4.320 % 5,498,194       

School District #131 128,311,175    4.230 % 5,427,563       

School District #302 95,237,027      4.330 % 4,123,763       

School District #308 315,332,010    10.530 % 33,204,461     

Community College District #516 67,145,000      4.240 % 2,846,948       

    Total School Districts 809,747,686    57,056,342     

Other Agencies:

Kane County 44,335,000      1.120 % 496,552          

Kendall County 33,413,762      8.010 % 2,676,442       

Kane County Forest Presereve District 145,140,000    1.120 % 1,625,568       

Kendall County Forest Preserve District 44,985,000      8.010 % 3,603,299       

Fox Valley Park District 42,805,000      7.860 % 3,364,473       

Oswegoland Park District 9,740,000        4.630 % 450,962          

Oswego Library District 7,270,000        19.230 % 1,398,021       

Sugar Grove Library District 5,285,000        12.540 % 662,739          

    Total Other Agencies 332,973,762    14,278,056     

    Total Overlapping Debt 1,142,721,448 71,334,398     

    Total Direct and Overlapping Debt 1,142,721,448 71,334,398     

Data Source: Kane and Kendall Clerks

Note: Overlapping and bonded debt percentages based on 2015 EAV, the most current available.

Gross Debt to Village Debt

Percentage

to Debt Village's

Applicable Share of
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Schedule of Legal Debt Margin - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

2008 2009 2010

Assessed Value of Property $ 407,219,352     471,073,664     508,317,604     512,109,435     

Debt Limit

8.625% of Assessed Value 35,122,669       40,630,104       43,842,393       44,192,914       

Total Debt Applicable to Limit 775,000            275,000            -                    -                    

Legal Debt Margin 34,347,669       40,355,104       43,842,393       44,192,914       

Total Net Debt Applicable to the Limit

as a Percentage of Debt Limit 2.256% 0.681% 0.000% 0.000%

Data Source: Audited Financial Statements

2007
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

470,246,778     421,251,797     388,210,869  362,880,546  358,484,415  368,483,500   

40,558,785       36,332,967       33,483,187    31,298,447    30,919,281    31,781,702     

-                    -                    -                -                -                -                  

40,558,785       36,332,967       33,483,187    31,298,447    30,919,281    31,781,702     

0.000% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000%
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Pledged Revenue Coverage - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Fiscal

Year Coverage 

2007 $ 3,647,287    $ 2,682,873  $ 964,414    $ 287,924       $ 196,419     1.9912       

2008 3,921,224    2,245,278  1,675,946 500,000       195,774     2.4088       

2009 2,900,870    2,323,735  577,135    330,539       172,271     1.1478       

2010 3,315,100    2,263,878  1,051,222 296,901       141,983     2.3952       

2011 3,582,980    2,499,547  1,083,433 308,298       131,614     2.4628       

2012 3,690,830    3,476,530  214,300    324,734       119,749     0.4821       

2013 4,010,153    3,127,373  882,780    419,238       183,683     1.4642       

2014 4,115,879    2,864,628  1,251,251 533,228       227,090     1.6457       

2015 4,572,131    3,204,017  1,368,114 685,374       302,158     1.3854       

2016 4,565,238    3,014,249  1,550,989 760,453       313,743     1.4439       

Data Source: Village Records

(1)  Total expenses exclusive of depreciation and bond interest.

and Other Expenses (1) Revenue Principal Interest

Charges Operating Available Debt Service

General Obligation Aleternate Revenue Source Bonds and IEPA Loans

Water Less: Net 
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Demographic and Economic Statistics - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Fiscal Unemployment

Year Population Rate (2)

2007 14,407       $ 350,306,205  $ 24,315     4.40%

2008 14,407       350,306,205  24,315     5.90%

2009 17,062       414,862,530  24,315     10.30%

2010 17,062       414,862,530  24,315     10.60%

2011 18,438       448,319,970  24,315     9.55%

2012 18,438       448,319,970  24,315     8.60%

2013 18,438       477,212,316  25,882     8.55%

2014 18,438       477,783,894  25,913     6.60%

2015 18,438       483,296,856  26,212     5.45%

2016 (3) 18,438       481,342,428  26,106     5.65%

Data Source: 

(1) US Census Bureau, 2010-2014 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

(2) Illinois Department of Employment Security, Kane and Kendall Counties

(3) Illinois Department of Employment Security, Kane and Kendall Counties, April 2016

(in Thousands) Income (1)

Per

Personal Capita

Income Personal
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Principal Employers - Current Fiscal Year and Nine Fiscal Years Ago

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Percentage Percentage

of Total of Total

Village Village

Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment

Caterpillar, Inc. 2,300   1        12.47%

Butterball 660      2        3.58%

Performanace Food Service 456      3        2.47%

Eby-Brown Co., LLC 400      5        2.17% 400      1        2.78%

VVF Illinois Services 350      4        1.90%

Wal-Mart 286      6        1.55%

Aurora Bearing Co. 251      7        1.36%

ComEd 200      8        1.08%

Hormann, LLC 200      9        1.08%

Sam's Club 170      10      0.92%

Lyon Workspace Prodcuts, LLC 400      1        2.78%

The Dial Corporation 400      1        2.78%

Fox River Foods, Inc. 340      4        2.36%

Herman Gadco, LLC 200      5        1.39%

Weyerhaeuser Co. 150      6        1.04%

Aurora Metals Divisions, LLC 112      7        0.78%

Neumann Distribution

     Centers, LLC 100      8        0.69%

The Lakone Co. 95        9        0.66%

5,273   28.58% 2,197   15.26%

Data Source: 

Montgomery Economic Development Corporation

2016 Illinois Manufacturers Directory, 2016 Illinois Services Directory, Selective telephone survey

2007 Illinois Manufacturers Directory, 2007 Illinois Services Directory, Selective telephone survey

2016 2007
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Full-Time Equivalent Village Government Employees by Function/Program - Last Ten Fiscal Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

2007 2008 2009 2010

General Government

Administration 3.50      3.50     3.00     3.00     

Finance 5.75      5.75     5.75     4.50     

Building 5.00      5.00     -       -       

Community Development 3.75      3.75     5.00     5.00     

Public Safety

Police

Sworn Officers 25.00    25.00   23.00   23.00   

Civilians/Other 10.00    10.00   11.00   11.00   

Public Works

Administration 3.00      3.00     2.00     2.00     

Street Maintenance 8.00      8.00     7.00     7.00     

Water Operations 2.00      2.00     2.00     2.00     

Building Maintenance 1.00      1.00     1.00     1.00     

Fleet Maintenance 1.50      1.50     1.50     1.50     

Totals 68.50    68.50   61.25   60.00   

Data Source: Village Records

Function/Program
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

4.00     3.00     3.88     2.38     1.88     1.88     

4.50     4.50     5.50     5.50     6.00     6.00     

-       -       -       -       -       -       

5.00     3.50     3.50     4.70     5.00     5.00     

23.00   23.00   23.00   25.00   25.00   25.00   

11.00   11.00   3.00     3.00     3.00     3.00     

2.00     2.00     2.00     2.00     2.00     2.00     

7.00     8.00     7.00     8.50     8.50     9.00     

2.00     2.00     3.00     3.00     3.00     3.00     

1.00     -       1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     

1.50     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     

61.00   58.00   52.88   56.08   56.38   56.88   

161



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Operating Indicators by Function/Program - Last Ten Calendar Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

2006 2007 2008

General Government

Accounts Payable

Checks Issued -                -                -                

ACH Transactions -                -                -                

Percent of Accounts Payable as ACH -                -                -                

Voided Checks -                -                -                

Percent of Accounts Payable Voided -                -                -                

Payroll

Direct Deposits -                -                -                

Checks Issued -                -                -                

Percent of Payroll as Direct Deposits -                -                -                

Debt

Bond Rating -                -                -                

Police

Physical Arrests 508            565            703            

Parking Violations 621            547            597            

Traffice Violations 3,243         2,978         4,715         

Truck Overweight Violations -                -                -                

Public Works

Reconstruction (Miles) 0.5             1.8             1.5             

Resurfacing (Miles) -                -                -                

Sidewalk Replacement (Sq. Ft.) -                -                -                

Parkway Tree Planting -                -                -                

Parkway Tree Removal -                -                -                

Water

Number of Accounts -                -                -                

Average Bi-Monthly Bill -                -                -                

Payment Types

Lockbox -                -                -                

Epayment (Village Website) -                -                -                

Bill Pay (Bank Website) -                -                -                

Phone -                -                -                

Credit Card -                -                -                

Direct Debit -                -                -                

Other -                -                -                

Peak Daily Consumption 4,596,000  4,332,000  4,539,000  

Average Daily Consumption 2,389,921  2,459,795  2,642,000  

Water Main Breaks 60              56              55              

Water Main Breaks Spoils Removal (Sq. Yd.) -                -                -                

Fire Hydrant Maintenance and Painting -                -                -                

New Connections 636            782            251            

Data Source: Village Records

Function/Program
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2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

-                -                -                -                -                2,455           4,206           

-                -                -                -                -                58                65                

-                -                -                -                -                2.3% 1.5%

-                -                -                -                -                23                23                

-                -                -                -                -                0.9% 0.5%

-                -                -                -                -                1,506           1,477           

-                -                -                -                -                402              334              

-                -                -                -                -                78.9% 81.6%

-                -                -                -                -                AA AA

845            930            912            2,221         994            1,505           993              

670            826            786            1,316         1,273         1,184           984              

4,314         3,940         4,023         4,141         2,474         2,758           2,884           

-                -                -                -                -                -                  77                

1.3             0.4             -                -                -                -                  -                  

-                2.0             1.5             0.6             1.1             0.9               6.7               

-                -                -                -                3,100         4,475           1,480           

-                -                -                -                142            174              282              

-                -                -                -                152            749              475              

-                -                -                -                -                9,114           9,111           

-                -                -                -                -                68.85$         70.30$         

-                -                -                -                -                -                  27.6%

-                -                -                -                -                -                  18.1%

-                -                -                -                -                -                  11.8%

-                -                -                -                -                -                  7.9%

-                -                -                -                -                -                  5.5%

-                -                -                -                -                -                  4.4%

-                -                -                -                -                -                  24.7%

4,120,000  4,159,000  4,200,590  3,907,000  3,563,800  3,732,300    3,384,000    

2,583,000  2,694,800  2,721,750  2,441,000  2,156,394  2,443,000    2,243,917    

67              55              57              53              56              44                19                

-                -                -                -            -                1,428           1,580           

-                -                -                -            300            300              325              

49              85              63              62              30              50                22                
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY, ILLINOIS

Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program - Last Ten Calendar Years

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Public Safety

Police

Stations 1      1       1       1       1         1         1         1         1         1         

Area Patrols 3      3       3       3       4         4         4         4         4         4         

Patrol Units 13    15     15     15     15       15       19       19       19       19       

Public Works

Residential Strees (Miles) 53    53     53     58     74       76       76       76       76       76       

Water

Water Mains (Miles) -  -   -   -   110     114     114     117     117     117     

Fire Hydrants -  -   -   -   1,050  1,372  1,372  1,680  1,680  1,680  

Storage Capacity

(Millions of Gallons) -  -   -   -   4.8      4.8      4.8      5.8      5.8      5.8      

Data Source: Village Records

Function/Program
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LAGE OF MONTGOMERY,
LLINOIS

MANAGEMENT LETTER

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
APRIL 30, 2016



27W457 WARRENVILLE RD. . WARRENVILLE, ILLINOIS 60555

Lauterbaçh &,Amen, LLP
PHONE 630.393.1483 . FAX 630.393.2516

www.lauterbachamen.com
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNÏANTS

September 29,2016

The Honorable Village President
Members ofthe Board of Trustees

Village of Montgomery, Illinois

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the Village of Montgomery (Village),

Illinois, foi tfre yãar ended Âpril 30,2016, we considered its intemal control structure in order to determine

o* uuáiting procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements and not to

provide assurance on the intemal control structure"

We do not intend to imply that our audit failed to disclose commendable aspects of yotrr system and

structure. For your consiãeration we herein submit our comments and suggestions which are designed to

assist in effecting improvements in internal controls and procedures. Those less significant matters, if any,

which arose dgring ìh" "o*r. of the audit, were reviewed with management as the audit field work

progressed.

The accompanying comments and recommendations are intended solely for the information and use of the

Board of Trustees, management, and others withinthe Village of Montgomery, Illinois.

We will review the status of these comments during our next audit engagement. 
'We 

have already discussed

many of these comments and suggestions with various Village personnel. We would be pleased to discuss

our comments and suggestions ñifrr.th.r detail with you 
"t 

y.* convenience, to perform any additional

study of these matters, or to review the procedures necessary to bring about desirable changes.

We commend the finance department for the well prepared audit package and we appreciate the courtesy

and assistance given to us by the entire Village staff.

få,^J*^, C,^*^\LP
LAUTERBACH & AMEN, LLP



CURRENT RECOMMENDATIONS

FUNDS WITH DEFICIT FUND BALAI.{CE

Commenj

During eur current year-end audit procedures, we noted the below funds with deficit fund balance.
See the following April 30, 2016 fund balances:

Fund 4130116

Balmorea Special Service Area

Tax Increment Financing District #2

$ (l 1,854)

(29,674)

2

Recommendation

We recommend the Village investigate the causes of the various deficits and adopt appropriate

future funding measures.

Management Response

The Village is aware of the deficit fund balance in each fund. Both instances have resulted from
spending cash prior to receipt and will be corrected over time.

FUNDS OVER BUDGET

Comment

During our current year-end audit procedures, we noted that the following funds had an excess of
actual expenditures over budget for the fiscal year:

Fund 4130116

Infrastructure Improvement

Police Drug

Emergency 911

Police Gift
Balmorea Special Service Area

Fairfield Way Special Service Area

Foxmoor Special Service Area

Tax Increment Financing District #2

Orchard Prairie North Special Service Area

Police Pension

$ 1,006,217

18,683

30,340

325

1,098

3,402

16,639

6,911

1,000

92,600

Recommendation

'We recommend the Village investigate the causes of the funds over budget and adopt appropriate

future funding measures.

Management Response

The Village is aware of the excess of actual expenditures over budget in each fund. Additional
revenue or existing fund equity was utilized for the expenditures noted above.



Village of Montgomery 
200 N. River Street    Village Board Meeting 
Montgomery, Illinois 60538    September 26, 2016 
 
Village President Brolley called the meeting to order at 7:02 p.m. followed by the Pledge of 
Allegiance.   
 

Roll Call 

 
  Trustee Sperling  Yea        Trustee Jungermann  Yea 
  Trustee Lee    Yea        Trustee Marecek  Yea 
  Trustee Heinz    No        Trustee Bond    No 
 
Also present:  Attorney Laura Julien, Village Administrator Jeff Zoephel, Chief of Police Dan Meyers, 
Deputy Chief Armando Sanders, Director of Public Works Todd Hoppenstedt, Director of Finance 
Justin VanVooren, Village Engineer Peter Wallers, Members of the Press and others. 
 

Public Participation 

 
A. Public Comments (Two Minute Opportunity).  
No public comments this evening. 
 
B. Swearing in of Village Clerk Penny FitzPatrick.  
 
C. Public Hearing on MetroNet.   
President Brolley opened the Public Hearing at ________ p.m.  He introduced Kathy Scheller from 
MetroNet in Evansville, IN, who spoke about expanding the company’s fiber optic internet, phone 
and TV network service to Montgomery residents to offer them another choice in service carriers. 
MetroNet has already brought fiber optic service to Plainfield, Romeoville, Will County, Kendall 
County and Oswego and looks forward to bringing another competitor to the local marketplace.  
Hearing no public comments, President Brolley closed the public hearing at ________ p.m. 
 
D. Public Hearing of Amendment to Annexation Agreement for Ogden Hill.  
President Brolley opened the public hearing at _________ p.m.  Hearing no public comments this 
evening, he closed the public hearing at __________ p.m. 
 

Consent Agenda 

 
A. Minutes of the Village Board Meeting of September 12, 2016.  
B. Accounts Payable through September 22, 2016 in the Amount of $739,815.50.  
C. Cancelation of October 18th Committee of the Whole Meeting. 
D. Ordinance 1733 Amending the Special Use for Ogden Hill (Second Reading).  
 
Trustee Sperling moved to approve items A‐D on the Consent Agenda. Trustee Marecek seconded 
this motion. 
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4 Yea. 0 No. Motion carried.  Trustee Sperling, Trustee Lee, Trustee Jungermann, Trustee Marecek 
voting yea. 
 

Items for Separate Action 

 
A. Ordinance 1741 Creating a Class C and Class O Liquor License for Binny’s Beverage Depot (Waiver 
of First and Passage on Second Reading). 
Administrator Zoephel clarified that the Class C License would be for liquor sales and the Class O 
License would be for liquor tasting.  President Brolley asked if they are on track to open soon and 
Administrator Zoephel stated they will be ready to turn the building over to corporate in two weeks 
and will then take four additional weeks to complete the stocking process. 
 
Trustee Jungermann moved to approve Ordinance 1741 Creating a Class C and Class O Liquor 
License for Binny’s Beverage Depot (Waiver of First and Passage on Second Reading). Trustee 
Marecek seconded this motion.  
 
4 Yea. 0 No. Motion carried.  Trustee Jungermann, Trustee Marecek, Trustee Lee, Trustee Sperling 
voting yea. 
 
B. Ordinance 1743 Authorizing the Execution of the Fifth Modification to the Annexation 
Agreement for Ogden Hill (Waiver of the First and Passage on Second Reading). 
Administrator Zoephel stated that this amendment was to allow for another monument sign for 
Binny’s which the Board had previously discussed and agreed to. Attorney Laura Julien stated that it 
requires a supermajority vote; it requires five yes votes to pass which could include President 
Brolley’s participation. She also asked that it be made subject to attorney review as part of the 
motion for a few details of the legal description to be worked out. 
 
Trustee Sperling moved to approve the Ordinance 1743 Authorizing the Execution of the Fifth 
Modification to the Annexation Agreement for Ogden Hill (Waiver of the First and Passage on 
Second Reading) with attorney review.  Trustee Marecek seconded this motion.  

5 Yea. 0 No. Motion carried.  Trustee Sperling, Trustee Lee, Trustee Jungermann, Trustee Marecek, 
President Brolley voting yea. 

 
C. Ordinance 1742 Authorizing Execution and Adoption of a Cable Television Franchise Agreement 
with CMN‐RUS, Inc. (MetroNet). (Waiver of the First and Passage on the Second Reading). 
Administrator Zoephel clarified that MetroNet would offer TV, internet and phone service as another 
service option for our residents. Trustee Lee asked if the service would be underground and if 
residents’ yards would be torn up with installation. Kathy Scheller of MetroNet advised that they 
follow ComEd aerial or underground power lines in the public easements.  
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President Brolley asked if service would be provided to the entire Village of Montgomery or just 
portions of the Village and Ms. Scheller clarified that they would provide service per the outlined 
Village boundaries. Trustee Jungermann inquired how the lines would be trenched and installed to 
each box and Ms. Scheller stipulated that they use directional boring which is less invasive to 
disrupting residents’ lawns. Trustee Marecek asked if MetroNet would available to all residents and 
Kathy explained that service will be available at the utility boxes and installed to each home 
individually as they sign up. President Brolley was pleased to have another fiber optic service provider 
offering competitive rates and service options to Montgomery residents.  
 
Trustee Jungermann moved to approve Ordinance 1742 Authorizing Execution and Adoption of a 
Cable Television Franchise Agreement with CMN‐RUS, Inc. (MetroNet). (Waiver of the First and 
Passage on the Second Reading). Trustee Marecek seconded this motion. 
 
4 Yea. 0 No. Motion carried.  Trustee Jungermann, Trustee Marecek, Trustee Lee, Trustee Sperling 
voting yea. 
 
D. Resolution 16‐012 Authorization to Join Illinois Public Works Mutual Aid Network. 
Director Hoppenstedt outlined the scope and benefits of joining the Illinois Public Works Mutual Aid 
Network. He explained how it would impact the Village and provide a cost savings in the event of a 
weather emergency or water, waste water or flooding scenario. He stressed that it would provide a 
cost savings over contract work and expedite the clean up after a storm.  Director Hoppenstedt 
recommended that the Village join the network based on the benefits of being a member with an 
annual $250 occurrence based on the Village of Montgomery’s population. Trustee Jungermann 
agreed that it was a good idea and said he appreciated Director Hoppenstedt’s efforts for finding a 
way to save the Village money. 
 
Trustee Marecek moved to approve Resolution 16‐012 Authorization to Join Illinois Public Works 
Mutual Aid Network. Trustee Jungermann seconded this motion.  
 
4 Yea. 0 No. Motion carried. Trustee Marecek, Trustee Sperling, Trustee Lee, Trustee Jungermann 
voting yea. 
 
E. Award of Contract to Geneva construction for ComEd ROW Shared Use Path in the Amount of 
$76,733.00. 
Director Hoppenstedt outlined that Engineering Enterprises Inc. performed a bid letting on the 
Village’s behalf for the installation of a shared use path through the ComEd right of away from 
Gordon to Prescott. The engineer’s estimate for this work was over $80,000, with five bids coming in 
and Geneva Construction coming in the lowest at $76,733. Director Hoppenstedt recommended that 
the contract be awarded to Geneva Construction. 
 
Trustee Marecek asked and Director Hoppenstedt clarified that the project would follow the ComEd 
easement from Gordon to Prescott in Blackberry Crossing West with the developer paying for the 
project and no Village funds being used. Trustee Jungermann asked and Director Hoppenstedt 
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confirmed that Geneva Construction had done a good job for the Village previously with no work 
issues and was deemed a favorable contractor. 
 
Trustee Marecek moved to approve Award of Contract to Geneva construction for ComEd ROW 
Shared Use Path in the Amount of $76,733.00. Trustee Jungermann seconded this motion.  
 
4 Yea. 0 No. Motion carried.  Trustee Marecek, Trustee Sperling, Trustee Lee, Trustee Jungermann 
voting yea. 
 
F. Recommendation to Purchase a Vactron LP833SDT Demo Unit at a cost of $44,449.00.   
Director Hoppenstedt summarized the benefit of acquiring a Vactron LP833SDT gently used trailer 
mounted hydro excavator. He outlined that this unit was previously rented by the Village and used to 
demonstrate the value of hydro excavation to his staff. Some benefits of using this equipment were a 
cost and time savings over conventional excavation methods. Director Hoppenstedt recommended 
the purchase of this valuable and hard to come by rental unit. The unit would come with a full two‐
year warranty and be paid for using a surplus of funds available in the FY17 Equipment Replacement 
Fund and would be purchased in lieu of another excavator.  
 
Trustee Sperling was pleased with finding this piece of equipment at a cost savings that would also 
save on labor. Director Hoppenstedt estimated that $70,000 was saved over the two‐week rental 
period in time and labor when compared to conventional excavation methods.  
 
President Brolley asked if this unit would help with a quicker response time to water main breaks.  
Director Hoppenstedt clarified that this unit can be utilized on water main breaks, but its most 
significant value would be in the repair of valve boxes without using outside contractors. This would 
allow for quicker response time using this machine to shut off water and avoid flooding if water main 
breaks should occur.  
 
Trustee Marecek complemented Director Hoppenstedt on acquiring this used machine and getting 
the rental company to credit the Village for the 20 rental hours used on this machine. Trustee 
Jungermann thanked Director Hoppenstedt for being fiscally conservative in spending money to save 
money with the purchase of this unit and the subsequent $130,000 in overall savings from this 
purchase. Trustee Lee was pleased that it fit into the budget.  
 
Trustee Jungermann moved to approve Recommendation to Purchase a Vactron LP833SDT Demo 
Unit at a cost of $44,449.00. Trustee Marecek seconded this motion.  
 
4 Yea. 0 No. Motion carried.  Trustee Jungermann, Trustee Marecek, Trustee Sperling, Trustee Lee 
voting yea. 
 
G. Lease Agreement for John Deere 544H to Replace the Village’s Wheel Loader. 
Director Hoppenstedt summarized this item and recommended replacement of the Case 621 wheel 
loader due to mechanical issues, prior and expected maintenance costs, a need for new tires, rims 
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and more. He recommended replacement of this machine immediately, instead of in May 2017, using 
a $1 buyout lease structure to cover the first six months of payments. It would be possible to pay the 
machine off by this time next year with no penalties.  
 
Director Hoppenstedt compared replacement machines made by Caterpillar, John Deere and 
Komatsu but settled on the John Deere as it would include a forklift attachment, would cost $5,500 
less overall than other models, is more operator intuitive, offers a pay‐as‐you‐go preventative 
maintenance structure and a warranty that includes transportation and the cost of a loaner in the 
event of a breakdown. It would also offer the convenience of a local dealer, a more widely used 
forklift attachment and the best trade in allowance on the current machine.  
 
Trustee Sperling clarified this wheel loader being discussed was a surplus list item to be traded in. 
Trustee Marecek asked if the unit would be received prior to the winter and Director Hoppenstedt 
advised that there would be a 45‐day lead time for ordering. Trustee Marecek clarified that the local 
Caterpillar plant does not manufacture this machine so buying it from them was not an option.  
 
Trustee Lee clarified with Director Hoppenstedt that the unit could be paid off by Fall of 2017 using 
the FY18 budget for use of purchases in May of 2017 with a $1 buyout. 
 
Trustee Marecek clarified with Director Hoppenstedt that the life expectancy of the machine is 6‐20 
years but should be traded every six years to avoid maintenance costs and retain residual trade in 
value. Trustee Marecek inquired about the maintenance agreement and Director Hoppenstedt 
clarified that John Deere has a pay‐as‐you‐go maintenance agreement through monthly accrual.  
 
Trustee Lee moved to approve a Lease Agreement for John Deere 544H to Replace the Village’s 
Wheel Loader. Trustee Jungermann seconded this motion.  
 
4 Yea. 0 No. Motion carried.  Trustee Lee, Trustee Jungermann, Trustee Marecek, Trustee Sperling 
voting yea. 
 

Items for Discussion 

 
Little Free Libraries 
Administrator Zoephel presented an inquiry about installing a Little Free Library on Village property 
which is allowed with permission from the Board. He wanted to have a policy discussion with the 
Board to entertain if that was something they wanted to do. The concern is that if it is placed on 
Village property that Public Works may end up installing and maintaining it. That may become an 
issue if these units become more prevalent. The Little Library Steward requesting the permit would 
be required to sign a Stewardship Agreement, but Administrator Zoephel wanted to discuss 
maintenance responsibilities if the Steward were to move or the unit was damaged.   
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Trustee Marecek asked whether a previously installed Little Free Library in Foxmoor/Fairfield was 
installed on HOA property. Administrator Zoephel said he believed that it was on Village property. 
President Brolley asked if Public Works installed that unit and Director Hoppenstedt clarified that 
they set the post in concrete for the unit on the Fairfield side on Park District property, but did not 
install the actual unit to it. Public Works did not set the unit on the Foxmoor side. Trustee Sperling 
asked how many Little Free Libraries exist currently and Trustee Marecek clarified that three exist 
with a third one being on private property in Lakewood Creek on Avalon.  
 
Trustee Jungermann asked if any issues had been reported of inappropriate use or issues with the 
units. Policy Chief Meyers said they get damaged often and are subject to vandalism. President 
Brolley asserted if the Montgomery Foundation donates the unit to the Steward for public good that 
the Village could find a spot on village property for use without Public Works having to handle 
maintenance of the unit or oversight of the materials inside. The Steward should be responsible or 
hand it back to the Montgomery Foundation to take it over with no cost to the Village to install or 
maintain them.  
 
Trustee Jungermann had no issue with them being placed on public property but was disheartened to 
hear that the units are subject to vandalism. Trustee Marecek and Trustee Lee were concerned about 
the liability issue.  They asked who is monitoring the content when the unit is on public property and 
whether it come back to the Village.   
 
Attorney Laura Julien clarified that the Stewardship Agreement could stipulate that the Steward takes 
control and responsibility and monitors the unit and its content. However, she said there could be 
problems with enforcement of the agreement and the Village’s role in the case of an issue.  
 
President Brolley discussed that signage should be placed on any unit that is placed on public 
property that recognizes the Steward as responsible for the unit and that all costs and maintenance 
go back to the Steward and Foundation and not back to the Village when any issues or problems 
arise. If it does become an issue or problem, then the Village would have to amend its stance 
accordingly. 
 
Administrator Zoephel clarified that the Village Agreement wording would have to be amended as 
the Little Free Libraries are supposed to be located within three feet of the property line and not on 
private property. The proposed unit is on private property near a gazebo so the wording would have 
to be changed as to how it is currently written since it is not within three feet of the property line. 
 

New or Unfinished Business 

 
Trustee Sperling praised Director Hoppenstedt and the Public Works staff for their quick response 
with handling a problem in tearing up and reinstalling driveways and sidewalks in her neighborhood. 
The contractor involved was very grateful to be able to continue their project with little interruption.  
 



Village Board Meeting 
September 26, 2016 
Page 7 of 7 
 
Trustee Marecek passed on high praise for Chief Meyers and the Police Department for quickly 
handling and calming a situation that took place at Boulder Hill School. The Boulder Hill Principal was 
grateful and wanted his thanks passed on.  
 

Future Meetings  

 
A. Village Board Meeting – Monday, October 10th, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. 
B. Beautification Committee – Monday, October 12th, 2016 at 6:00 p.m.  
C. Historic Preservation Commission – Monday, October 17th, 2016 at 6:30 p.m.  
D. Committee of the Whole Meeting – Tuesday, October 18th, 2016 at 7:00 pm. (Canceled) 
E. Village Board Meeting – Monday, October 24, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. 
 
President Brolley entertained a motion and Trustee Jungermann moved to approve items A‐E of 
Future Meetings and to go into Executive Session to discuss two matters. Trustee Marecek 
seconded this motion.  
 
4 Yea. 0 No. Motion carried.  Trustee Jungermann, Trustee Marecek, Trustee Sperling, Trustee Lee 
voting yea. 
 

Executive Session – 7:46 p.m. 

 
A. To Discuss Collective Negotiating Matters Pursuant to 5 ILCS 120/2 (c)(2).  

 
B. To Discuss the Employment of an Employee Pursuant to 5 ILCS 120/2 (c)(1). 
 

Adjournment: 8:29 p.m. 

 
President Brolley called the meeting back to order at 8:28 p.m. 
 
Trustee Jungermann moved to adjourn the meeting, seconded by Trustee Marecek. 
 
4 Yea. 0 No. Motion carried.  Trustee Jungermann, Trustee Marecek, Trustee Sperling, Trustee Lee 
voting yea. 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
 
 
 
Penny Fitzpatrick 
Village Clerk 



TYPE NUMBER VALUATION BUILDING FEE

RESIDENTIAL 0 $0.00 $0.00

MULTI-FAMILY 0 $0.00 $0.00

INDUSTRIAL 1 $10,979,000.00 $43,490.00

COMMERCIAL 1 $950,000.00 $3,532.50

RESIDENTIAL 
   ADDITIONS & 19 $731,772.00 $1,850.00
   ALTERATIONS

INDUSTRIAL
   ADDITIONS & 0 $0.00 $0.00
   ALTERATIONS

COMMERCIAL
   ADDITIONS & 0 $0.00 $0.00
   ALTERATIONS

GARAGE 0 $0.00 $0.00

SWIMMING POOL 1 $4,300.00 $55.00

MISCELLANEOUS 18 $142,657.00 $1,452.00

REINSPECTIONS 0 $0.00 $0.00

           TOTAL 40 $12,807,729.00 $50,379.50

YEAR TO DATE VALUATION

PREVIOUS YEAR   62 $1,980,753.00 $12,218.00

PERMITS FINALIZED         25 OCCUPANCIES ISSUED September = 1

PERMITS PENDING: 931 SINGLE FAMILY- 1

INDUSTRIAL 0

INSPECTIONS: VIOLATIONS: September = 70
DECK POST HOLES 7 CORRECTED: 70
ELECTRIC SERVICE 3
FINAL 31 UG ELECTRICAL 1
FINAL BUILDING 2 UG PLUMBING 1
FINAL ELECTRICAL 2 WAL AND CEILING 2
FINAL MECHANICAL 2 WATER METER 1
ROUGH CONCRETE PREP 13 FINAL FRAMING 1
ROUGH ELECTRICAL 3 WATER NETER 1
ROUGH FRAMING 1 PLUMBING 30

TOTAL 101
Completed Inspections 
on foreclosed properties

 BUILDING REPORT
MONTH OF: September 2016



                       VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY - WATER DEPARTMENT

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE REPORT FOR SEPTEMBER, 2016

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE BALANCE - END OF LAST MONTH 287,328.92$              

WATER BILLING ACTIVITY
1,000 Gals. Water Charge Service Charge Totals

MONTGOMERY
Residential 61188 334,873.15$      $37,331.20 372,204.35$              
Commercial & Ind. 27111 148,020.63$      148,020.63$              
Bulk water 21 412.65$            412.65$                     
      Totals 88,320    $483,306.43 $37,331.20 520,637.63$              

OUT OF TOWN
Boulder Hill Residential 24149 158,175.95$      $20,906.64 $20,906.64
Boulder Hill Commercial 3,187      $20,874.85 $20,874.85
Blackberry 782         $5,122.10 $5,122.10
      Totals 28,118    $184,172.90 $20,906.64 $205,079.54

WATER METER CHARGES
TAP ON & FOOTAGE FEES
CODE VIOLATIONS
MISCELLANEOUS CHARGES

TOTAL WATER BILLING 116,438  $667,479.33 $58,237.84 $725,717.17

OTHER CHARGES LOCIS Computer Error (11,216.80)$               
SEWER 24,875.05$                

PENALTIES 22,802.05$                
BHINF 84,191.50$                

ADJUSTMENTS 19,065.18$                
MISC - GARBAGE 220,867.76$              

TOTAL OTHER CHARGES 360,584.74$              

LESS: PAYMENTS RECEIVED DURING THE MONTH 213,685.88$              

 

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE BALANCE - END OF CURRENT MONTH 1,159,944.95$           



All Departments Amount

Chase 9,742.31
Responsive 3,795.00
Verizon 1,955.59

Community Development/Building Department

Esser Hayes 30.00
Fed Ex 64.06
Inland 2,500.00
Johns Tree Service 2,000.00
Thompson Elevator 43.00
Twin Oaks 400.00

Elected Officials

Conservation Foundation 250.00
J3 Timing 1,351.75
Kart Werks 180.00
Proforma 3,208.94
VanDuser 75.00

Finance Department/Water Billing

AT&T 75.00
Azavar Audit 1,666.39
Comcast 239.85
Inland 168,584.58
Lauterbach & Amen 2,050.00
Office Depot 139.53
Pitney Bowes 474.00
USPS 3,427.03

Human Resources/Payroll

Aflac 461.58
Better Business 240.00
Dearborn 332.75
Fidelity 406.36
Guardian 4,323.28
International Union of Operating Engineers 306.00
International Union of Operating Engineers 1,249.56
Legal Shield 254.04
Nationwide 457 435.00

Village of Montgomery
Bills to be Paid

October 10, 2016



Nationwide IRA 100.00
Provident Life 720.66
State Disbursement Unit 957.53

Police Department

Archangels 175.00
AT&T Mobility 9,520.63
Communications Revolving Fund 506.40
Director of Il State Police 762.00
Doug Marecek 28.60
Fullers Car Wash 225.00
iSolved 489.00
KenCom 65,160.15
Kieslers 197.12
Lee Body Shop 75.00
Marberry 20.00
Office Depot 171.57
On-Target 250.00
Oriental Trading 561.37
Precsion Cartridge 986.22
Quill 351.94
St Action Pro 58.90
WatchGuard 26,061.00
Zuma 142.94

Public Works Department

Alarm Detection 2,500.00
Benchmark 15,500.00
Carroll 568.03
CES 679.40
Coffman 21.00
Comcast 202.85
ComEd 1,258.15
Constellation 7,214.60
Crescent Electric 91.66
Currie Motors 28,028.00
Dan Gier 60.00
Dynegy 3,468.31
Edmonds 631.38
Farm N Fleet 23.80
Feece Oil 4,527.31
Fox Metro 11,100.24
Fox Metro 550.00
G&K 78.82
Genco 8,500.00
Hach 1,395.30
Henry Pratt 165.42
Hoving Clean Sweep 8,092.05



Illco 59.00
Il Section AWWA 48.00
Kendall Cty Concrete 990.00
Kimball Midwest 771.77
Kramer Tree 730.00
Linde 3,188.96
Line X 609.00
Meade 520.00
Menards 282.42
Metallo Stump Removal 342.70
Midwest Lighting 324.68
Midwest Salt 5,020.48
Nicor 66.71
Ozinga 2,219.00
Parent Petroleum 187.50
Ralph Helm 26.01
Republic 111,081.45
Ron Westphal 701.84
Russo Power 223.71
Sauer Mfg 4,558.98
Superior Asphalt 910.35
Traffic Control & Protection 631.25
Utility Dynamics 3,331.00
Viking  Chemical 5,242.30
Village of Oswego 1,266.66
Water Products 1,576.26
Water Services 12,870.00
Water Solutions 2,183.96

Village Administrator's Office/Village Hall

Engler Callaway 2,001.00
Leaf 159.00

Grand Total 574,561.94



407,810 
 
 

VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY 
REQUEST FOR BOARD OF TRUSTEES ACTION 

FOR INCLUSION ON BOARD AGENDA 
BIDS AND PROPOSALS 

  
 
To: Village President and Board of Trustees 
From: Jeff Zoephel, Village Administrator 
Date: October 4, 2016 B of T Date:  October 10, 2016 
 
Title: Pearl Street Storm Sewer Rehabilitation 
 
Submitted By:  Todd Hoppenstedt, Director of Public Works 
 
RESULTS: 
Date Bids Were Published: July 28, 2016        Date Bidding Closed:  August 11, 2016 
Total Number of Bids Received:  6 
Total Number of Bidders Meeting Specifications:   6 
Bid Security Required ..................................................................... Yes _X__  No ____ 
Performance Bond Required ........................................................... Yes _X__  No ____ 
Were Any Bids Withdrawn ............................................................. Yes ____  No __X  
Explanation  
Waiver of Bids Requested? ............................................................. Yes ____  No __X  
     If yes, explain:  
 
Award Recommended to Lowest Responsible Bidder ................... Yes _X__  No ____ 
     If no, explain:   
 
FISCAL IMPACT:     
Budget Account 134-4010-560-79-04 
Estimate of Construction Costs:                    $318,240.00 
Amount of Award:                                        $162,750.00 
 
BACKGROUND/RECOMMENDATION: 
Has Recommended Bidder Worked for Village Previously? ......... Yes _   _   No __X__ 
     If yes, was quality of work acceptable? ..................................... Yes _  __  No ____ 
Was item bid in accordance with 720 ILCS 5/33 E-I? ................... Yes _X__  No ____ 
Waiver of Bids – 720 ILCS 5/33 E-I does not apply ...................... Yes _X__  No ____ 
       
REVIEW (as needed): 
 
Finance Director ______________________________________Date: _____________ 
 
Village Administrator __________________________________Date: _____________ 
 
NOTE: All materials must be submitted to and approved by the Village Administrator by 12:00 
noon, Tuesday, prior to the Agenda distribution.  





BID TABULATION
PEARL STREET STORM SEWER REHABILITATION FOR UV CURED FIBERGLASS LINER METHOD

VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY

BID TABULATION ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE
BIDS RECD 8/11/2016 52 Wheeler Road

Sugar Grove, IL  60554

ITEM UNIT UNIT
NO. DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT

1
CURED IN PLACE PIPE LINER - UV CURED FIBERGLASS LINER, 24" 
COMPLETE FOOT 1,295 116.00$             150,220.00$      200.00$             259,000.00$      

2 REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT OF TOP OF EXISTING MANHOLE EACH 1 7,103.00            7,103.00$          3,000.00$          3,000.00$          

3 MANHOLE REHABILITATION, CEMENTITIOUS LINER FOOT 23 375.00               8,625.00$          200.00$             4,600.00$          

4 CLASS D PAVEMENT PATCH, 14" SQ. YD. 11 319.00               3,509.00$          65.00$               715.00$             

5 HEAVY ROOT CLEANING FOOT 25 2.00                   50.00$               25.00$               625.00$             

6 PROTRUDING TAP REMOVAL EACH 2 125.00               250.00$             150.00$             300.00$             

7 TRAFFIC CONTROL AND PROTECTION L SUM 1 4,000.00            4,000.00$          20,000.00$        20,000.00$        

8 ALLOWANCE-ITEMS ORDERED BY THE ENGINEER UNIT 30,000 1.00                   30,000.00$        1.00$                 30,000.00$        

TOTAL (Items 1 - 8) 203,757.00 318,240.00

% BELOW/ABOVE ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE -36.0%  

Peoria, IL  61612

J.C. DILLON
P.O. Box 3590

ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC.
52 WHEELER ROAD, SUGAR GROVE, ILLINOIS



BID TABULATION
PEARL STREET STORM SEWER REHABILITATION FOR HEAT CURED POLYESTER LINER METHOD

VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY

BID TABULATION INSITUFORM TECHNOLOGIES ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE
BIDS RECD 8/11/2016 17988 Edison Avenue 52 Wheeler Road

Chesterfield, MO  63005 Sugar Grove, IL  60554
    

ITEM UNIT UNIT UNIT UNIT UNIT
NO. DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT

1
CURED IN PLACE PIPE LINER - HEAT CURED POLYESTER LINER, 24" 
COMPLETE FOOT 1,295 86.00$               111,370.00$      85.50$               110,722.50$      89.50$               115,902.50$      100.00$             129,500.00$      103.00$             133,385.00$      200.00$             259,000.00$      

2 REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT OF TOP OF EXISTING MANHOLE EACH 1 5,500.00            5,500.00$          4,950.00            4,950.00            5,819.70$          5,819.70$          3,000.00            3,000.00$          22,500.00          22,500.00$        3,000.00            3,000.00            

3 MANHOLE REHABILITATION, CEMENTITIOUS LINER FOOT 23 405.00               9,315.00$          190.00               4,370.00            428.50$             9,855.50$          365.00               8,395.00$          280.00               6,440.00$          200.00               4,600.00            

4 CLASS D PAVEMENT PATCH, 14" SQ. YD. 11 65.00                 715.00$             345.00               3,795.00            68.80$               756.80$             330.00               3,630.00$          375.00               4,125.00$          65.00                 715.00               

5 HEAVY ROOT CLEANING FOOT 25 10.00                 250.00$             125.00               3,125.00            55.80$               1,395.00$          30.00                 750.00$             40.00                 1,000.00$          25.00                 625.00               

6 PROTRUDING TAP REMOVAL EACH 2 300.00               600.00$             3,500.00            7,000.00            558.50$             1,117.00$          600.00               1,200.00$          500.00               1,000.00$          150.00               300.00               

7 TRAFFIC CONTROL AND PROTECTION L SUM 1 5,000.00            5,000.00$          1,000.00            1,000.00            4,937.50$          4,937.50$          6,500.00            6,500.00$          11,135.00          11,135.00$        20,000.00          20,000.00          

8 ALLOWANCE-ITEMS ORDERED BY THE ENGINEER UNIT 30,000 1.00                   30,000.00$        1.00                   30,000.00          1.00$                 30,000.00$        1.00                   30,000.00$        1.00                   30,000.00$        1.00                   30,000.00          

TOTAL (Items 1 - 8) 162,750.00 164,962.50 169,784.00 182,975.00 209,585.00 318,240.00

% BELOW/ABOVE ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE -48.9% -48.2% -46.6% -42.5% -34.1%

MICHELS PIPE SERVICES
817 West Main Street

Brownsville, WI  53006

HOERR CONSTRUCTION
1601-D W Luthy Drive

Peoria, IL  61612O'Fallon, MO  63366 Bridgeview, IL  60455

SAK CONSTRUCTION, LLC. VISU-SEWER
864 Hoff Road 9014 S. Thomas Avenue

ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC.
52 WHEELER ROAD, SUGAR GROVE, ILLINOIS



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY 
REQUEST FOR BOARD OF TRUSTEES ACTION 

FOR INCLUSION ON BOARD AGENDA 
 

 
 
____  Resolution or Ordinance (Blue) 
   X     Recommendation of Boards, Commissions & Committees (Green) 
          Other Business (Pink) 
 
 
To: Village President and Board of Trustees 
 
From: Jeff Zoephel, Village Administrator 
 
Date: October 7, 2016 B of T Date:  October 10, 2016  
 
Subject: Recommendation of the Plan Commission on PC 2016-025 SU Special Use for 

Outdoor Storage Including Alternative Surfaces at 1415 Bohr Avenue – Ruben 
Hernandez. 

 
Submitted By:  Jerad Chipman AICP, Senior Planner 
 
Background/Policy Implications: 
The Petitioner, Ruben Hernandez, is requesting approval of a special use for outdoor storage 
and alternative surfaces at 1415 Bohr Avenue.  The Petitioner is proposing construction of a 
multi-tenant industrial building and is requesting entitlements to allow for storage in the rear of 
the site on a gravel surface.  The Petitioner has requested several variances to the Zoning 
Ordinance that are being processed separately.  The Plan Commission discussed the item 
resulting in the following motion. 
 
The Plan Commission recommended denial of 2016-026 SU special use for outdoor storage and 
alternative surfaces at 1415 Bohr Avenue. The motion passed 5-0. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Describe Fiscal Impact/Budget Account Number and Cost: 
 
Review: 
 

Village Administrator _____Jeff Zoephel____________                      Date: 10/7/2016  
 
NOTE: All materials must be submitted to and approved by the Village Manager by 12:00 noon, 
Thursday, prior to the Agenda distribution. 
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2016-026 1415 Bohr Ave. Ruben Hernandez 
Special Use Location Map



 

 
 
 
PC 2016-026 
PLAN COMMISSION ADVISORY REPORT 
 
To:  Chair Hammond and Members of the Plan Commission 
 
From:  Jerad Chipman, AICP 
  Senior Planner 
 
Date:  September 27, 2016 
 
Subject: Outdoor Storage and Alternative Surfaces Located at 1415 Bohr Ave. - Special Use and 

Site Plan.  
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Petitioner:    Ruben Hernandez 
    

 Location/Address:  1415 Bohr Avenue  
  
Requests: Special Uses for Outdoor Storage and Alternative Surfaces. 

 
Current Zoning: M-2 General Manufacturing District 
 
Comprehensive Plan: Heavy Industrial 
 
Surrounding Land Uses:  
 

Location  Adjacent Land Use Adjacent Zoning 
North  Industrial M-2 
East  Industrial M-2 
South   Residential Unincorporated Farming 

District 
West Residential and 

Agricultural 
Unincorporated Farming 
District 

 
Background: 
The Petitioner is requesting approval of a special use for outdoor storage of materials related to a 
concrete business and a potential future tenant.  The special use request includes an allowance for the 
operation to take place on a gravel surface.  The area is currently composed of a gravel surface.  The 
Petitioner intends to build an industrial building on the property that would house one (1) to two (2) 
tenants, and the storage yard would be accessory to the potential tenants.  The Petitioner owns the 
parcel to the west, which is unincorporated and is currently being utilized as agricultural crop land.   
 
 



Page 2 
(2016-026) 1415 Bohr Ave. Outdoor Storage and Alternative Surfaces 

Special Use and Site Plan 
September 27, 2016 

 
 
Conformance with the Comprehensive Plan: 
The proposed land use conforms to the Comprehensive Plan as it indicates that the location be utilized 
as Heavy Industrial. 
 
Zoning: 
The property is zoned M-2 General Manufacturing District.  Outdoor storage and alternative surfaces 
are allowed as special uses in the M-2 District.  The Petitioner is requesting relief from the Zoning 
Ordinance in the form of a variance from the alternative surfaces setback from public right-of-ways.  
The variance is being processed through the subsequent Zoning Board of Appeals meeting.       
 
Bulk Standards: 
The front yard setback is twenty-five (25) feet.  The proposed plan indicated the building being setback 
over sixty (60) feet, however, the parking drive aisle encroaches into the front yard setback.  The 
Zoning Ordinance requires the entire front yard be composed of landscaping with the exception of 
sidewalks and curb cuts/drive entrances.  The Petitioner is requesting relief from the Zoning Ordinance 
in the form of a variance from the front yard setback 
 
The parcel’s street frontage is 117 feet wide.  The Zoning Ordinance states that the side yard setbacks 
are ten (10) percent of the lot width but no greater than twenty (20) feet.  This results in side yard 
setbacks of eleven (11) feet.  The east side yard setback from Bohr Avenue to the end of the building 
complies with the Zoning Ordinance, but the side yard setback behind the building is indicated to be 
utilized as a storage yard.  The Zoning Ordinance does not allow the encroachment of the storage yard 
into the side yard setback.  The west side yard setback does not comply with the Zoning Ordinance as it 
has been reduced to three (3) feet.  The remainder of the west side yard is indicated to be a drive aisle 
to access the rear of the site.  Similar to the front yard setback the Zoning Ordinance requires the 
entire side yard be composed of landscaping with the exception of sidewalks and curb cuts/drive 
entrances.  The Petitioner is requesting relief from the Zoning Ordinance in the form of a variance from 
the side yard setbacks. 
 
The rear yard setback complies with the Zoning Ordinance.   
 
A building elevation has not been submitted, however, the petitioner has indicated that the structure 
will not exceed the maximum height of forty-five (45) feet.   
 
The proposed development complies with the floor area ratio (FAR) maximum indicated in the Zoning 
Ordinance.  
 
Parking: Number of Spaces, Handicap Spaces, Drive Aisles & Dimensions:   
The proposed plan indicates six (6) parking spaces, one of which is an accessible space.  The square 
footage of the building footprints is 4,960.  The Zoning Ordinance requires a minimum of 1 space per 
300 square feet for office space and 1 space per 1,000 square feet of warehouse space.  As the Village 
staff currently does not have knowledge of how large the office area is proposed to be, staff is unable to 
calculate the number of spaces precisely.  If there is 4,300 square feet of warehouse and 660 square feet 
of office, that would result in six (6) spaces. 
 
All drive aisles comply with the Zoning Ordinance minimum of twenty-four (24) feet wide. 
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(2016-026) 1415 Bohr Ave. Outdoor Storage and Alternative Surfaces 

Special Use and Site Plan 
September 27, 2016 

 
 
Landscape islands are required at the end of the row of parking spaces.  There are currently no 
landscape islands indicated on the plan.   

 
Landscaping/Screening: 
Landscaping has been indicated on page three of the plan set.  The proposed landscaping is deficient per 
the Zoning Ordinance as there is a lack of landscaping in the side yards and an absence in landscape beds 
in the front yard.   
 
The Zoning Ordinance’s minimum standard is an eight (8) foot tall wood privacy fence for outdoor 
storage uses.  The fence is required to enclose the outdoor storage area.  The plan indicates a six (6) 
foot tall board on board fence across the rear of the site.  The proposed fence does not comply with 
the Zoning Ordinance due to the proposed height of the fence and that the fence does not enclose the 
outdoor storage area.   
 
Lighting: 
The plan does not indicate any lighting.  A photometric plan shall be submitted in the future.   
 
Access: 
The plan indicates an entrance on the western end of the property off of Bohr Avenue for the purpose 
of accessing the parking lot and storage area in the rear of the building.  Another access point is 
indicated on the east side of the property for deliveries to a proposed dock.  Staff is concerned with the 
location of this access point as it would require a semi-truck to back up on Bohr Avenue effectively 
blocking the street for a period of time.  Currently the street is a dead end, however, in the event that 
the street connects to Baseline Road, per the Village’s long range transportation plan, blocking traffic on 
the road for a period of time may be problematic.   
 
Alternative Surfaces: 
The Petitioner is requesting use of an alternative surface.  They are proposing that the surface be 
composed of gravel.  There are two primary concerns with allowing a gravel surface, which are the 
creation of dust and tracking debris onto public streets.  These concerns prompted the greater setback 
from residential districts and public right-of-ways that will be discussed in the subsequent variance 
request.  In addition to the setback, staff recommends the following conditions be attached to the 
special use.   
 

1. The Petitioner is required to submit a detailed plan describing the type and weight of 
vehicles, items to be stored on the surface, average daily vehicle trips conducted on the 
surface, other operations conducted on the site and dust mitigation activities.  Processing of 
aggregate materials is prohibited. 

     
2. Storage spaces, drives and aisles shall be constructed of a minimum of 10 inches of material 

uniformly compacted and approved by the Village Engineer.  Specified material shall be 
approved by the Village Engineer.  Additional material depth may be required based on the 
use of the site subject to Village Engineer approval. 

 
3. The Petitioner is required to engage in periodic dust control measures, including treating 

the alternative surface with calcium chloride on an as needed basis.   
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(2016-026) 1415 Bohr Ave. Outdoor Storage and Alternative Surfaces 

Special Use and Site Plan 
September 27, 2016 

 
 

4. The Petitioner shall provide the Village an access easement over all areas utilizing an 
alternative surface pursuant to these provisions and a $5,000 nuisance deposit.  In 
accordance with said easement, the Village will conduct periodic reviews of the site’s dust 
control and to perform any mitigation actions it deems necessary.  Prior to engaging in site 
remediation, the Village will provide the Petitioner with written notice identifying the 
violation and the Petitioner will be afforded seventy-two (72) hours to resolve.  To the 
extent that the Petitioner fails to adequately address said violation to the satisfaction of the 
Village, thereby requiring Village to remediate said nuisance, the Village will deduct all 
applicable funds from the Petitioner’s deposit.  The Petitioner will be required to replenish 
said deposit within fifteen (15) days of receiving notice so that the account remains its 
proper balance of $5,000.00.  

 
6. The alternative surface shall be maintained by the Petitioner to the satisfaction of the 

Director of the Community Development Department or other designee of the Village 
Administrator, including re-grading or restoration as needed due to traffic use, or storm 
related degradation. In the event that the alternative surface material degrades to a point 
that increases the nuisance occurrences the material shall be removed and replaced with 
fresh material. 

 
Outdoor Storage Height: 
The Zoning Ordinance allows for a maximum height of ten (10) feet.  The Petitioner has not requested 
additional height.   
 
Special Use: 
The Petitioner is requesting a special uses for outdoor storage and alternative surfaces.  The Commission 
should consider whether the use is in keeping with the vision of the area and whether its impacts can be 
properly mitigated. According to the Montgomery Zoning Ordinance, whose language hereafter is in 
italics, “no special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless the Commission shall find that the 
following standards have been satisfied: 
 
Staff has provided findings of fact following the standards for the Plan Commissioner’s consideration.  The 
Petitioner has also provided findings of fact that are attached to the end of the report. 
 
A. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to endanger 
the public health, safety, comfort or general welfare;  
 
The proposed gravel surface has the potential to affect the health, safety, comfort or general welfare of 
the surrounding properties, however, it is staff’s opinion that the proposed restrictions and maintenance 
provisions will adequately mitigate the dust concerns; 
 
B. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 
vicinity for the purpose already permitted, not substantially diminish or impair property values within the 
neighborhood;  
 
This use should not be injurious or diminish property values as the proposed restrictions and maintenance 
provisions should adequately mitigate the dust concerns; 
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(2016-026) 1415 Bohr Ave. Outdoor Storage and Alternative Surfaces 

Special Use and Site Plan 
September 27, 2016 

 
 
C. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 
 
The proposed use does not prohibit use of surrounding property and is normal and orderly; 
 
D. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been, or are being, provided;  
 
Adequate utilities, roads and drainage have been planned for; 
 
E. That adequate measures have been, or will be, taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in public streets;  
 
The property provides adequate ingress and egress with the potential exception of the truck dock turning 
movement; and 
 
F. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 
which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board pursuant to 
the recommendations of the Plan Commission.  
 
All aspects of the proposed development that have been submitted to this point that do not meet the 
Zoning Ordinance have been discussed in the above report and recommendations have been made 
accordingly. 
 
The Plan Commission should discuss each of these criteria and make findings of fact as to whether the 
proposed use meets the criteria.  If the Commission finds that the use should be permitted, they may 
impose additional conditions in order to mitigate any impacts of the proposed use.   
 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends that the proposed special use be denied based on the number of variances 
requested and the size of the proposed building is too large for this site.  The Petitioner 
should consider using the larger neighboring property to the west for this building and use.  
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before you dig.Call

R

Contractor and or sub-contractors shall verify locations of all underground

utilities prior to digging. Contact J.U.L.I.E. (Joint Utility Locating for

Excavators) at 1-800-892-0123 or dial 811.
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GENERAL CONDITIONS 1. ALL EARTHWORK, ROADWAY WORK, DRAINAGE WORK OR STORM SEWER WORK SHALL BE PERFORMED UTILIZING MATERIALS AND METHODS IN STRICT ACCORDANCE WITH THE ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION "STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR ROAD AND BRIDGE CONSTRUCTION" LATEST EDITION, AS WELL AS THE STANDARD DETAIL SHEETS ATTACHED TO THESE PLANS. ALL MUNICIPAL, COUNTY, STATE AND FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS AND STANDARDS SHALL BE STRICTLY ADHERED TO IN WORK PERFORMED UNDER THIS CONTRACT 2. ALL SANITARY SEWER AND WATER MAIN WORK SHALL BE PERFORMED USING METHODS AND MATERIALS IN STRICT ACCORDANCE WITH THE LATEST EDITION OF "STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR WATER AND SEWER MAIN CONSTRUCTION IN ILLINOIS", LATEST EDITION, AS WELL AS THE STANDARD DETAIL SHEETS ATTACHED TO THESE PLANS. ALL MUNICIPAL, COUNTY, STATE AND FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS AND STANDARDS SHALL BE STRICTLY ADHERED TO IN WORK PERFORMED UNDER THIS CONTRACT. 3. ANY SPECIFICATIONS WHICH ARE SUPPLIED ALONG WITH THE PLANS SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE IN THE CASE OF A CONFLICT WITH THE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS NOTED IN ITEMS NO. 1 AND 2 ABOVE.  THE ABOVE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS & THE CONSTRUCTION PLANS ARE TO BE CONSIDERED AS PART OF THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.  INCIDENTAL ITEMS OR ACCESSORIES NECESSARY TO COMPLETE THIS WORK MAY NOT BE SPECIFICALLY NOTED BUT ARE TO BE CONSIDERED A PART OF THE CONTRACT. 4. PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS AND CONDITIONS AFFECTING THEIR WORK WITH THE ACTUAL CONDITIONS AT THE JOB SITE.  IF THERE ARE ANY DISCREPANCIES FROM WHAT IS SHOWN ON THE CONSTRUCTION PLANS, HE MUST IMMEDIATELY REPORT SAME TO THE ENGINEER BEFORE DOING ANY WORK, OTHERWISE THE CONTRACTOR WILL BE CONSIDERED TO HAVE PROCEEDED AT HIS OWN RISK AND EXPENSE.  IN THE EVENT OF ANY DOUBT OR QUESTION ARISING WITH RESPECT TO THE TRUE MEANING OF THE CONSTRUCTION PLANS OR SPECIFICATIONS, THE DECISION OF THE ENGINEER SHALL BE FINAL AND CONCLUSIVE. 5. ALL WORK PERFORMED UNDER THIS CONTRACT SHALL BE GUARANTEED AGAINST ALL DEFECTS IN MATERIALS AND WORKMANSHIP OF WHATEVER NATURE BY THE CONTRACTOR AND HIS SURETY FOR A PERIOD OF 12 MONTHS FROM THE DATE OF FINAL ACCEPTANCE OF THE WORK BY THE GOVERNING MUNICIPALITY, OTHER APPLICABLE GOVERNMENTAL AGENCIES, AND THE OWNER. 6. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING ALL REQUIRED PERMITS FOR CONSTRUCTION ALONG OR ACROSS EXISTING STREETS OR HIGHWAYS.  HE SHALL MAKE ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE PROPER BRACING, SHORING AND OTHER REQUIRED PROTECTION OF ALL ROADWAYS BEFORE CONSTRUCTION BEGINS, ALONG WITH ADEQUATE TRAFFIC CONTROL MEASURES.  HE SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY DAMAGE TO THE STREETS OR ROADWAYS AND ASSOCIATED STRUCTURES AND SHALL MAKE REPAIRS AS NECESSARY TO THE SATISFACTION OF THE ENGINEER, AT NO ADDITIONAL COST TO THE OWNER.  7. THE UTILITY LOCATIONS, AND THE DEPTHS SHOWN ON THESE PLANS ARE APPROXIMATE ONLY, AND SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR WITH ALL AFFECTED UTILITY COMPANIES PRIOR TO INITIATING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS.  THE ENGINEER AND OWNER ASSUME NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ADEQUACY, SUFFICIENCY OR EXACTNESS OF THESE UTILITY REPRESENTATIONS. 8. PRIOR TO STARTING CONSTRUCTION THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT THE OFFICE OF J.U.L.I.E. AT 1-800-892-0123 FOR EXACT FIELD LOCATION OF ALL UNDERGROUND UTILITIES IN THE PROXIMITY OF, AND ON, THE PROJECT SITE; IF THERE ARE ANY UTILITIES WHICH ARE NOT MEMBERS OF THE J.U.L.I.E. SYSTEM, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR DETERMINING THIS AND MAKE ARRANGEMENTS TO HAVE THESE UTILITIES FIELD LOCATED. 9. EASEMENTS FOR THE EXISTING UTILITIES, BOTH PUBLIC AND PRIVATE, AND UTILITIES WITHIN PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY ARE SHOWN ON THE PLANS ACCORDING TO AVAILABLE RECORDS.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT LOCATION IN THE FIELD OF THESE UTILITY LINES AND THEIR PROTECTION FROM DAMAGE DUE TO CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS. IF EXISTING UTILITY LINES OF ANY NATURE ARE ENCOUNTERED WHICH CONFLICT IN LOCATION WITH NEW CONSTRUCTION, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR RELOCATING THESE FACILITIES AT HIS EXPENSE TO ACCOMMODATE THE NEW CONSTRUCTION. 10. ALL FIELD TILE ENCOUNTERED DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS SHALL BE CONNECTED TO THE PROPOSED STORM SEWER OR EXTENDED TO OUTLET INTO A PROPOSED DRAINAGE WAY.  IF THIS CANNOT BE ACCOMPLISHED, THEN IT SHALL BE REPAIRED WITH NEW PIPE OF SIMILAR SIZE AND MATERIAL TO THE ORIGINAL LINE AND PUT IN ACCEPTABLE OPERATIONAL CONDITION.   A RECORD OF THE LOCATION OF ALL FIELD TILE FOR ONSITE DRAIN PIPE ENCOUNTERED SHALL BE KEPT BY THE CONTRACTOR AND TURNED OVER TO THE ENGINEER UPON COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT.  THE COST OF THIS WORK SHALL BE CONSIDERED AS INCIDENTAL TO THE CONTRACT AND NO ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION WILL BE ALLOWED. 11. IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF EACH RESPECTIVE CONTRACTOR TO REMOVE FROM THIS SITE ANY AND ALL MATERIALS AND DEBRIS WHICH RESULT FROM HIS CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS AT NO ADDITIONAL EXPENSE TO THE OWNER. 12. THE ENGINEER AND OWNER ARE NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR THE CONSTRUCTION MEANS, METHODS, TECHNIQUES, SEQUENCES OR PROCEDURES, TIME OF PERFORMANCE, PROGRAMS OF FOR ANY SAFETY PRECAUTIONS USED BY THE CONTRACTOR.  THE CONTRACTOR IS SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR EXECUTION OF HIS WORK IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND SPECIFICATIONS. 13. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL COMPLY WITH ALL STATE AND FEDERAL SAFETY REGULATIONS AS OUTLINED IN THE LATEST REVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL CONSTRUCTION SAFETY STANDARDS (SERIES 1926) AND WITH APPLICABLE PROVISIONS AND REGULATIONS OF THE OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH ADMINISTRATION (OSHA) STANDARDS OF THE WILLIAMS STELGER OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH STATE SAFETY ACT OF 1970(REVISED).  THE CONTRACTOR, ENGINEERS, AND OWNER SHALL EACH BE RESPONSIBLE FOR HIS OWN RESPECTIVE AGENTS AND EMPLOYEES. 14.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INDEMNIFY THE OWNER, THE ENGINEER, AND ALL GOVERNING AUTHORITIES, THEIR AGENTS SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS FROM ANY AND ALL LIABILITY WITH RESPECT TO THE CONSTRUCTION, INSTALLATION AND TESTING OF THE WORK REQUIRED ON THIS PROJECT.  IT SHALL BE THE SOLE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR TO PERFORM THE WORK OF THIS CONTRACT IN A MANNER WHICH STRICTLY COMPLIES WITH ANY AND ALL PERTINENT LOCAL, STATE OR NATIONAL CONSTRUCTION AND SAFETY CODES; THE ENGINEER, OWNER, AND GOVERNING AUTHORITIES ARE NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR ENSURING COMPLIANCE BY THE CONTRACTOR WITH SAID CODES AND ASSUME NO LIABILITY FOR ACCIDENTS, INJURIES, OR DEATHS, OR CLAIMS RELATING THERETO WHICH MAY RESULT FROM LACK OF ADHERENCE TO SAID CODES. UNDERGROUND UTILITIES 1. ALL UTILITY TRENCHES BENEATH PROPOSED OR EXISTING UTILITIES, PROPOSED OR EXISTING PAVEMENT, DRIVEWAYS, ALL UTILITY TRENCHES BENEATH PROPOSED OR EXISTING UTILITIES, PROPOSED OR EXISTING PAVEMENT, DRIVEWAYS, SIDEWALKS AND FOR A DISTANCE OF TWO FEET ON EITHER SIDE OF SAME, AND/OR WHEREVER ELSE SHOWN ON THE CONSTRUCTION PLANS SHALL BE BACKFILLED WITH SELECT GRANULAR BACKFILL (CA-6 OR CA-7) AND THOROUGHLY COMPACTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE EARTHWORK SPECIFICATIONS. 2. UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED ON THE PLANS, STORM SEWER PIPE SHALL BE REINFORCED CONCRETE CULVERT PIPE OF THE UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED ON THE PLANS, STORM SEWER PIPE SHALL BE REINFORCED CONCRETE CULVERT PIPE OF THE CLASS AS INDICATED ON THE PLANS, AND CONFORMING TO ASTM C-76.  JOINTS SHALL TYPICALLY BE A "TROWEL APPLIED" BITUMINOUS MASTIC COMPOUND IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM C-76 (OR C-14 AS MAY BE APPLICABLE OR RUBBER "O"-RING GASKET JOINTS CONFORMING TO ASTM C-443).  LOCATIONS WHERE THE STORM SEWER CROSSES WATERMAINS AN "O"-RING JOINT IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM C-361 SHALL BE USED.   3. STORM SEWER MANHOLES SHALL BE PRECAST STRUCTURES, WITH THE DIAMETER DEPENDENT ON THE PIPE SIZE AND WITH STORM SEWER MANHOLES SHALL BE PRECAST STRUCTURES, WITH THE DIAMETER DEPENDENT ON THE PIPE SIZE AND WITH APPROPRIATE FRAME AND LIDS (SEE CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS).  LIDS SHALL BE IMPRINTED "STORM SEWER". 4. THESE FRAME AND GRATES FOR STORM STRUCTURES SHALL BE USED UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED ON THE PLAN SET. THESE FRAME AND GRATES FOR STORM STRUCTURES SHALL BE USED UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED ON THE PLAN SET. USE NEENAH R-1712 OPEN LID (OR EQUAL) IN PAVEMENT AREAS, USE NEENAH R-1772-B OPEN OR CLOSED LID (OR EQUAL) IN GRASS AREAS, USE NEENAH R-3015 (OR EQUAL) FOR B6.12 CURB AREAS, AND NEENAH R-3509 (OR EQUAL) FOR DEPRESSED CURB AREAS. 5. STRUCTURES FOR SANITARY AND STORM SEWERS AND VALVE VAULTS FOR WATER SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THESE STRUCTURES FOR SANITARY AND STORM SEWERS AND VALVE VAULTS FOR WATER SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THESE IMPROVEMENT PLANS AND THE APPLICABLE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS.  WHERE GRANULAR TRENCH BACKFILL IS REQUIRED AROUND THESE STRUCTURES THE COST SHALL BE CONSIDERED AS INCIDENTAL AND SHALL BE INCLUDED IN THE CONTRACT UNIT PRICE FOR THE STRUCTURE. 6. ALL STORM SEWERS AND WATERMAINS SHALL HAVE COMPACTED CA-7 GRANULAR BEDDING, A MINIMUM OF 4" BELOW THE ALL STORM SEWERS AND WATERMAINS SHALL HAVE COMPACTED CA-7 GRANULAR BEDDING, A MINIMUM OF 4" BELOW THE BOTTOM OF THE PIPE FOR THE FULL LENGTH.  BEDDING SHALL EXTEND TO THE SPRING LINE OF THE PIPE.  COST FOR THE BEDDING SHALL BE INCLUDED WITH THE UNIT PRICE BID FOR THE PIPE. 7. THE UNDERGROUND CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR DEWATERING ANY EXCAVATION FOR THE INSTALLATION OF THE UNDERGROUND CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR DEWATERING ANY EXCAVATION FOR THE INSTALLATION OF THE SEWER OR WATER SYSTEMS.  ANY DEWATERING ENCOUNTERED SHALL BE INCIDENTAL TO THE RESPECTIVE UNDERGROUND UTILITY. 8. ALL STRUCTURES SHALL HAVE A MAXIMUM OF 8" OF ADJUSTING RINGS, UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. ALL STRUCTURES SHALL HAVE A MAXIMUM OF 8" OF ADJUSTING RINGS, UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. 9. ALL TOP FRAMES FOR STORM AND VALVE VAULT COVERS AND B-BOXES ARE TO BE ADJUSTED TO MEET FINAL FINISH ALL TOP FRAMES FOR STORM AND VALVE VAULT COVERS AND B-BOXES ARE TO BE ADJUSTED TO MEET FINAL FINISH GRADE UPON COMPLETION OF FINISHED GRADING AND FINAL INSPECTIONS.  THIS ADJUSTMENT IS TO BE MADE BY THE UNDERGROUND CONTRACTOR AND THE COST IS TO BE INCIDENTAL.  THE UNDERGROUND CONTRACTOR SHALL INSURE THAT ALL ROAD AND PAVEMENT INLETS OR STRUCTURES ARE AT FINISHED GRADE.  ANY ADJUSTMENTS NECESSITATED BY THE CURB OR PAVING CONTRACTOR TO ACHIEVE FINAL RIM GRADE, RESULTING IN AN EXTRA FOR SAID ADJUSTMENTS, WILL BE CHARGED TO THE UNDERGROUND CONTRACTOR. 10.  ALL FLOOR DRAINS AND FLOOR DRAIN SUMP PUMPS SHALL DISCHARGE INTO THE SANITARY SEWER.   ALL FLOOR DRAINS AND FLOOR DRAIN SUMP PUMPS SHALL DISCHARGE INTO THE SANITARY SEWER.  11.  ALL DOWNSPOUTS, FOOTING DRAINS AND SUBSURFACE STORM WATERS SHALL DISCHARGE INTO THE STORM SEWER OR  ALL DOWNSPOUTS, FOOTING DRAINS AND SUBSURFACE STORM WATERS SHALL DISCHARGE INTO THE STORM SEWER OR ONTO THE GROUND AND BE DIRECTED TOWARDS A STORM SEWER STRUCTURE. 12.  ANY ANTICIPATED COST OF SHEETING SHALL BE REFLECTED IN THE CONTRACT AMOUNTS.  NO ADDITIONAL COST WILL BE  ANY ANTICIPATED COST OF SHEETING SHALL BE REFLECTED IN THE CONTRACT AMOUNTS.  NO ADDITIONAL COST WILL BE ALLOWED FOR SHEETING OR BRACING. 13.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL A 2"X4"X8' POST ADJACENT TO THE TERMINUS OF THE SANITARY SERVICE, WATERMAIN  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL A 2"X4"X8' POST ADJACENT TO THE TERMINUS OF THE SANITARY SERVICE, WATERMAIN SERVICE, SANITARY MANHOLES, STORM STRUCTURES, AND WATER VAULTS.  THE POST SHALL EXTEND A MINIMUM OF 4 FT. ABOVE THE GROUND.  SAID POST SHALL BE PAINTED AS FOLLOWS:  SANITARY-GREEN, WATER-BLUE, AND STORM-RED. 14. IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE UNDERGROUND CONTRACTOR TO REMOVE FROM THE SITE ANY AND ALL IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE UNDERGROUND CONTRACTOR TO REMOVE FROM THE SITE ANY AND ALL MATERIALS AND DEBRIS WHICH RESULT FROM HIS CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS AT NO ADDITIONAL EXPENSE TO THE OWNER. EARTHWORK 1. ALL EARTHWORK OPERATIONS SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 200 OF THE I.D.O.T. SPECIFICATIONS. ALL EARTHWORK OPERATIONS SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 200 OF THE I.D.O.T. SPECIFICATIONS. 2. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROTECT ALL PROPERTY PINS AND SURVEY MONUMENTS AND SHALL RESTORE ANY WHICH ARE THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROTECT ALL PROPERTY PINS AND SURVEY MONUMENTS AND SHALL RESTORE ANY WHICH ARE DISTURBED BY HIS OPERATIONS AT NO ADDITIONAL COST TO THE CONTRACT. 3. IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO DETERMINE ALL MATERIAL QUANTITIES AND APPRISE HIMSELF OF ALL SITE IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO DETERMINE ALL MATERIAL QUANTITIES AND APPRISE HIMSELF OF ALL SITE CONDITIONS.  THE CONTRACT PRICE SUBMITTED BY THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE CONSIDERED AS LUMP SUM FOR THE COMPLETE PROJECT.  NO CLAIMS FOR EXTRA WORK WILL BE RECOGNIZED UNLESS ORDERED IN WRITING BY THE OWNER. 4. PRIOR TO ONSET OF MASS GRADING OPERATIONS THE EARTHWORK CONTRACTOR SHALL FAMILIARIZE HIMSELF WITH THE SOIL PRIOR TO ONSET OF MASS GRADING OPERATIONS THE EARTHWORK CONTRACTOR SHALL FAMILIARIZE HIMSELF WITH THE SOIL EROSION CONTROL SPECIFICATIONS.  THE INITIAL ESTABLISHMENT OF EROSION CONTROL PROCEDURES AND THE PLACEMENT OF SILT FENCING, ETC. TO PROTECT ADJACENT PROPERTY SHALL OCCUR BEFORE MASS GRADING BEGINS, AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SOIL EROSION CONTROL CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE. 5. THE GRADING OPERATIONS ARE TO BE CLOSELY SUPERVISED AND INSPECTED, PARTICULARLY DURING THE REMOVAL OF THE GRADING OPERATIONS ARE TO BE CLOSELY SUPERVISED AND INSPECTED, PARTICULARLY DURING THE REMOVAL OF UNSUITABLE MATERIAL AND THE CONSTRUCTION OF EMBANKMENTS OR BUILDING PADS, BY THE SOILS ENGINEER OR HIS REPRESENTATIVE.  ALL TESTING, INSPECTION AND SUPERVISION OF SOIL QUALITY, UNSUITABLE REMOVAL AND ITS REPLACEMENT AND OTHER SOILS RELATED OPERATIONS SHALL BE ENTIRELY THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE SOILS ENGINEER. 6. THE GRADING AND CONSTRUCTION OF THE SITE IMPROVEMENTS SHALL NOT CAUSE PONDING OF STORM WATER. ALL AREAS THE GRADING AND CONSTRUCTION OF THE SITE IMPROVEMENTS SHALL NOT CAUSE PONDING OF STORM WATER. ALL AREAS ADJACENT TO THESE IMPROVEMENTS SHALL BE GRADED TO ALLOW POSITIVE DRAINAGE.   7. THE PROPOSED GRADING ELEVATIONS SHOWN ON THE PLANS ARE FINISH GRADE. A MINIMUM OF SIX INCHES (6") OF THE PROPOSED GRADING ELEVATIONS SHOWN ON THE PLANS ARE FINISH GRADE. A MINIMUM OF SIX INCHES (6") OF TOPSOIL IS TO BE PLACED BEFORE FINISH GRADE ELEVATIONS ARE ACHIEVED.   8. THE SELECTED STRUCTURAL FILL MATERIAL SHALL BE PLACED IN LEVEL UNIFORM LAYERS SO THAT THE COMPACTED THE SELECTED STRUCTURAL FILL MATERIAL SHALL BE PLACED IN LEVEL UNIFORM LAYERS SO THAT THE COMPACTED THICKNESS IS APPROXIMATELY SIX INCHES (6"); IF COMPACTION EQUIPMENT DEMONSTRATES THE ABILITY TO COMPACT A GREATER THICKNESS, THEN A GREATER THICKNESS MAY BE SPECIFIED. EACH LAYER SHALL BE THOROUGHLY MIXED DURING SPREADING TO INSURE UNIFORMITY.  9. EMBANKMENT MATERIAL WITHIN ROADWAY, PARKING LOT, AND OTHER STRUCTURAL CLAY FILL AREAS SHALL BE COMPACTED EMBANKMENT MATERIAL WITHIN ROADWAY, PARKING LOT, AND OTHER STRUCTURAL CLAY FILL AREAS SHALL BE COMPACTED TO A MINIMUM OF NINETY-FIVE PERCENT (95%) OF MAXIMUM DENSITY IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM SPECIFICATION D-1557 (MODIFIED PROCTOR METHOD), OR TO SUCH OTHER DENSITY AS MAY BE DETERMINED APPROPRIATE BY THE SOILS ENGINEER.  EMBANKMENT MATERIAL FOR BUILDING PADS SHALL BE COMPACTED TO A MINIMUM OF NINETY-FIVE (95%) OF MAXIMUM DENSITY IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM DESIGNATION D-1557 (MODIFIED PROCTOR METHOD) OR TO SUCH OTHER DENSITY AS MAY BE DETERMINED APPROPRIATE BY THE SOIL ENGINEER. 10. EMBANKMENT MATERIAL (RANDOM FILL) WITHIN NON-STRUCTURAL FILL AREAS SHALL BE COMPACTED TO A MINIMUM OF EMBANKMENT MATERIAL (RANDOM FILL) WITHIN NON-STRUCTURAL FILL AREAS SHALL BE COMPACTED TO A MINIMUM OF NINETY PERCENT (90%) OF MAXIMUM DENSITY IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM SPECIFICATION D-157 (MODIFIED PROCTOR METHOD). 11. THE SUB GRADE FOR PROPOSED STREET AND PAVEMENT AREAS SHALL BE PROOF-ROLLED BY THE CONTRACTOR AND ANY THE SUB GRADE FOR PROPOSED STREET AND PAVEMENT AREAS SHALL BE PROOF-ROLLED BY THE CONTRACTOR AND ANY UNSTABLE AREAS ENCOUNTERED SHALL BE REMOVED AND REPLACED AS DIRECTED BY THE SOILS ENGINEER. 12. SOIL BORING REPORTS, IF AVAILABLE, ARE SOLELY FOR THE INFORMATION AND GUIDANCE OF THE CONTRACTORS.  THE SOIL BORING REPORTS, IF AVAILABLE, ARE SOLELY FOR THE INFORMATION AND GUIDANCE OF THE CONTRACTORS.  THE OWNER AND ENGINEER MAKE NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY REGARDING THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE BORING LOGS.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAKE HIS OWN INVESTIGATIONS AND SHALL PLAN HIS WORK ACCORDINGLY.  ARRANGEMENTS TO ENTER THE PROPERTY DURING THE BIDDING PHASE MAY BE MADE UPON REQUEST OF THE OWNER.  THERE WILL BE NO ADDITIONAL PAYMENT FOR EXPENSES INCURRED BY THE CONTRACTOR RESULTING FROM ADVERSE SOIL OR GROUND WATER CONDITIONS. 13.  IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE EXCAVATION CONTRACTOR TO REMOVE FROM THE SITE ANY AND ALL MATERIALS  IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE EXCAVATION CONTRACTOR TO REMOVE FROM THE SITE ANY AND ALL MATERIALS AND DEBRIS WHICH RESULT FROM HIS CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS AT NO ADDITIONAL EXPENSE TO THE OWNER.
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VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY 
REQUEST FOR BOARD OF TRUSTEES ACTION 

FOR INCLUSION ON BOARD AGENDA 
 

 
 
_____   Resolution or Ordinance (Blue) 
   X     Recommendation of Boards, Commissions & Committees (Green) 
          Other Business (Pink) 
 
To: Village President and Board of Trustees 
 
From: Jeff Zoephel, Village Administrator 
 
Date: October 7, 2016 B of T Date:  October 10, 2016  
 
Subject: Recommendation of the Zoning Board of Appeals on 2016-028, 2016-029, 2016-030 

and 2016-031 V Setback Variances for 1415 Bohr Avenue – Ruben Hernandez. 
 
Submitted By:  Jerad Chipman AICP, Senior Planner 
 
Background/Policy Implications: 
The Petitioner, Ruben Hernandez, is requesting approval of four variances to the Manufacturing 
Uses Section of the Zoning Ordinance to allow encroachments into the front yard, two (2) side 
yard and alternative surfaces setbacks.  The Zoning Board of Appeals reviewed each of the 
requests and made the following recommendations.   
 
The Zoning Board of Appeals recommended denial of 2016-028 V front yard setback variance 
located at 1415 Bohr Avenue.  The motion passed 5-0. 
 
The Zoning Board of Appeals recommended denial of 2016-028 V east side yard setback 
variance located at 1415 Bohr Avenue.  The motion passed 5-0. 
 
The Zoning Board of Appeals recommended denial of 2016-028 V west side yard setback 
variance located at 1415 Bohr Avenue.  The motion passed 5-0. 
 
The Zoning Board of Appeals recommended denial of 2016-028 V alternative surface setback 
variance located at 1415 Bohr Avenue.  The motion passed 5-0. 
 
Describe Fiscal Impact/Budget Account Number and Cost: 
 
Review: 
 

Village Administrator _____Jeff Zoephel____________                      Date: 10/7/2016  
 
NOTE: All materials must be submitted to and approved by the Village Administrator by 12:00 
noon, Thursday, prior to the Agenda distribution. 



 

 
 
 
ZBA 2016-028 
ZBA 2016-029 
ZBA 2016-030 
ZBA 2016-031 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS ADVISORY REPORT 
 
To:  Chair Hammond and Members of the Zoning Board of Appeals  
 
From: Jerad Chipman AICP 

       Senior Planner 
 
Date:  September 27, 2016 
 
Subject: 2016-028, 2016-029, 2016-030, 2016-031 V 1415 Bohr Avenue Setback Variances. 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Petitioner:    Ruben Hernandez 
    

  Location/Address:  1415 Bohr Avenue 
  
Requests: Variance to encroach into the front yard setback. 

Variance to encroach into the east side yard setback. 
Variance to encroach into the west side yard setback. 
Variance to allow alternative surfaces within 250 feet of a public right-
of-way. 

 
Current Zoning:  M-2 General Manufacturing District 
 
Comprehensive Plan: Heavy Industrial 
 
Surrounding Land Uses:  

Location  Adjacent Land Use Adjacent Zoning 
North  Industrial M-2 
East  Industrial M-2 
South   Residential Unincorporated Farming 

District 
West Residential and Agricultural Unincorporated Farming 

District 
 
Background: 
The Petitioner is requesting four variances to Section 11.02 of the Zoning Ordinance to allow setback 
encroachments and alternative surfaces within the 250 foot setback from a public right-of-way.  All of 
the variance requests will be addressed one at a time in this report.   
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ZBA 2016-028 Front Yard Variance 
 
The Petitioner is requesting to encroach approximately eight (8) feet into the front yard setback. 
 
Below is the section of the Zoning Ordinance that relief is being requested from:   

11.02 Zoning Standards and Bulk Regulations Table 
Zoning 
District 

Front Yard 
Setback* 

Side/ Corner 
Side Yard 
Setback* 

Rear Yard 
Setback* 

Transitional 
Yard 
Setback*+ 

Floor 
Area 
Ratio 

Maximum 
Building 
Height 

M-1 Min 25 ft Min 10% of lot 
width but no 
greater than 20 
ft/ 25 ft 

Min 20 ft Min 30 ft 1.5 45 ft** 

M-2 Min 25 ft Min 10% of lot 
width but no 
greater than 20 
ft/ 25 ft 

Min 20 ft Min 30 ft 3.0 45 ft** 

*All yard setbacks shall be landscaped and meet the Village’s landscaping requirements except that curb 
cuts/drive entrances are permitted from the street and between lots for cross access. Parking/pavement 
areas and structures are prohibited in all yard setbacks except that the inner ten feet of the rear yard 
setback can be used for parking.  

 
Attached is an exhibit that generally indicates the location of the variances on the property.   
  
Findings of Fact: 
According to Section 14 of the Montgomery Zoning Ordinance “the Zoning Board of Appeals shall 
recommend approval of a variation from the provisions of this ordinance as authorized in this section 
only if the evidence, in the judgment of the Zoning Board of Appeals, sustains each of the following 
conditions: 
 
Please note that the Petitioners complete application is attached to this report.  Staff summarizes the 
Petitioner’s comments in the findings of fact in this report.   
 
1) That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only 
under the conditions allowed by the regulations governing the district in which it is located; It is the 
Petitioner’s opinion that the property would yield a lower return as the building would have to 
be located further back on the property decreasing the amount of storage space located behind 
the building.   
  
Staff understands that the outdoor storage area would be decreased in size, however, it is 
staff’s opinion that an eight (8) foot difference would not compromise the outdoor storage 
area.  
 
2) That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; The Petitioner believes that their 
situation is unique as the parcel of land that they intend to develop is small for an industrial 
parcel and that parcel was previously divided to create the situation. 
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Staff believes that this is not entirely a unique situation.  Staff agrees with the Petitioner 
that the parcel is small for an industrial parcel, however, many developer are forced to 
work within existing conditions including parcel constraints.   
     
3) That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality; The Petitioner 
believes that the variance will not alter the essential character of the locality as the building 
does not encroach into the front yard setback, only the parking lot drive aisle.   
 
Staff believes that the variance would alter the essential character of the locality as other 
properties on Bohr Avenue have complied with the front yard setback standard.  
 
4) That the particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the specific 
property involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience if the strict letter of the regulations were to be carried out; The Petitioner believes 
that the physical surroundings create a hardship due to the small parcel size. 
 
It is staff’s opinion that there are no physical characteristics of the site that render a 
hardship for the Petitioner, and that the loss of eight (8) feet in the storage area will not 
result in a hardship. 
 
5) That the conditions upon which the application for variation is based would not be applicable 
generally to other property within the same zoned classification.  The Petitioner has indicated that 
they believe that the conditions of hardship are unique to their property as the site is small for 
the zoning.   
 
It is staff’s opinion that the conditions upon which the application is based would be 
applicable to other properties within the same zoning classification.   
  
6) That the need or purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more 
money out of the property; The Petitioner has indicated that they do not want to decrease the 
rear yard storage area.  
 
Staff believes that a larger storage area would have a positive financial effect on the 
property owner and the Petitioner.   
 
7) That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; The 
Petitioner has indicated that they believe that the variance will not be injurious to other 
properties. 
 
Staff believes that the variation should not cause detriment or injury. 
 
8) That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent 
property, or substantially increase the danger of fire, or otherwise endanger the public safety or 
substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.” The Petitioner has 
indicated that they believe that the variance will not impair light, air and property values. 
 
Staff believes that the variation will not impair light, air and property values.   
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Following the Public Hearing, the Zoning Board of Appeals should discuss the standards for granting a 
variation and make the findings of fact by reading each criteria and entering into the minutes the 
consensus on each. 
 
Recommendation: 
It is staff’s opinion that the Petitioner has not met all of the conditions to grant a variance, 
and recommends that the variance be denied.   
 
Action: Zoning Board of Appeals action should be taken on each individual request.   
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ZBA 2016-029 East Side Yard Variance 
 
The Petitioner is requesting to encroach approximately eleven (11) feet into the side yard setback with 
gravel outdoor storage.  The request incorporates the entire side yard setback behind the building. 
 
Below is the section of the Zoning Ordinance that relief is being requested from:   

11.02 Zoning Standards and Bulk Regulations Table 
Zoning 
District 

Front Yard 
Setback* 

Side/ Corner 
Side Yard 
Setback* 

Rear Yard 
Setback* 

Transitional 
Yard 
Setback*+ 

Floor 
Area 
Ratio 

Maximum 
Building 
Height 

M-1 Min 25 ft Min 10% of lot 
width but no 
greater than 20 
ft/ 25 ft 

Min 20 ft Min 30 ft 1.5 45 ft** 

M-2 Min 25 ft Min 10% of lot 
width but no 
greater than 20 
ft/ 25 ft 

Min 20 ft Min 30 ft 3.0 45 ft** 

*All yard setbacks shall be landscaped and meet the Village’s landscaping requirements except that curb 
cuts/drive entrances are permitted from the street and between lots for cross access. Parking/pavement 
areas and structures are prohibited in all yard setbacks except that the inner ten feet of the rear yard 
setback can be used for parking.  
 
Attached is an exhibit that generally indicates the location of the variances on the property.   
 
Findings of Fact: 
According to Section 14 of the Montgomery Zoning Ordinance “the Zoning Board of Appeals shall 
recommend approval of a variation from the provisions of this ordinance as authorized in this section 
only if the evidence, in the judgment of the Zoning Board of Appeals, sustains each of the following 
conditions: 
 
Please note that the Petitioners complete application is attached to this report.  Staff summarizes the 
Petitioner’s comments in the findings of fact in this report.   
 
1) That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only 
under the conditions allowed by the regulations governing the district in which it is located; It is the 
Petitioner’s opinion that the property would yield a lower return as the installation of a 
landscaped setback would decrease the amount of outdoor storage space on the property.   
  
Staff understands that the outdoor storage area would be decreased in size, however, it is 
staff’s opinion that an eleven (11) foot difference would not compromise the outdoor 
storage area.  
 
2) That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; The Petitioner believes that their 
situation is unique as the parcel of land that they intend to develop is small for an industrial 
parcel and that parcel was previously divided to create the situation. 
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Staff believes that this is not entirely a unique situation.  Staff agrees with the Petitioner 
that the parcel is small for an industrial parcel and that other properties on Bohr Avenue 
have encroached into the side yard setbacks in the past.   
     
3) That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality; The Petitioner 
believes that the variance will not alter the essential character of the locality as other properties 
on Bohr Avenue utilize the side yard setbacks for drive aisles and storage.   
 
Staff believes that the variance would not alter the essential character of the locality as 
other properties on Bohr Avenue have encroached into the side yard setbacks in the past.  
 
4) That the particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the specific 
property involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience if the strict letter of the regulations were to be carried out; The Petitioner believes 
that the physical surroundings create a hardship due to the small parcel size. 
 
It is staff’s opinion that there are no physical characteristics of the site that render a 
hardship for the Petitioner, and that the loss of eleven (11) feet in the storage area will not 
result in a hardship. 
 
5) That the conditions upon which the application for variation is based would not be applicable 
generally to other property within the same zoned classification.  The Petitioner has indicated that 
they believe that the conditions of hardship are unique to their property as the site is small for 
the zoning.   
 
It is staff’s opinion that the conditions upon which the application is based would be 
applicable to other properties within the same zoning classification.   
  
6) That the need or purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more 
money out of the property; The Petitioner has indicated that they do not want to decrease the 
rear yard storage area.  
 
Staff believes that a larger storage area would have a positive financial effect on the 
property owner and the Petitioner.   
 
7) That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; The 
Petitioner has indicated that they believe that the variance will not be injurious to other 
properties. 
 
Staff believes that the variation should not cause detriment or injury. 
 
8) That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent 
property, or substantially increase the danger of fire, or otherwise endanger the public safety or 
substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.” The Petitioner has 
indicated that they believe that the variance will not impair light, air and property values. 
 



Page 7 
(ZBA 2016-028, 2016-029, 2016-030, 2016-031) Setback Variances for 1415 Bohr Ave. 

September 27, 2016 

 
 
Staff believes that the variation has potential impacts to the surrounding properties as the 
outdoor storage area would extend to the property line.   
 
Following the Public Hearing, the Zoning Board of Appeals should discuss the standards for granting a 
variation and make the findings of fact by reading each criteria and entering into the minutes the 
consensus on each. 
 
Recommendation: 
It is staff’s opinion that the Petitioner has not met all of the conditions to grant a variance, 
and recommends that the variance be denied.   
 
Action: Zoning Board of Appeals action should be taken on each individual request.   
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ZBA 2016-030 West Side Yard Variance 
 
The Petitioner is requesting to encroach approximately eight (8) feet into the side yard setback with a 
paved drive aisle and on the rear of the site a gravel outdoor storage area.  Three feet of landscaping in 
the form of grass is proposed on the western property line. 
 
Below is the section of the Zoning Ordinance that relief is being requested from:   

11.02 Zoning Standards and Bulk Regulations Table 
Zoning 
District 

Front Yard 
Setback* 

Side/ Corner 
Side Yard 
Setback* 

Rear Yard 
Setback* 

Transitional 
Yard 
Setback*+ 

Floor 
Area 
Ratio 

Maximum 
Building 
Height 

M-1 Min 25 ft Min 10% of lot 
width but no 
greater than 20 
ft/ 25 ft 

Min 20 ft Min 30 ft 1.5 45 ft** 

M-2 Min 25 ft Min 10% of lot 
width but no 
greater than 20 
ft/ 25 ft 

Min 20 ft Min 30 ft 3.0 45 ft** 

*All yard setbacks shall be landscaped and meet the Village’s landscaping requirements except that curb 
cuts/drive entrances are permitted from the street and between lots for cross access. Parking/pavement 
areas and structures are prohibited in all yard setbacks except that the inner ten feet of the rear yard 
setback can be used for parking.  
 
Attached is an exhibit that generally indicates the location of the variances on the property.   
 
Findings of Fact: 
According to Section 14 of the Montgomery Zoning Ordinance “the Zoning Board of Appeals shall 
recommend approval of a variation from the provisions of this ordinance as authorized in this section 
only if the evidence, in the judgment of the Zoning Board of Appeals, sustains each of the following 
conditions: 
 
Please note that the Petitioners complete application is attached to this report.  Staff summarizes the 
Petitioner’s comments in the findings of fact in this report.   
 
1) That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only 
under the conditions allowed by the regulations governing the district in which it is located; It is the 
Petitioner’s opinion that the property would yield a lower return as the installation of a 
complete landscaped setback would decrease the amount of outdoor storage space on the 
property and result in altering the proposed size or location of the building.   
  
Staff believes that the building may have to be redesigned to accommodate the restriction 
of the site.  
 
2) That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; The Petitioner believes that their 
situation is unique as the parcel of land that they intend to develop is small for an industrial 
parcel and that parcel was previously divided to create the situation.  In addition, the Petitioner 
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owns the adjacent unincorporated property to the west, and therefore, the variance would not 
affect the neighboring parcel. 
 
Staff believes that this is not entirely a unique situation.  Staff agrees with the Petitioner 
that the parcel is small for an industrial parcel and that other properties on Bohr Avenue 
have encroached into the side yard setbacks in the past.  Staff also understands that the 
Petitioner owns the neighboring parcel, and as that parcel is currently unincorporated it 
may not be used a one zoning parcel.  If the neighboring parcel was incorporated into the 
Village the two parcels could be considered one zoning parcel under the Zoning 
Ordinance. 
     
3) That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality; The Petitioner 
believes that the variance will not alter the essential character of the locality as other properties 
on Bohr Avenue utilize the side yard setbacks for drive aisles and storage.   
 
Staff believes that the variance would not alter the essential character of the locality as 
other properties on Bohr Avenue have encroached into the side yard setbacks in the past.  
 
4) That the particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the specific 
property involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience if the strict letter of the regulations were to be carried out; The Petitioner believes 
that the physical surroundings create a hardship due to the small parcel size. 
 
It is staff’s opinion that there are no physical characteristics of the site that render a 
hardship for the Petitioner, and that the alignment or size of the building may have to be 
altered to comply with the Zoning Ordinance. 
 
5) That the conditions upon which the application for variation is based would not be applicable 
generally to other property within the same zoned classification.  The Petitioner has indicated that 
they believe that the conditions of hardship are unique to their property as the site is small for 
the zoning.   
 
It is staff’s opinion that the conditions upon which the application is based would be 
applicable to other properties within the same zoning classification.   
  
6) That the need or purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more 
money out of the property; The Petitioner has indicated that they do not want to alter the plan 
for the building or decrease the rear yard storage area.  
 
Staff believes that the requested relief has a positive financial effect on the property owner 
and the Petitioner.   
 
7) That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; The 
Petitioner has indicated that they believe that the variance will not be injurious to other 
properties. 
 
Staff believes that the variation should not cause detriment or injury. 
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8) That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent 
property, or substantially increase the danger of fire, or otherwise endanger the public safety or 
substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.” The Petitioner has 
indicated that they believe that the variance will not impair light, air and property values. 
 
Staff believes that the variation has potential impacts to the neighboring property as it is 
unknown as to what the neighboring development will be in the future.   
 
Following the Public Hearing, the Zoning Board of Appeals should discuss the standards for granting a 
variation and make the findings of fact by reading each criteria and entering into the minutes the 
consensus on each. 
 
Recommendation: 
It is staff’s opinion that the Petitioner has not met all of the conditions to grant a variance, 
and recommends that the variance be denied.   
 
Action: Zoning Board of Appeals action should be taken on each individual request.   
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ZBA 2016-031 Variance to Allow Alternative Surfaces within the 250 Foot Setback from a 
Public Right-of-Way 
 
The Petitioner intends to utilize the rear of the site for a storage yard consisting of a gravel base.  The 
site is two hundred eighty-three (283) feet deep and the Zoning Ordinance requires a setback from a 
right-of-way of two hundred fifty (250) feet.  Therefore, a very small portion of the property would be 
eligible to utilize alternative surfaces.   
 
Below is the section of the Zoning Ordinance that relief is being requested from:   
 

11.02 Standards: (5) 
 

5. The alternative surface cannot be located closer than 250 feet from a public right of way.  
 
Attached is an exhibit that generally indicates the location of the variances on the property.   
 
 
Findings of Fact: 
According to Section 14 of the Montgomery Zoning Ordinance “the Zoning Board of Appeals shall 
recommend approval of a variation from the provisions of this ordinance as authorized in this section 
only if the evidence, in the judgment of the Zoning Board of Appeals, sustains each of the following 
conditions: 
 
Please note that the Petitioners complete application is attached to this report.  Staff summarizes the 
Petitioner’s comments in the findings of fact in this report.   
 
1) That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only 
under the conditions allowed by the regulations governing the district in which it is located; It is the 
Petitioner’s opinion that the property would yield a lower return as the rear storage yard would 
be required to be paved.   
  
Staff believes that the storage yard could be paved and yield a reasonable return.  
 
2) That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; The Petitioner believes that their 
situation is unique as the parcel of land that they intend to develop is small, and therefore, the 
storage yard is closer to Bohr Avenue. 
 
Staff believes that this is not a unique situation and that many properties may not meet 
the setback requirements.   
     
3) That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality; The 
Petitioner believes that the variance will not alter the essential character of the locality as the 
non-conforming surface is already in existence in the location that the Petitioner intends to use.   
 
Staff believes that allowing continued use of a gravel surface does affect the essential 
character of the locality as the Village has been working towards improving the Bohr 
Avenue subarea.  
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4) That the particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the specific 
property involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience if the strict letter of the regulations were to be carried out; The Petitioner believes 
that the physical surroundings create a hardship due to the small parcel size. 
 
It is staff’s opinion that physical characteristics due affect the site, however, the alternative 
of paving the storage area is a possibility.   
 
5) That the conditions upon which the application for variation is based would not be applicable 
generally to other property within the same zoned classification.  The Petitioner has indicated that 
they believe that the conditions of hardship are unique to their property as the site is small for 
the zoning.   
 
It is staff’s opinion that the conditions upon which the application is based would be 
applicable to other properties within the same zoning classification.   
  
6) That the need or purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more 
money out of the property; The Petitioner has indicated that they do not want to pave the storage 
yard due to the use of heavy equipment and the impact that the equipment will have on a paved 
surface.  
 
Staff believes that the requested relief has a positive financial effect on the property owner 
and the Petitioner.   
 
7) That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; The 
Petitioner has indicated that they believe that the variance will not be injurious to other 
properties. 
 
Staff believes that the variation should not cause detriment or injury due to the dust 
mitigation requirements of the special use.  The neighboring properties to the south are 
utilized as residential home, even though they are zoned Farming and staff are concerned 
with potential affects to those properties.   
 
8) That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent 
property, or substantially increase the danger of fire, or otherwise endanger the public safety or 
substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.” The Petitioner has 
indicated that they believe that the variance will not impair light, air and property values as 
measures will be taken to control dust. 
 
Staff believes that the variation has potential impacts to the neighborhood as there is the 
potential for dust to be generated and distributed off site.   
 
Following the Public Hearing, the Zoning Board of Appeals should discuss the standards for granting a 
variation and make the findings of fact by reading each criteria and entering into the minutes the 
consensus on each. 
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Recommendation: 
It is staff’s opinion that the Petitioner has not met all of the conditions to grant a variance, 
and recommends that the variance be denied. 
 
Action: Zoning Board of Appeals action should be taken on each individual request.   
 
 





 
 

VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY 

REQUEST FOR BOARD OF TRUSTEES ACTION 
FOR INCLUSION ON BOARD AGENDA

 
 
 
 
_____  Resolution or Ordinance (Blue) 
_____  Recommendation of Boards, Commissions & Committees (Green) 
   X    Other Business (Pink) 
 
 
To: Honorable Village President and Board of Trustees 
 
From: Jeff Zoephel, Village Administrator 
 
Date: October 7, 2016 B of T Date:   October 10, 2016 
 
Subject: Temporary Liquor License for United Sugars 
 
Submitted By:  Dan Meyers, Chief of Police 
 
Background/Policy Implications: 
United Sugars is requesting a temporary Class J liquor license for a Grand Opening 
event to be held at new facility on November 27, 2016.   
 
The Village Code provides that the Liquor Commissioner can grant a temporary Class J 
license in a situation like this; however, our typical practice is to bring such a request 
before the Village Board if it is a first-time request.  The letter of request is attached. 
 
 
Describe Fiscal Impact/Budget Account Number and Cost: 
 
 
 
Review: 
 
Village Administrator _____Jeff Zoephel______________________________  
 
 
NOTE: All materials must be submitted to and approved by the Village Administrator by 
12:00 noon, Tuesday, prior to the Agenda distribution. 



 
 
8000 West 78th Street 
Suite 300 
Edina, MN 55439 
T.952.896.0131 
F.952.746.0031 
 
 
 
10/5/16 
 
Matthew Brolley 
Village President 
Village of Montgomery 
200 N. River Street 
Montgomery, IL 60538 
 
Village Board of Directors: 
 
In celebration of our Grand Opening Event on Wednesday, November 2nd, 2016 from 4-7 pm we 
respectfully ask the Village of Montgomery for a temporary liquor license for the day and time period 
stated above.  We intend to serve beer, wine and a limited alcohol selection to approximately 125-
150 individuals.  Our caterer, Hel’s Kitchen, is our caterer and are fully licensed provide.  Further, 
they have been in contact with the Village and will available for any further questions. Village 
representatives are invited as well.  Let me know if you have any further questions at 952-896-0438 
 
Steven Hanson 
Director of Marketing 
United Sugars Corporation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



VILLAGE OF MONTGOMERY 
REQUEST FOR BOARD OF TRUSTEES ACTION 

FOR INCLUSION ON BOARD AGENDA 
 

 
 
____ Resolution or Ordinance (Blue) 
____ Recommendation of Boards, Commissions & Committees (Green) 
  X    Other Business (Pink) 
 
 
To: Village President and Board of Trustees 
 
From: Jeff Zoephel, Village Administrator 
 
Date: October 5, 2016 B of T Date:  October 10, 2016 
 
Subject: Water Works System Master Plan 
 
Submitted By:  Peter G. Wallers, P.E., CFM, Village Engineer 
 
Background/Policy Implications: 
 
EEI will briefly recap the Village’s Water Works System Master Plan as a follow up to the 
presentations made on May 18 and on July 25, 2016.  The focus of the discussion will be on 
determining the preferred alternative ranking for the future water supply for the Village. 
 
A summary overview of the sub regional analysis is attached for reference.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Describe Fiscal Impact/Budget Account Number and Cost: 
 
 
 
Review: 
 

Village Administrator_______ Jeff Zoephel____________                      Date: 10/7/2016  
 
 
NOTE: All materials must be submitted to and approved by the Village Administrator by 12:00 
noon, Thursday, prior to the Agenda distribution. 



 

 

Engineering Enterprises, Inc. 

SUB-REGIONAL WATER SUPPLY & TREATMENT ANALYSIS 

     
 

Summary Overview 
July 20, 2016 

 
 
PLANNING AREA OVERVIEW 

 
 Exist. Corporate Planning 
Community Boundary (sq mi) Area (sq mi) 

V. of Oswego 15.1 40.2  

C. of Yorkville 20.2 72.9  

V. of Montgomery 15.6 9.3   

 
POPULATION PROJECTION 
 Population projections based on CMAP 2040 population 

projection, then the annual growth rate for each community 
was applied for years 2040  2050 

 Annual growth rates to 2040  Oswego – 2.8%, Yorkville – 
3.2% & Montgomery – 2.0%  

 The total Montgomery Planning Area plus Boulder Hill 
Subdivision maxes out at 42,000 

 The total population projection for the sub-region is 192,561   
 
WATER USE PROJECTION 
 The historical (2010 – 2014) water use data was reviewed and then a Current Trends (CT) water use 

projection was developed for all three communities 
 Water conservation best management practices were evaluated 

for Montgomery and Yorkville and then a Less Resource 
Intensive (LRI) water use projection was developed for all three 
communities 

 Projected maximum day water use values were developed 
utilizing historical values for the CT scenario; The lowered LRI 
levels were developed based on a lower MDD:ADD ratio 
 

SUSTAINABLE SOURCE WATER ASSESSMENT 
 Mapped sand and gravel deposits within & adjacent to the sub-regional planning area  Determined 

the deposits within the planning area likely will not produce long term sustainable shallow sand & 
gravel wells 

 Modeled deep sandstone aquifer & determined it’s long term sustainability is a concern  Joliet 
switching to surface water has minimal positive affect on the sub-region 

 Modeled sustainability of Fox River & determined there likely will be increased capacity in the future 
 Will still need backup water supply sources (i.e. deep wells) for low flow conditions 
 Obtaining a withdrawal permit sooner rather than later likely better   
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PROPOSED FINISHED WATER QUALITY 
 Both Montgomery & Yorkville currently distribute soft water to their 

water consumers 
 While Oswego currently does not distribute soft water, it was 

determined the sub-regional water treatment plant (WTP) would 
distribute soft water 

 The additional cost to soften the Fox River is minimal 
 The proposed lime softening treatment train is similar to the City of 

Aurora’s and the City of Elgin’s Fox River WTPs  
 
 
ALTERNATIVES COMPARISON 
 Two main sustainable long term options for each community are: 1) 

Construct a Fox River intake and WTP for each community, or 2) 
Combine together to construct one intake & WTP (Sub-Regional) 

 In the sub-regional alternative, existing community deep sandstone 
wells, and some new wells, would connect to the WTP 

 Current general location identified for the WTP would be at the 
intersection of the Fox River & Orchard Road  Optimal location for 
treated water distribution to all three communities 

 A large diameter treated water transmission network would connect 
the treated water to the communities’ distribution systems 

 Additional investment required for internal water distribution 
improvements for all three communities   
 

 
PROJECTED WATER SUPPLY & TREATMENT WATER BILL COMPARISON 
 Assuming the sub-regional system were to be online in 2025, 

projected water supply, treatment and finished water 
transmission line costs and the resulting water bill to a typical 
residential water consumer was computed 

 Typical monthly costs were compared to 2025 projected 
(current costs with 3% annual inflation) to other Lake 
Michigan water consortiums in the area 

 Sub-regional solution projected supply, treatment and 
transmission bill lower than most Lake Michigan supplied 
systems 
 

 
POTENTIAL SUB-REGIONAL IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

 
 

YEAR
WORK ITEM 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9
Governance Review

Land Acquisition

Fox River Water Quality Testing

Water Treatment Plant Component Pilot Testing

Design Engineering

Project Financing

Permitting & Bidding

Construction
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